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Our Vision
Working Today – Growing Tomorrow

Leadership, engagement and fair
representation
we are clear about our direction and priorities
we provide opportunities for consultation

Our Mission

we seek to understand the needs of the people we

We will provide services and assets responsibly.
As councillors and staff of the Central Highlands Regional
Council we are committed to representing our region and
organisation well.

serve, in order to make balanced decisions for the overall
interests of the people of the Central Highlands
we provide timely and relevant information to our
community and throughout the organisation
we listen.

Our values

Teamwork

Continuous improvement
We strive to build:

we work collaboratively with our community and external
partners
we are focussed on developing and maintaining positive

an environment that encourages questions
thinking and approaches that are flexible
the ability to think beyond the norm in order to provide
service and value for our ratepayers.

Respect for diversity
we treat others as we wish to be treated
we are fair and consistent in the way we treat people.

working relationships right across the organisation
we work collectively on common goals, share ideas and
encourage collaborative thinking
we actively seek to encourage and acknowledge great

About our annual report
This annual report provides a comprehensive overview of the

Our Performance – provides a comprehensive look at

performance and activities of the Central Highlands Regional

how we performed in the six key activity areas outlined in

Council for the period 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017.

the corporate plan. We look at the highlights, challenges

It is the culmination of a reporting process that begins
with the Central Highlands 2022 Community Plan, which
informs the 2013-2018 Corporate Plan and guides the annual

operational plan.

community; it commences with a guide to the region and
a concise overview of the year that was, and continues

Financial Reports – includes the audited financial
statements of the council.
Information required by the Local Government Act, 2009 and

Local Government Regulations, 2012 is included throughout.

Our Region – shows where the Central Highlands region is

This snapshot of our year is enhanced with local images to

and explains some of the region’s statistical information

bring the story to life, data is presented with easy-to-read

Year in Review – gives an overview of the year from

graphics, and the narrative crafted in plain English.

the mayor and chief executive officer and presents a
summarised performance and financial report.

and our organisation

lives here and who inspires us. We also talk about how we
engage, consult and communicate with the community; and
how we support the people who live here in business, as
community groups and how we prepare for disaster.

Great customer service

Our Council - introduces how the organisation works and the

we are ethical and honest with our colleagues and our

we seek and welcome feedback

people we employ.

we communicate clearly and appropriately

Our Leaders – introduces the councillors and Executive

we respect and act within statutes and legislation

we follow through on the things we say we will do

Management Team.

we are fair, transparent and open in our dealings with our

our responses to our customers’ needs are friendly, timely

community

performance can be found in the quarterly reports against

progressive Queensland region.

Honesty and integrity
community

indicators. More detailed information about KPIs and

with five chapters that complete a 365-day picture of a

Our Community – showcases the people of the region: who

opportunity to learn and grow.

of performance against projects and key performance

our annual operational plan on the council website.

This report is designed to tell a story of the council and its

teamwork that produces great results for our community
when mistakes are made, we treat them as an

and what lies ahead. Each report contains a summary

and professional.

we accept accountability for our actions.

BACK TO CONTENTS
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Strategic planning framework
Strategic Planning Framework

The annual report is the document that brings all the reporting together to deliver accountability for our actions at the end of
each financial year. This graphic demonstrates our reporting framework.

The corporate plan is part of a framework of planning that provides a clear line of
sight to the vision to be a progressive region creating opportunities for all.

Central Highlands 2022 Community Plan

Considers the social, environmental, economic and governance themes that
contribute to the long-term wellbeing of the community.

Corporate Plan 2017-2022

Sets a strategic direction for the Central Highlands Regional Council to
deliver progressive outcomes for the region that create opportunities for all.

Planning Scheme 2016

Our Region

Guides how land, buildings and structures are used and
developed in the region.

Asset Management Plan

Financial, economic and technical practices applied to the
management of council assets.

Financial Management Plan

A framework for the procurement, investment and
administration of council funds.

Annual Operational Plan

Outlines the service and project delivery actions for the coming year.

Annual BUDGET

Outlines the income and expenditures for the coming year.

Staff Performance Plans

Drives organisational performance to achieve strategic goals.

Annual Report

The outcomes of the annual operational plan and the performance on the
budget are reported in the annual report

4

6

Corporate Plan 2017- 2022 – A progressive region creating opportunities for all.
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Our region
The Central Highlands region is in Central Queensland,

Travellers in big rigs and small abound with major freight

Australia—considered a gateway to the outback. The region’s

routes through the region that include the north-south link

central business area, Emerald, is a three-hour drive from

between Charters Towers and northern New South Wales—

Rockhampton on the coast and nearly 900 kilometres

identified as the inland transport alternative between Cairns

from Brisbane.

and Melbourne and the Capricorn Highway leading ‘grey

Jobs in the mining sector account for one-third of our total

nomads’ to all points west.

workforce, followed by the construction and agricultural

Our region is huge, approximately 60 000 square kilometres,
which we liken to the size of Tasmania. It stretches from
Arcadia Valley in the south to the Peak Ranges in the north,
east from Boolburra to Bogantungan in the west.

This is a vibrant region with a diverse economy based on:
A globally competitive coal mining industry.
Robust and resilient agriculture and horticultural

Around 28,783 people call the Central Highlands home

industries, including beef, grain, cotton, grapes, melons

and they live in the thirteen communities of Arcadia Valley,

and citrus.

Bauhinia, Blackwater, Bluff, Capella, Comet, Dingo, Duaringa,
Emerald, Rolleston, Sapphire Gemfields, Springsure and Tieri.
Naturally our region is rich—in minerals, in grazing land, in
dryland and irrigated agricultural land, in water from the
Nogoa and Comet rivers and the Fairbairn Dam (three times
the size of Sydney Harbour), in national parks and wilderness

Dynamic small to medium size businesses.

Our community
Mostly we’re a young community with nearly 50% of our
population aged between 20 and 49 years.

sectors which each employ one-tenth of the workforce.
Despite the contraction in mining sector employment this
year, the regional unemployment rate dipped below 5%, well
below the state average.
More than a third of our community reside in rental
accommodation, 23.5% have a house with a mortgage and
22% own their house outright.

Professional and government sectors.
Adequate availability of commercial, industrial and
residential land.
An evolving tourism offering.

areas like Blackdown Tablelands and Carnarvon Gorge, and

Major health and education services.

in gems as we claim the largest sapphire-producing fields in

Significant new infrastructure and construction projects.

the Southern Hemisphere.

Our neighbours
We are surrounded by the local government areas of
Barcaldine Regional Council, Isaac Regional Council,
Maranoa Regional Council, Banana Shire Council,
Rockhampton Regional Council and the Woorabinda
Aboriginal Shire Council.

Our history
We are proud to recognise that the Central Highlands was
originally home to many indigenous people who remain the
traditional custodians of these lands.
Early European settlement in the region dates from the
1850s. The first pioneers brought sheep from down south
to the region. Growth continued into the late 1800s with the
inland expansion of the railway line west from Rockhampton
and the establishment of a number of small ‘railway’ towns.
Significant growth occurred in the 1950s to 1980s with the
introduction of beef cattle grazing, the building of Fairbairn
Dam for irrigation, and coal mining.
Today, our region is defined by the diverse prospering
economies that support our unique vibrant communities.

BACK TO CONTENTS
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Community Snapshot

Employment

Housing

Information supplied by REMPLAN, the

Our top three employers are

In 2016, there were 13 345

Queensland Government Statistician’s

mining, construction and

households in the region, of

Office and the 2011 and 2016 Australian

agriculture, accounting for more

which 80.2% were ‘separate

Bureau of Statistics Census data.

than 50% of jobs. 47.6% of the

house’, and 8.5% were ‘flat, unit

workforce are aged between 25

or apartment’. The median rent

and 44 years. (2011 Census). The

for a three-bedroom house was

Culturally Diverse

unemployment rate at the end

$200/week. The number of

The top ten countries of birth

of the March 2017 quarter was

new houses approved during

for Central Highlands’ residents

4.1%. 34% of employed people

the year was 17. The median

include Australia, New Zealand,

work in the

sale price as at

England, Philippines, South

mining industry

31 December

Africa, Zimbabwe, India,

and 9% work

2016 was

United States

in agriculture.

$180 000.

Year in Review

of America,
Papua New
Guinea and
Germany.

Tourism
The economic return to the region for tourism is $230
million. The ‘drive market’ accounts for 91% of the visitors

Industry

to the Central Highlands. Domestic visitors stay an

The top five industry sectors

average of four nights in the region. Nearly 70 cents in

(generating gross revenue) in

every tourist dollar spent is on accommodation and food.

the Central Highlands are:

There are 260 tourism-related businesses in the region. Our

mining

top three international visitor markets are New Zealand, United Kingdom
and Germany.

construction
rental, hiring and real estate
services

In 2015, we had 618 000 visitors that stayed on average for four nights and
spent an average of $93.00 per night.

manufacturing

Business is the primary reason people visit the region, followed by holiday

agriculture,

makers and visiting friends and relatives. (2012-2015 data www.tra.gov.au)

forestry
and fishing

Population
As at 30 June 2016, the estimated resident population was
28 783 people. The average annual growth rate is -.05%
over five years. Median age is 32.7 years. The population is
expected to grow to 39 364 persons by 2036; an increase
of 1.2% over 20 years.
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Message from the mayor

CEO Report

This annual report is very much a

The core of our value strategy is to hold rates while we

My focus this past year has been

Telstra Technology Adoption, making us one of the most

testimonial to the realisation of a

conduct a comprehensive review of costs and operating

the creation of organisation-

technologically savvy councils in Queensland.

vision introduced by the recently

expenses. Our resolve is to reduce costs rather than increase

wide understanding of three

elected council.

the rate income, but it doesn’t mean compromise on service

key concepts in a road map

level delivery.

to success: empowerment,

In February, we adopted a new
corporate plan that articulates a

The 2016-17 budget achieved a slightly better surplus than

simple, clear purpose: to focus

predicted and proves that sound economic management

on economic management,

can be achieved without having to resort to automatic rates

efficiency and accountability.

with the Bowen Basin Regional Roads and Transport
Group and the Central Queensland Regional Organisation
of Councils. Of particular note was the identification of

chart our new Corporate Plan

four priority areas the regional councils have agreed to

increases. And our capital expenditure, at around $70 million,

2017-2022 in January 2017, with its refreshed vision, mission

regional economic development that builds on the strengths

was one of the richest programs delivered by this council.

and value statements. While implementation of the plan

Clearly challenges lie ahead. Attracting skilled

been a theme this year as we consolidate our partnership

This thinking helped the council

efficiency and innovation in how we work, and strategic
in our communities.

Building our capability through regional cooperation has also

was not due until July, its essence began to filtrate into our
business quite early.

investigate for collaboration of shared services.
The region’s agricultural sector had a very successful year;
tourism numbers were up; and business confidence began to

This region is one of the most productive economies in

people to work in the region; facilitating robust local

the country and council, in partnership with the Central

disaster management; securing substantial regional

As it was again this year, the ongoing challenge is to deliver

economic development partner, the Central Highlands

Highlands Development Corporation, has begun to identify

investment; purposeful data collection and analysis;

community services with considerable constraint on our

Development Corporation, and the council staff working

regional production data to better qualify our advocacy and

and effective regional marketing all require a collective

resources. The self-imposed cap in full-time equivalent

on projects to boost employment and improve industry

ultimately facilitate more investment from governments in

considered strategy.

positions, in particular, requires a redesign of the business

performance.

the region.

To achieve our new corporate vision, ‘A progressive region

rally. It’s timely to acknowledge the contribution of council’s

structure to encompass better use of technology, bold
thinking for outsourcing solutions and the effective use of

We did celebrate a number of major achievements,

This last year saw significant funding success for the major

creating opportunities for all’, we must ensure that the

road network between Blackwater and Rolleston. The

capacity of our place is improved and expanded so that we

CQ Inland Port, located at Yamala, received $4.6 million

become a major regional hub. We must build critical mass

Competence and commitment is required to deliver the

a conclusive decision against flood levees in Emerald, the

to construct a rail loop and improved access from the

to consolidate local industry and attract new investment

actions identified in the new corporate plan within the

commencement of the $23 million Black Gully Wastewater

Capricorn Highway. These projects are part of an enduring

and enhance our medical, educational and government

budgetary limitations the council has imposed in response

Treatment Plant, the completion of the New Street

and necessary investment in infrastructure and supply chain

administrative sectors to serve an even broader region.

to community sentiment stemming from the region’s overall

evacuation route and flood mitigation works in the Nogoa

economic condition.

River, and sealing the majority of the Carnarvon Gorge Road.

effectiveness to ensure that Central Highlands’ production is
fresh, first and faster to the market.

plant, equipment and people.

including the opening of the new $15M Blackwater Aquatic
Centre, significant improvements to the Emerald Airport,

The nucleus of Central Highlands Regional Council is indeed

All these milestones are not possible without capable

Funding for these projects relies heavily on our councils’

its people—certainly without the support and contribution of

leadership and I commend the Executive Leadership Team

advocacy and this year we have attended several key

the employees it’s impossible to meet the quantum of work

for their efforts. During the year we farewelled the General

economic and business forums and conferences and hosted

that is expected.

Manager Communities, Brad Duke and Executive Manager

several ministers and senators both in government and
in opposition.
This year also saw $30 million of National Disaster Relief and

To encourage that support, the Executive Leadership

Councillor Kerry Hayes
Mayor
Central Highlands Regional Council

Team has been working on removing ‘red-tape’, improving

Mary-Anne Uren to whom I extend much appreciation for
their contribution.

performance review techniques, developing personalised

The coming months promise much to look forward to as

training plans, and recognising exceptional performance. The

we approach the 10-year anniversary of Central Highlands

than $5 million in the Queensland Government’s Works for

aim is to encourage people to be the best they can so we

Regional Council in March 2018.

Queensland funding on local community projects.

can be a highly performing organisation.

We also changed the way we engage with our communities

During the year we continued to explore and implement

this year as we initiated three-day consultations that enabled

technology; such as the purchase of seven Microsoft Surface

better immersion in local issues alongside local people.

Hubs to complement the Skype for Business system and

Recovery Arrangements spent within the region and more

enable online inter-office communication. It was a great
boost to learn we achieved the highest rating level for

Scott Mason
Chief Executive Officer
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Introducing our Corporate Plan 2017-18
Key Priorities
Strong vibrant communities
Building and maintaining quality infrastructure
Supporting our local economy
Protecting our people and our environment.

Performance Scorecard
This is an overview of the targets achieved against the key
performance areas from the Operational Plan 2016-17.

Key Priority Area 1
Strong Vibrant Communities

Leadership and governance

Completed

16

76%

Our organisation

Carried over/not achieved

7

24%

A clear strategic direction for the organisation and the

Not proceeding

0

0

community has been set with the adoption of the new

Corporate Plan 2017-2022 on 13 June 2017.

Key Priority Area 2

During the first year of their term, the councillors took a

Building and Maintaining Quality Infrastructure

forward- thinking consultative approach to set the agenda
for a new corporate plan that acknowledges history, but

Completed

14

37%

reflects the contemporary aspirations of the community.

Carried over/not achieved

22

58%

In ten years, this region has seen two devastating floods,

Not proceeding

2

5%

an unprecedented economic ‘boom’ and subsequent
decline and now a regional ‘re-set’, underpinned with
strong agricultural commodities and burgeoning
commercial opportunities.

Key Priority Area 3
Supporting our Local Economy

The new corporate plan will ensure the council maintains a

Completed

steady focus on the future to navigate the region’s fortunes
and to provide a stable service to its community.

11

73%

Carried over/not achieved

4

27%

Not proceeding

0

0

The Community Plan 2022 sets the overall agenda and the

Our Vision
A progressive region creating opportunities for all.

corporate plan provides the strategic framework to make
it happen.

Key Priority Area 4
Protecting our People and Environment

Our Mission

The Corporate Plan 2017-2022 has six strategic focus areas

We are a council committed to continuous improvement,

with an emphasis on efficiency, partnerships, sustainability,

Completed

15

60%

a sustainable future and efficient investment in our

investment, advocacy and safety—each strengthened

Carried over/not achieved

10

40%

communities.

by core values from which we derive clarity of intent

0

0

15

88%

Carried over/not achieved

2

12%

Not proceeding

0

0

and endeavour.

Our Values

The Plan not only gives the Central Highland’s community,

Respect and Integrity

but potential investors in the region, the surety and

Accountability and Transparency

confidence that the council is open to creative development

Providing Value

and progress and will respond to opportunities and

Commitment and Teamwork

challenges with consideration.
The Central Highlands Regional Council Corporate Plan 2017-

2022 will commence on 1 July 2017.

Not proceeding

Key Priority Area 5
Proactive Engaged Leadership
Completed

A digital copy can be viewed and downloaded at
www.centralhighlands.qld.gov.au and printed copies are
available by calling 1300 242 686.
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Community Financial Report
The community financial report provides a plain English

The reported net result includes grant funding and other

explanation of the financial statements that are contained in

income relating to our assets, whilst the corresponding

this annual report.

cost of constructing these assets is not included within this
statement, but is summarised in the statement of financial

The financial statements have six key elements:
1.

position.

The statement of comprehensive income–displays
the revenues (income) recognised and the expenses
charged against those revenues to give a net result.
It also summarises changes to the business other

2.

3.

4.
5.

operational and capital projects to reduce the cost of our

The statement of financial position–is a snapshot of

operating expenses from the total operating revenue. Total

the assets owned and the liabilities owed as at the

operating revenue is that revenue received from our day-to-

end of the financial year, with the value of equity

day operations, such as rates and fees, and excludes items

being the total assets less all liabilities.

such as grants and contributions for the construction of
assets, as well as income from the sale of assets.
Total operating expenses relates to the cost of running the

financial year.

day-to-day business of the region and excludes capital items

The statement of cash flows–shows changes to the

such as the construction or rehabilitation of assets and the

balance of cash over the financial year.

write-off of assets.

The financial sustainability ratios–provide an
indication of our financial sustainability based on
current year information and future predictions.

OPERATING EXPENSES AGAINST OPERATING REVENUE:
FIVE-YEAR TEND: ($M)

The total revenue graph shows the various sources of

EXPENDITURE % OF TOTAL

our income.

5

REVENUE % OF TOTAL
0.1

29

23

1.6
2.6

3
50.1

8.5

40
16.9

Rates and Levies

Interest Income

Sales and Recoverable Works

Other Operating Revenue

Fees and Charges

Capital Grants and Subsidies

Operating Grants and Subsidies

Other Capital Income

Employee Costs

Depreciation

Materials and Services

Capital Expenses

Finance Costs

Notes about expenditure:
The total expenditure of $132.6 million (previous year
$113.1 million) increased by $19.5 million. These increases
results from a number of sources, predominantly; cost of

180
160

120

The statement of comprehensive income displays the

million during the 12 months ending 30 June 2017.

200

140

Statement of Comprehensive Income

We had total expenditure, excluding capital works, of $132.6

months ending 30 June 2017.

1.7

changes in our equity since the beginning of the

The notes to the financial statements–provide

We had total income of $161.8 million during the twelve

18.5

The operating surplus is calculated by subtracting the total

The statement of changes in equity–summarises

Total Expenses – Where our money is spent

services to ratepayers.

than those included in the net result.

additional information to these key statements.
6.

We actively seek additional grants from government for

Total revenue – where our money comes from

100

Notes about the revenue in 2016-17:

additional work completed for Department of Transport

The operating revenue increased by $8.6 million from

and Main Roads, increase in depreciation expense noted

the previous financial year. Of this increase, $4.4 million

below, and reduction in value of assets no longer able to

relates to an annual Financial Assistance Grant.

be used to capacity.

revenues (income) recognised in a financial year and the

80

expenses charged against those revenues to give a net

60

Half of the grant relating to the 2017-2018 financial year

result. It also summarises other changes to the business

40

was received in advance and is included in the financial

on improving the region’s assets. These costs are not

other than those included in the net result.

20

statements for this year. A corresponding decrease in

included in the above graph, however are added to

income will be shown in the next financial year.

the value of assets and included in the statement of

2016/2017

2015/2016

2014/2015

2013/2014

2012/2013

An increase in income of $3.5 million since the previous

EXPENSES AGAINST REVENUE: FIVE-YEAR TREND ($M)
Operating revenue

Operating expense

Operating Surplus

250
Note: For comparison purposes, this chart excludes revenue and expenses
relating to the restoration of assets affected by declared disasters in the 201213 and 2013-14 financial year. This income includes capital revenue and capital
expenses in the following financial years.

200
150

Capital grants and subsidies of $29.9 million were
received for the 2016-2017 financial year. These grants
construction of major assets for the community. These

50

financial position.
The value of assets administered by council of $1.39
billion (previous year $1.18 billion), means that we have

Department of Transport and Main Roads.

relate to funding received to help offset the cost of

100

0

financial year relates to additional work completed for the

During the financial year, we spent a further $68.5 million

had to set aside $30.5 million (previous year $24.5 million)
in deprecation for the year. These funds are used for the
improvement and replacement of our infrastructure and
other assets.

grants included funding for the upgrade of Carnarvon
2016-2017

2015-2016

Revenue

2014-2015

Expenses

2013-2014

2012-2013

Gorge Road, the Black Gully Sewerage Treatment Plant
and significant flood damage funding.

Net result
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Statement of Financial Position

Over a five-year period, council’s assets have increased by

What are our liabilities?

The statement of financial position measures what we own
(our assets) and owe to relevant stakeholders (our liabilities)

$331 million (27%). These increases are predominantly within
TOTAL % LIABILITIES

infrastructure and property, plant and equipment and are a
result of changes in asset carrying values through revaluation

0.3

at the end of the financial year. The result of these two

16.5

components determines the net wealth of the council, which

and construction of new and replacement of assets over
this time.

is the net wealth of the community.

$1.45 billion.
2016-17 Result

net wealth from year to year and considers retained earnings,

$M

Assets (what we own)

1 548

Liabilities (what we owe)

revaluation of the asset base, and reserves held for future

63.7

Equity (community wealth)

We have incurred capital expenditure and loan repayments
of $72 million throughout the year. These were partially

1 451
Creditors

Provisions

Loans

Other

The bulk of the assets consist of infrastructure, such as roads

The bulk of our liabilities are loans, which represent nearly

Statement of Cash Flow

rehabilitate landfill and quarry sites, as well as for
TOTAL ASSETS ($M)

employee entitlements, such as annual leave and long
127.3

325.6

20.8
8.2
0.6

service leave owing.

The operating surplus ratio measures the extent that

2016-17 Cash Flow

$

Cash received

203 365 000

Cash spent

168 450 897

64 953 752

Closing balance 30 June 2017

99 867 855

Other cash investments held

27 396 658

Total cash assets

1,400

Inventory

400

Other assets

200

Other Property, Plant and Equipment

It is important to note that a large portion of this amount is

600

restricted for specific purposes, such as future capital works.

Assets

Our assets have increased by $204 million this year. The main
change is in property, plant and equipment assets with an

Liabilities

Equity

Cash

Notes on assets and liabilities:
Our borrowing has increased minimally ($2 million) over

increase of $209 million.
The cash balances have remained steady since the previous
financial year, while monies owed to council from other
parties has decreased by $6 million.

OPERATING SURPLUS RATIO
25
20.22

10.59

11.82

10

7.00
4.54

5

The total cash balance decreased slightly in the current

-

Cash

operating expenses) divided by operating revenue.

Our total cash assets at 30 June 2017 is $127 million.

800

Water and Wastewater

calculated as net operating result (operating revenue less

15

1,000

Debtors

available for capital funding and other purposes. It is

127 264 513

1,200

Roads and Drainage

revenues raised cover operational expenses only, or are

20

1,600

753.3

is available at year end.

No further borrowings were undertaken in this

1,800

312.6

The operating surplus ratio: five-year trend

We use loans to finance certain capital projects.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: FIVE-YEAR TREND ($M)

Queensland councils use:

money during the year. The final balance shows the cash that

Opening balance 1 July 2016

financial year.

financial position.

These are the key financial sustainability measures that all

This statement identifies how we received and spent our

Provisions include the setting aside of funds to

long-term forecasting, to ensure that we maintain a strong

sustainability of our finances in the long-term.

generated from the operating income.

assets represent 69% of our total asset base.

Is Central Highlands Regional Council financially
sustainable?

A number of indicators measure the extent of the

Notes about liabilities:

64% of our total liabilities.

note, the number of the note is shown next to that value. This

funded by transfers from reserves, grants received, and cash

What are the assets?
and drainage, and water and wastewater facilities. These

Where additional information in a statement is included in a

Each year we review our annual results, as well as the

capital works.

97

important information about the report.

financial statements.

The statement of changes in equity measures the change in

19.5

The financial statements contain 28 notes that provide

makes it simpler for readers to understand the details in the

Statement of Changes in Equity

Our community’s net worth at the end of the financial year is

Notes to the Financial Statements

a five-year period with a $17 million borrowing in 2015
to fund the upgrade of a water treatment plant offset by

financial year, which reflects an increase in receivables or

2016-2017

2015-2016

2014-2015

2013-2014

2012-2013

money owing, such as GST recoverable.
Looking forward, our short and long-term cash flow indicates
that sufficient cash is available to meet recurring activities

A positive ratio indicates that surplus revenue is available to
fund loan repayments and capital works (assets).

and planned capital expenditure.

repayments of borrowing $15 million during this time. Other
liabilities, such as provisions and creditors have increased by
$15 million.
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The Internal Audit Plan has been revised to reflect ongoing

The net financial liability ratio is an indicator of how our net

Internal audit report

financial liabilities can be serviced by the operating revenue.

Audit Committee

Internal audits undertaken by our internal auditors (Pacifica

The ratio determines how well-placed we are to pay our

The primary objective of the Audit Committee (advisory

Chartered Accountants) for 2016-17:

liabilities out of current operating revenue.

body) is to assist council to fulfil its responsibilities

expenditure/purchasing

Asset sustainability ratio

Net financial liability ratio

This ratio is an approximation of the extent to which the
property, plant and equipment (PPE) assets we manage are
being replaced as they reach the end of their useful lives.
It is calculated as the value of PPE renewals capital
expenditure divided by the PPE depreciation expense.
While a number of factors can affect the validity of the asset
sustainability ratio, it is intended to represent, in theory, how
much the assets in total have been ‘worn out’ over the year
(depreciation expense), compared to how much of the worn

It is calculated as the value of net financial liabilities, divided
by operating revenue.

priorities and address emerging trends.

relating to the accounting and reporting requirements
imposed under the Local Government Act 2009 and other
relevant legislation.

Net financial liabilities are calculated as total liabilities minus
current assets.

The committee comprises two independent members and
two councillors. The two independent members are Chair Mr

non-current assets
grants and subsidies
human resources entry and exit processes
light fleet and fuel management practices.

out portion of those assets have been replaced (renewals

A negative measure means that our current assets

Hayden Wright and Mr Geoff King. Council representatives

capital expenditure).

exceed total liabilities and indicate a high ability to repay

are Councillor Charles Brimblecombe and Councillor

financial liabilities.

Christine Rolfe.

NET FINANCIAL LIABILITY RATIO

The Audit Committee’s principles and standards include:

and financial performance of the organisation.

Enhancing the ability of councillors to fulfil their legal

Three internal audit reports were completed during the year

An acceptable target for the asset sustainability is to average
90% or more in the longer term. With an exception of 20132014, we have achieved the target over the last five years.
This is an indication that we, on average, replace our PPE
assets at a sustainable level.

2015-2016

2014-2015

2013-2014

2012-2013

0

with one matter programmed for the 2016-17 year remaining

Adding to the credibility and objectivity of financial
reports.

-20
-30

133.61

140

118.72

120

-50

80

-45.02

-60

60
28.92

40

0
2016-2017

2015-2016

2014-2015

2013-2014

-52.58

-55.51

The financial statements and the sustainability ratios indicate

20

2012-2013

and disclosure policies and procedures.

King. Geoff Hirst made a very significant contribution to the

questionable or illegal activities.

committee as a founding member and I have been most

Providing a c ommunication l i nk between

grateful for that contribution and his support and enthusiasm.

management, i nternal a uditors, external auditors and

financial year in a strong financial position. We have sufficient

council.

foreseeable future.

the end of December and has been replaced by Geoff

new corporate policies to prohibit unethical,

that Central Highlands Regional Council has concluded the
money to cover our present and future obligations into the

improvement.
Geoff Hirst resigned from the committee effective from

Monitoring existing c orporate policies and reviewing
-51.78

to be appreciated to a greater extent within the organisation
as presenting an opportunity for self-assessment and

Overseeing the application of appropriate accounting
-41.03

93.48

92.56

council’s internal audit function.

-40

incomplete at the end of the year.
The role of internal audit and of the Committee is beginning

Enhancing the objectivity and effectiveness of the

160

The Audit Committee has continued to support council and
its management through its oversight of risk management

responsibilities.

-10

ASSET SUSTAINABILITY RATIO

100

2016-2017

Audit Committee Chair Report

Geoff King has an extensive background in internal audit
and we welcome his contribution. I also thank our councillor

Promoting the need for public accountability of

representatives on the committee; Councillors Rolfe and

managers to council, the community and other interested
parties.
Supporting measures to improve governance, risk and
internal controls.

Brimblecombe for their contributions.
I should acknowledge the role of the Governance team
in supporting the committee and the continuing support
of the mayor and the chief executive officer who have
demonstrated by their attendance at committee meetings

Internal audit
Council’s internal audit function provides independent,
objective assurance and consulting services to add

their interest and support. It is appreciated.
HAYDEN WRIGHT, CHAIRMAN.

value and improve the organisation’s operations. It helps
the organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve
the effectiveness of risk management, control and
governance processes.
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Our Community
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Citizen of the Year

Australia Day Award Winners

Capella/Tieri

Blackwater/Duaringa

Springsure/Rolleston

Catherine Windsor

Col Olive

Jodie Griffiths

Citizen of the Year
Emerald/Gemfields
Maurice Conway

Young Citizen of the Year

Maurice Conway has played a pivotal role in shaping
Central Queensland’s cattle and cropping industries

Emerald/Gemfields

Capella/Tieri

Blackwater/Duaringa

Springsure/Rolleston

Karla Gaylard

Claire Reinke

Billie Boase

Max O’Grady

during a career spanning more than 46 years.
He has helped keep producers and farming families
on the land; strengthening smaller communities and

Cultural Award

contributing tens of millions of dollars into the region

Emerald/Gemfields

Capella/Tieri

Blackwater/Duaringa

Springsure/Rolleston

each year through his work as a technical officer at the

Jo Rosenblatt

Clare Lacey

Yumi Akiyama

Isabelle Watson

Queensland Department of Agriculture and Fisheries.
His work included the development and adoption of
farming systems uniquely suited to the region’s climate.

Senior Sports Award

Maurice has also been an avid volunteer within the

Emerald/Gemfields

Capella/Tieri

Blackwater/Duaringa

Springsure/Rolleston

Emerald St Patricks Parish, Marist College and wider

Troy Paradies

Kelly-Anne Paragreen

Shane Shoesmith

Jared Owens

Central Queensland community for more than 18 years.

Junior Sports Award
Emerald/Gemfields

Capella/Tieri

Blackwater/Duaringa

Springsure/Rolleston

Tori Rouse

Hunter French

Dylan Gook

Lachlan Ferry

Community Event of the Year
Emerald/Gemfields

Capella/Tieri

Blackwater/Duaringa

Springsure/Rolleston

Emerald Eisteddfod

2016 Tieri Movember Ball

Dingo State School Poetry

Springsure Cancer

Pantomime

Committee Luncheon
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New citizens

Community Reference Groups update

We welcomed 82 new citizens to the Central Highlands in

About Community Reference Groups

2016-17.

In 2011, the Central Highlands Regional Council adopted the

The CRGs include councillors and community members who

They came from India, the Philippines, New Caledonia,

Central Highlands 2022 Community Plan, which identified the

represent a variety of sectors and who work in partnership

France, South Africa, Hungary, USA, Fiji, New Zealand,

vision, outcomes and goals for our regional communities.

to advocate and deliver on priority projects to advance

Argentina, Nepal, and Canada.

Incorporated into this plan are the Community Reference

their communities.

Citizenship ceremonies were held on the:

Groups (CRGs) that are established in 13 communities

This year, each of the CRGs were allocated $20 000 to

23 August 2016

across our region and supported by the Community

implement projects to improve and benefit their communities

Development Team.

and surrounding rural areas. This gave the groups a

16 November 2016

sense of community empowerment and enabled them

26 January 2017

to learn valuable skills in project planning, budgeting and

7 March 2017

project delivery.

CRG Community Projects

6 April 2017
The Central Highlands welcomed 82 new citizens in 2016-17

Volunteers

Community Reference Group

Project

COMPLETED

Volunteering continues to play a pivotal role in the Central

Gemfields

Replace the existing boundary fence at Alan King Memorial Park.

Highlands, with almost a quarter of the population offering a

Rolleston

Beazley Park beautification stage one, including installing a timber fence, levelling the

helping hand to our community in some capacity.

southern end of the park and cementing around the toilet.

In 2016-17, volunteers from all walks of life selflessly offered

Tieri

their commitment, support and experience to many of our

events, services, sporting clubs, community groups and businesses.

community programs and facilities.

IN PROGRESS

We recognise and appreciate the contributions of all our

Springsure

unsung heroes, who continually strengthen and enrich

Some of our volunteering opportunities include:
State Emergency Services
Springsure, Blackwater and Capella

Town beautification, including local sandstone seats, directional signage and a fountain
in the town centre.

our region.

Visitor Information Centre staff in Emerald, Duaringa,

A family-friendly community event, as well as a community-run website to promote

Ivy Anderson Home Committee Members from left to right: Joyce Comiskey,
Kay Hodge and Councillor Gail Nixon.

Springsure Art Group

Emerald

Refresh ‘Marble’ artwork in the Emerald Botanic Gardens.

Dingo

Beautify the Dingo Cemetery and purchase a community defibrillator.

Duaringa

Install a local history walk for travellers.

Comet

Install a local history walk for travellers.

Capella

Main street revitalisation, including refreshing the light pole murals, interactive
sunflower panel and installing history signage in the vacant parkland structures.

Friends of the Emerald Art Gallery
Ivy Anderson Age Home Committee

Bluff

Purchase and installation of exercise equipment in a public space.

Rubyvale, Sapphire and Scrub Lead Miners Common

Blackwater

Revitalising the vacant Capricorn Highway block between the Blackwater International
Coal Centre and tennis courts.

Committee
Bauhinia

National Tree Planting Day

Planting of trees and shrubs at the Bauhinia Sportsgrounds and renovate playground
beside Bauhinia Community Hall.

Australia Day Celebrations
Arcadia Valley

Clean Up Australia Day

Construct an awning on the side of the community hall to create a covered area out to
the tennis court.

Central Highlands Multicultural Festival
All of our volunteers receive a briefing on our expectations

The CRGs were also tasked with developing their own place-

Each CRG will have an up-to-date action plan by the end

and of their rights and responsibilities as volunteers,

based action plans to detail how and when specific goals will

of December 2017. Action plans will then be reviewed and

including health and safety requirements and code of

be achieved. By the end of the financial year, the plans were

updated annually to respond to changes in the community.

conduct training.

at various stages of maturity, however most of the ground

Residents in Dingo learn how to use a defibrilator that was purchased with
funds provided to the community reference group.

work has been completed.
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Grants to Community Organisations
Organisation

Project

$Amount

Arcadia Valley Recreation Association

New footpath from hall to amenities block.

5000.00

Bauhinia Hack & Pony Club

Bauhinia Kids - Have a Go!

5000.00

Blackwater Clay Target Club

Equipment for major carnivals.

4913.50

Blackwater PCYC

Basketball hall refurbishment.

5000.00

Blackwater Pony Club

New ablution block – electrical.

3890.00

Borilla Community Kindergarten

Access 4 All program

5000.00

Capella Golf Club

Kitchen improvements.

2843.00

Capella Pioneer Village

CQ cinematic, photographic and communications

5000.00

exhibit stage 8.
Central Family Support

First aid training for people with a disability.

1200.00

Central Highlands BMX Club

Registration hut renovation.

4730.00

Central Highlands Feather Club

Renewal of poultry cages for animal health and

5000.00

safety project.
Central Highlands Triathlon Club

Emerald Parkrun.

5000.00

Emerald Amateur Swimming Club (Emerald Seals)

Sun protection tents and trailer to transport.

4769.30

Emerald Car Club

Showgrounds facilities improvements.

5000.00

Emerald Junior Golf Club

Junior golf equipment.

5000.00

Emerald Show Society

Emerald Show – poultry shed upgrade.

1870.00

QCWA Blackwater

Upgrade kitchen.

3067.00

QPCYWA-PCYC Emerald

Energy efficient air.

5000.00

Springsure Show Society

Show pavilion upgrade.

4100.00

Miners Common Museum, Arts and

Project data/display storage and shelter.

3565.00

Cultural Centre

28
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Emerald Preschool and Community Kindergarten
students Josie, Lola, Pippa, Desi, River and Thia where
a new shade sail will be installed thanks to a council
community grant.
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GRANTS TO COMMUNITY ORGANISATIONS cont’d
Organisation

Project

$ Amount

Bauhinia Polocrosse Cub

Horse stalls.

5000.00

Blackwater and Districts Rugby League

Upgrade dressing sheds.

4706.16

Blackwater May Day Car and Bike Show

Moving the show to outside.

4199.00

Blackwater Tiny Tots

Air-conditioning.

4125.63

Coal Capital Speedway

Canteen refrigeration and communications upgrade.

3894.25

Dingo Playgroup

Dingo Playgroup refurbishment.

2807.27

Dingo Race Club

Fridge replacement.

Duaringa Town Rural Fire Brigade

Internal build of fire shed.

4727.27

Emerald and District Historical Association

Beautification and display at Pioneer Cottages.

1049.00

Emerald Eagles Football Club

New training equipment.

4070.75

Emerald Gymnastics and Trampoline Club

Acrolite flooring.

5000.00

Emerald Pottery Club

Community wellbeing pottery program.

Emerald Preschool and Community Kindergarten

Shade structure for play area.

5000.00

Emerald State School P&C Association

Community kitchen upgrade.

1309.45

Gemfields Lapidary and Craft Club

Furniture.

Peak Downs Community Hall Association

Install three air-conditioners.

1827.00

Rolleston State School P&C Association

Sun Smart community project.

1109.00

Springsure Amateur Swimming Club

Swimming aids.

1915.75

Springsure Jockey Club

Safety upgrades, storage and table and chairs.

4493.74

Springsure RSL Sub Branch

Disabled access ramp and removal of

4675.00

Football Club

5000.00

1500.10

Association

5000.00

evaporative coolers.

30

Coordinator Communications, Andrea
Ferris, and Councillor, Gail Godwin-Smith,
at the 2016 Central Highlands Multicultural
Festival.
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Springsure Working Horse Association

Fencing project.

5000.00

Zone 15 Pony Club

Zone 15 Pony Club camp.

4250.00
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RADF grants 2016-17
Project Title

Project Summary

Central Highlands

Towards the costs of conducting a writers’ workshop for new and established writers

Writers Group

with professional author Sandy Curtis.

Bauhinia Shire

A research concept to develop and preserve the history of a local business on the

Historical Society

Central Highlands that has been operating since the early 1900s.

Comet School of

To engage professional graphic art services as part of promoting the significant

Arts

historical sites throughout the Comet Township.

Alessandro Parlato

Professional development program to gain an introduction to the music industry,

$ Amount
1750

Project Title

Project Summary

$ Amount

Boots n All

To provide opportunity for rural line dancers to access a high quality, affordable
professional development workshop.

2130

2055

1218

Animating Spaces:

To provide a multicultural musical performance and musicians professional

Children of the Road

development workshops for the region during Multicultural month.

Animating Spaces:

To provide an acoustic guitar performance and artist networking event for the Central

Red Chair Acoustic

Highlands.

including live sound, song writing, computer music technology, jamming and

Capella Bakehouse

To provide funding to the Capella Pioneer Village to develop a concept design to

rehearsal techniques, recording, mixing, music editing and performance.

Oven Concept

preserve the historic bake house oven from the original Capella bakery.

Exhibition

region. It includes a ‘Faces and Places’ gallery exhibition with links to the Central

CHACAC Roaming

Project as part of Arts in August to develop visual arts skills with professional artist

Highlands Regional Council’s Liveability Strategy.

Artist Retreat

Kasey Sealy when touring Blackwater, Capella, Emerald and Springsure, and

Battle of the Bands to engage musicians Andrew Ball, Ashleigh Porter, Emma Di

1000

8000

encourage regional programs between artists across the region.

3000

Marco and Samantha Mason of Barega Sax, and choral conductor Alicia Crush to

CHRC Arts and

Project to promote artists, cultural tourism, galleries, heritage and events across the

conduct community and school workshops culminating in a community concert to be

Cultural Booklet

Central Highlands’ region in a promotional booklet.

held in July.

Local Marketing

To provide professional development opportunity for arts, cultural and heritage

Blackwater Art

To bring professional art tutor Mark Coombe to Blackwater for a professional

Development

individuals and organisations to learn multiple-style marketing skills to promote

Society

development workshop.

Gigs and Digs

A signature regional musical event with headline artists and local talent, supporting

1073

2500

Design

A strategic initiative to provide interactive art events and activities across the whole

5000

2500

Guitar

Faces and Places

BoB: Best of Brass

1183

5000

2000

themselves and our regional cultural tourism assets.
15 000

development workshops and increased tourism and economic benefits for the

Artist Training

To provide a professional development opportunity for arts, cultural and heritage

Workshops

individuals and organisations to learn new skills.

3258

Central Highlands’ region.
Gemfest

To bring professional musician Sara Storer to collaborate with locals of the Gemfields

3000

for community workshops that will lead to the Legend and the Locals performance as
part of the Gemfest 30-year celebrations.
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How we involve our community
This year we have held a number of activities to provide
opportunities for consultation and to involve the community
in our decision making.

Sapphire Gemfields Interpretive Trail
Signature Art Piece

Ag-Grow 2016

Four exciting contenders for the signature art piece at the

available to businesses in Central Queensland. This year,

Sapphire Gemfields Interpretive Trail were chosen after a

council was represented by two business units: ranger

comprehensive selection process.

services and the Shepton Quarry. Each had personnel

Ag-Grow is one of the most successful marketing events

Biennial Community Survey

The art piece is the gateway to an exciting new tourism

The biennial Central Highlands Regional Council Community

initiative that takes visitors on a unique educational

Survey was conducted for the fourth consecutive time by the

journey through the history, culture and characters of the

Population Research Laboratory at the Central Queensland

fossicking area.

University.

available to explain the service provided and field enquiries.

The project was driven by a committee of community
members and locals were invited to meet with the

The next community survey will be conducted in 2018.

contending artists to share their stories and ideas.

For a comprehensive report on the survey see pages 21-22.

When the initial 10 artist’s concepts were in, residents

Corporate Plan 2017-2022

were able to have a say on their favourites through an

As part of the development of our Corporate Plan 2017-2022,

online survey, school workshops and a number of public

we asked for feedback on council’s six key priority areas and

information sessions.

the proposed strategies identified to achieve each of these.

The chosen artists Milne and Stonehouse created a
spectacular sculpture, standing over 12 metres tall, which

An online survey received 70 responses and feedback was
used to refine the plan, which sets a strategic direction for

Arcadia Valley Carnarvon Consultation.

council to deliver progressive outcomes to create a region
providing opportunities for all.

Parks People Play
The Open Space and Recreation Plan, which decides
infrastructure, program and service improvement
requirements for council-managed open space, sport and
recreation facilities across the region is being reviewed.
The new and improved version of our plan has been given
a fresh name – ‘Parks People Play: A plan for parks in the

was installed at the Anakie crossroads in July 2017.

Councillor consultations
Councillor consultations and regional general council
meetings are held in communities across our region every
year. These meetings are an opportunity for residents to
meet with the mayor and councillors, ask questions or raise
concerns and receive updates on projects in their area.
In 2016-17, consultations were held in:

Central Highlands’ – and a rebrand.

Arcadia Valley

Tresswell

In November 2016, a survey was conducted asking the public

Carnarvon Gorge

Lochington

to rate the aspirations for our parks and open spaces. This

Clermont/Rubyvale Rd

Tambo Rd

survey received more than 250 responses.

Rubyvale

Springsure

The survey found that the top five words used to describe a

Sapphire

Rolleston

park are: fun, shady, green, safe and clean.

Anakie

Toprain

A pop-up park was established at Emerald, Capella and

Duaringa

Orion

Springsure shows revealing the location and category for

Bauhinia

Dingo

Bluff

Big Bend

Willows Gemfields

Comet

each of our parks on a giant map as a second community
engagement opportunity.
Visitors were asked to provide feedback on the
categorisation of these parks and to complete a short survey

Bogantungan

about what features they would expect each category to
include. Children also enjoyed a giant game of Scrabble to
Mayor Kerry Hayes at a community consultation meeting at the Sapphire Gemfields.

make words relating to open space use.

Lake Nuga Nuga.
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Central Highlands Community Satisfaction Survey 2016

Satisfaction with council

Contact and communication with council

Satisfaction with engagement and communications
The Central Highlands Community Satisfaction Survey
2016 was undertaken by the Population Research
Laboratory at Central Queensland University.

Satisfaction with facilities and services
Satisfaction with issues related to the management of
the region had improved somewhat since 2014.

This is the fourth biennial survey to examine community
perceptions and satisfaction levels of council services
and facilities.

44%

>

are not satisfied with rural roads.

A total of 428 respondents participated in the telephone
survey in 2016 (calculated response rate of 51%).

Community Satisfaction
Satisfaction with the characteristics of the community
improved overall from 2014. Safety, friendliness and
suitability for raising children rated highly.
Many people would prefer improved roads, greater

80

>

% are satisfied with rubbish

80

>

collection and sewerage.

% are dissatisfied with

environmental protection.

was virtually unchanged from 2014 findings.

≈80%
73%
34%

<

83

%

72

%

feel satisfied with the council overall,

local employment.

access to health and medical services, lower rates and

office in the past twelve months and
had their issue resolved.

an improvement on the 2014 finding.

80

% said they found council staff

>

are satisfied with customer
services and information services.

are satisfied with the way we consult
and respond to the community.

50

%

courteous and helpful.

claim they would like to receive
more information and feedback on
council activities.

are satisfied with the councillors they

Letter-box drop and newspaper

deal with directly.

articles are the preferred way to

Satisfaction remained high in regard to libraries,
information services, economic development and

have contacted or visited a council

receive information.

93

%

believe it’s important to have a
councillor living in their local area.

People receiving information about

improved employment prospects and job security.

council via social media more than
doubled from 2014 to 2016.

27

>

%

assert that the current rates offer value

Environmental issues

for money and fewer see the current

Weed control/noxious weeds, coal mine pollution and

rate charges as reasonable (20%).

coal dust, chemical spraying and runoff, water supply
and feral pests were noted as environmental problems.

Rate value perceptions have improved since 2014,

Support to subsidise more recycling activities declined

however the perception that the rates are not

from 2014, to less than 30%.

reasonable is relatively unchanged.
Most respondents would choose to remain with
the status quo rather than reduce their services in
exchange for lower rates.

80

>

% remain satisfied with the level of

80%

>

community facilities.

are satisfied with their area’s general
appearance and presentation.

47%
48%

Environmental issues
Weed control/noxious weeds, coal mine pollution and
coal dust, chemical spraying and runoff, water supply

being passed on to ratepayers.

have accessed council’s website.

and feral pests were noted as environmental problems.
Support to subsidise more recycling activities declined
from 2014, to less than 30%.

Perceptions of local government

supported the cost of water
infrastructure upgrades in particular

60%

47

%

supported the cost of water

of all respondents feel that the local

infrastructure upgrades in particular

government has a good knowledge of local

being passed on to ratepayers.

issues and what local communities want.

also support a limit on water

Respondents stated that they generally feel well

...while slightly less felt that the local government

consumption across the region.

informed about recycling practices and recycle most if

effectively represents the needs of their community (44%).

not all appropriate materials.

These figures have also improved slightly from 2014.

Respondents stated that they generally feel well
informed about recycling practices and recycle most if
not all appropriate materials.

Housing attitudes
The majority of respondents who took part in the 2016 survey own their home (including mortgages). Housing
affordability was seen as much less of an issue than in previous years, with current concerns more focused on perceived
instability in the employment and housing markets.
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Disaster management and preparedness
Preventing, managing and preparing for disasters is
an essential part of our business.
During the year we undertook a number of activities
to protect our community.

Prevention activities

Preparedness

Management

Recovery

Additional survey work and subsequent

Feasibility and preliminary

Twenty-two training courses attended

Response operations conducted in

In the aftermath of ex-Tropical Cyclone

and met several times between

hydrological modelling at the

design of Blue Gums Evacuation

by 293 people were conducted

2016-17 included:

Debbie, council staff inspected and

14 April 2017 and 4 June 2017 to

Craigmore rain and river height gauging

Route completed.

throughout the region for council staff

assessed a number of properties

establish and implement a whole of

along the Mackenzie, Dawson and

catchment response.

site on the Nogoa River.

Flood Levee Business Case presented

and local disaster response agencies.

Refurbishment of cyclone damaged

to council in April 2017 and the

Topics covered ranged from the

equipment on the lower Mackenzie

decision made not to proceed with the

Guardian Control Centre system

River north of Duaringa.

levee scheme.

and state disaster management

Rolleston Township Flood Mitigation

A joint planning study with the

Options Study prepared.

Department of Transport and Main
Roads for the Capricorn Highway

Detailed flood model was
developed for the Upper Comet
River communities.
Survey data captured for Carnarvon
Gorge kiosk and entry grounds, and the
Takarakka Resort.

between Codenwarra Road and Ruby
Street in Emerald commenced.

arrangements to evacuation
and coordination centres,
resupply and a seminar from the
Bureau of Meteorology on preseason preparedness.

Detailed flood modelling of
the Borilla – Medway Creek

2 December 2016: Heatwave
response – community water drop.
2-3 January 2017: Flood operations,
Springsure.
13-14 January 2017: Storm, flood
operations throughout the region.
27-31 March 2017: Tropical Cyclone
Debbie Operations (fully operational
LDMG and LDCC).

Isaac rivers.

Support and information to local

Aerial observations indicated

landholders, particularly on relief

homesteads, pastures and facilities

funding, was provided by council.

had been impacted by the river
levels and where flooding was
greatest.
A Central Highlands
Cyclone Debbie
Recovery Group
was formed

catchment developed.
Keith Jarrett, Senior Project Officer, Infrastructure and Utilities provides
bottled water to staff at Emerald Anglicare during a heatwave.
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Local buy and supply

Calendar of Events

Supporting our local economy and small business is important to us and throughout the year CHDC has continued to liaise
with business owners to prepare and inform them on how to do business with council.
As a result, our spending within the local region shows steady growth.

Month

Event

July 2016

National Tree Day community planting
NAIDOC week celebrations

Our local spend

AgGrow
Local spend

Outside region spend

Total spend

2014

$36 686 181

$66 358 984

$103 045 165

Central Highlands Multicultural Festival

2015

$37 108 505

$69 413 090

$106 521 594

Gemfest

2016

$40 151 304

$57 899 647

$98 050 950

2017

$53 004 911

$49 642 596

$102 647 507

August 2016

Arts in August

Senior’s Week
Relay for Life
4 Paws for a CQ Cause
Springsure Biennial Art Competition
September 2016

Disability Action Week

October 2016

Central Highlands Investing In Our Future
Conference
Garage Sale Trail
Fairbairn Dam Open Day

November 2016

Emerald Art Awards

December 2016

Light Up Your Town - Christmas light competition
Grand opening of Emerald Aquatic Centre water slides

January 2017

Australia Day festivities in Blackwater, Capella, Emerald and Rolleston

February 2017

Central Highlands Sport and Recreation Conference and Awards Dinner

March 2017

Clean Up Australia Day events region-wide
International Women’s Day Luncheon
Sister City Kite Flying Day
Blackwater Aquatic Centre grand opening

April 2017

ANZAC Day ceremonies
National Youth Week activities
Sunflower Festival
Central Highlands Regional Council Race Day

May 2017

March against domestic violence
Volunteer Week
Capella Show

June 2017

Queensland Week
Springsure Show
Emerald Show

Caption: Mayor Kerry Hayes, Mark
hodgson (Hastings Deering), CEO
Scott Mason and Cr Godwin-Smith.
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Our Council
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OUR organisation

HOW COUNCIL WORKS
The community elects the councillors and mayor

The Chief Executive Officer and the Executive
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Scott Mason

and provides input through the community plan,

Leadership Team drive the business of council and

consultations and community reference groups to

offer councillors advice.

determine the region’s priorities.
CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS
The Australian and Queensland

Committees: Infrastructure
GENERAL MANAGER
CORPORATE
SERVICES

GENERAL MANAGER
COMMERCIAL
SERVICES

GENERAL MANAGER
COMMERCIAL
SERVICES

GENERAL MANAGER
INFRASTRUCTURE
AND UTILITIES

Jason Bradshaw

Michelle Webster

Daniel Fletcher

Gerhard Joubert

Financial Management

Quarry Operations

Town Planning

Disaster Management

Rating

Saleyard Operations

Flood Mitigation

Procurement

Land Development

Development
Assessment

Records Management

Airport Operations

Information Services

Native Title

Payroll

Cultural Heritage

Organisational
Development

Technical Services

Strategic Land Use
Planning

Project Design

Building and Plumbing
Services

Waste Management
Services

Recruitment
Learning and
Development

Governance

Community Planning
and Development

Workplace Health and
Safety

Arts and Cultural Services

Legal Compliance

Sport and Recreational
Facilities

Corporate Planning and
Reporting

Cemeteries

Our standing

Council establishes

committees consider

operational and

the strategic direction

strategic priorities that
plan, corporate plan and

for the region and make
recommendations to
council in relation to specific

operational plan.

operational areas.

The Central Highlands Development
The Audit Committee provides an independent

Corporation manages the economic and

external review of our governance and internal

tourism facets of the local government area. Board
members comprise of councillors and the CEO.

control framework.

Capital Construction

Customer Service
Call Centre

programs.

Contract Administration

Infrastructure
Maintenance

Libraries

Plant and Fleet
Management

Act 2009 and endow
funding for various

align with the community

Depots and Workshop
Operations

Public Assets and
Facilities

Geographic Information
Systems

the Local Government

Communities.

Infrastructure Services

Environmental Health

Asset Management

authority to council under

and Leadership,

Project Management

Road Infrastructure
Agreements

Ranger Services

Governments provide

and Finance, Governance

Water Utilities
Water and Sewerage
Treatment
Water and Sewerage
Networks
Water and Sewerage
Infrastructure

Risk Management
Internal Audit
Corporate Strategy

RESPECT AND
INTEGRITY

ACCOUNTABILITY AND
TRANSPARENCY

PROVIDING
VALUE

COMMITMENT AND
TEAMWORK
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Our services
We offer services to around 28 000 people
and 15 000 rateable properties in an area of
nearly 60 000 square kilometres.
We employ 448 staff to administer in excess
of $800 million in assets, including ten
library branches, six aquatic centres and
seven customer service centres.

A Workplace of
Excellence

We maintain 4632 kilometres of roads and
numerous parks and gardens, including the
impressive botanic gardens in Emerald, the
linear parkland in Capella and the Japanese
Gardens in Blackwater.

A-Z of services
Advocacy

Major economic project development

Art galleries

Park and community hall bookings

Cemeteries

Parks and gardens maintenance

Community consultation

Pest and weed control

Community grants

Planning and building

Communications – media, public relations and

Playgrounds maintenance and building

social media

LIVING OUR VALUES

A GREAT PLACE TO WORK

Plumbing inspections

Community housing

Ranger services – animal management, livestock

Culture – citizenship, sister city relations, heritage
and history

control, pounds
Roads, bridges, culverts and footpaths

Customer service

Shepton Quarry

Disaster management and planning

Sporting and recreation areas – planning and

Economic development – business support

maintenance

Emerald Airport and landing areas

Sporting and active recreation club support

Emerald Saleyards

Stock route management

Environmental management – feral animal control,

Street lighting and signage

weeds, flying foxes, mosquitoes, magpies
Events – Australia Day, ANZAC celebrations,
commemorative and celebratory events
Flood mitigation planning
Food and personal appearance (hairdressers, tattooists,
beauty salons etc.) compliance and registration
Indigenous cultural support
Information technology – support and maintenance
Library services

A LEADING CULTURE

Streetscape and tree management
Swimming pools
Swimming pool fence safety compliance
Tourism development – visitor information centres
Waste and recycling services
Water and wastewater management
Workplace health and safety
Youth services
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Summary of key activities
BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT SERVICES
ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT
CUSTOMER SERVICE
Adopt practices and systems that support a skilled,
motivated and community-focused workforce.
Provide responsive and efficient systems to enable
the delivery of our services.
Create and develop a positive and future-focused
culture that demonstrates and supports our values.
Provide consistent high levels of customer service.

Adopt practices and systems that support
a skilled, motivated and communityfocused workforce.

Provide consistent high levels of
customer service.

Challenges of 2016-17

Our customers are our priority in the business of local

team this year has been looking at learning and development

Our employees have the opportunity to attain and maintain

government and we commit to provide excellence in

in a more strategic way to ensure council is compliant in its

qualifications and participate in skills development programs.

customer service.

legislative responsibilities. Working with the Safety team,

We offer a range of professional development and training to

The Customer Service team has completed skills training

ensure our staff has the skills and knowledge to deliver the

in contact centre technology at a number of office locations

highest quality services to the community.

throughout the region, which has improved responsiveness

We value the safety and wellbeing of our people. During

during peak call periods.

2016-17 we employed 24 trainees, apprentices, cadets and

We collected feedback to improve our service via a

Outlook for 2017-18

co-op students and all were provided with a combination of

customer satisfaction survey (face-to-face interactions).

It is important to consider our longer-term workforce

employment and structured training to support the ‘Growing
Our Own’ strategy.

Highlights of 2016-17

and Development Program that includes activities to

The Customer Service team responded to 22 009 calls

Our employees have a positive and supportive working

as well as mandatory training that supports all workers to

environment. We are an equal opportunity employer that

meet legislative compliance obligations.

making. They direct us as we work to become a leader

Provide responsive and efficient systems to
enable the delivery of our services.

in workplace culture in the coming year embarking on a

The Organisational Development team, with the assistance

part of our working life and the basis of our decision-

revised document is scheduled for release in late 2017.

provide information to design and develop the Learning

professional, personal and core competency development;

values culture and diversity. Our values are an important

We reviewed our Customer Service Charter in 2016 and a

Performance appraisals and training and development plans

support employees in: inductions; systems and applications;

A leading culture

The greatest challenge for the Organisation Development

with more than 80% resolved at the first point of contact.
9428 service requests were recorded in the Customer
70% of CRMs related to rates, roads, water and animalrelated enquiries.
76% of respondents to the Customer Satisfaction
Survey were ‘extremely satisfied’ with their customer
service experience.

of the Safety team, has implemented SitePass – a contractor
management system that manages all workers’ licences,

organisation that recognises ‘our people are our number one

online training (including inductions, policy and procedural

electronically across the organisation throughout the year

priority’.

training), external training records, and site attendance.

within five business days of their receipt.

Living our values

Our new induction program follows the same processes

delivering organisational-wide training activities that develop
employees’ capabilities to understand and align to the
direction of the new corporate plan. The new, online, generic
induction demonstrates our commitment to educate by

if required. Workers’ compliance obligations are now
facilitated and managed through SitePass from any device,
anywhere, anytime.

A great place to work

Create and develop a positive and futurefocused culture that demonstrates and
supports our values.

Central Highlands Regional Council is recognised as an

We understand that our people are our greatest asset

employer of choice in our region. We have promoted

and with a team of empowered, skilled workers, who all

programs in health and safety, career development, diversity,

demonstrate a future-focused culture, we can continue to

work and family, and learning and development. We are

provide the highest quality services to our community.

working more efficiently and effectively through technology.

dedicated to building a better region and our employees are
proud to make our region a great place to live and work.

working, we have significantly progressed this project and
are looking to complete it by December 2017.

composition because the ageing workforce is a reality.
We are currently investigating best practice through a
succession management framework that identifies critical
to assess and manage succession.
Also, next year we are focusing on a leadership development
program for middle and senior management. The program
will be a practical and effective approach to build and

Request Management (CRM) System.

providing strong leadership is an integral part of an effective

for all new workers, although can be tailored accordingly

taking others’ opinions on board and looking at new ways of

talent, guides how to develop potential successors and how

cultural transformation process. Having the right culture and

The Organisational Development team is coordinating and

this project has definitely been a challenge. However, by

enhance people management capability, to ensure our
employees are fully engaged, aligned and focused on the
delivery of organisational strategy and objectives.

Strategies, plans and policies
Organisational Development Plan

We processed and distributed 106 780 emails and faxes

Customer Service Charter review

We engaged the largest number of trainees and
apprentices for the past 10 years.
The new online Sitepass/e3Learning system
was implemented
A whole-of-council Learning and Development Strategy
was developed.
Preparations for the implementation of the new industrial
relations legislation and new Local Government Industry
Award were completed.

The Organisational Development team provides leadership
and support for all employees across the organisation.

BACK TO CONTENTS
48

Central Highlighlands Regional Council Annual Report 2016-2017

centralhighlands.qld.gov.au

49

Statistics and trends

Customer requests by category

Total workforce
Year

Department

2015-16

2016-17

Animals

596

537

729

621

1276

811

246

221

1900

1679

Parks and recreation

721

696

Rates

990

807

Roads

1051

1120

Sewerage

169

155

Waste management

530

489

2502

2285

3

7

10 713

9428

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

Internal

243

279

213

226

223

Assets and facilities

External

265

206

222

234

225

Development compliance

Total

508

485

435

460

448

Health and environment
Local laws

Recruitment
Year

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

Total

125

96

59

106

102

Gender Balance
Year

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

Male

332 (65%)

290 (60%)

290 (67%)

309 (68%)

293 (65%)

Female

185 (35%)

172 (40%)

154 (33%)

160 (31%)

164 (35%)

Terminations

Water
Fleet
TOTAL

Year

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

Total

126

100

108

86

108

AGEING WORKFORCE FIVE-YEAR TREND

Employee turnover
2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

115

25

20

25

19

23

110

%

Age Demographics (2016-17)
Age Group
No. Employees

15-24

25-35

36-45

46-55

56-65

65+

39

98

88

115

100

8

Employee Numbers

Year

120

105
100
95
90
85
56 years and over by year

56yrs over 12/13

56yrs over 15/16

56yrs over 13/14

56yrs over 16/17

56yrs over 14/15
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Performance Report – Key Priority Area 7 – A Workplace of Excellence
Key performance indicators

COMPLETED

ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Implement performance
systems and management
processes.
80% staff satisfaction
with induction.
Develop and implement
organisation development plan.
Customer Service
Analysis of report on call

Case Study

statistics captured in

Online induction

Touchpoint.
Analysis of customer

To provide essential services, we currently engage

to carry out work at council. Administrators can

more than 2500 workers, including 450 full-time

verify workers’ qualifications from anywhere,

staff members and more than 2000 labour hires

anytime and on any device.

and consultants, contractors and sub-contractors
and work experience persons and volunteers.

and implemented three online induction training
courses available through the system. The generic

implement a contractor management solution to

induction is automatically assigned to all paid

centralise our work, health and safety information

staff. Additionally the Work Health and Safety

and to deliver an automated solution to verify

Induction and Work and Area Familiarisation are

insurances and licences for all workers, and

automatically assigned to all council workers that

deliver professional inductions and training that

register. This ensures all workers, no matter what

complied with the Work Health and Safety Act

they do or where they are working at council, have

2011, including self-insurance requirements to

a consistent induction and training process that

all workers.

includes only the training relevant to the work they
are performing.

and development system that couples

Our solution provides us, and our administrators,

workers’ learning management and contractor

a greater transparency and centralisation of

management from one central point.

the competency, currency and compliance of

All workers are able to self-register and upload

Annual review of Customer
Service Charter.

Coordinate the Tidy Towns
competitions.
SAFETY
Provide and evaluate health,
safety and wellness program.
Develop hazard
identification booklets.
Deliver hazard identification
skills training.
Undertake noise survey.
Deliver Fluvax program.

NOT PROCEEDING

INFORMATION SERVICES
Implement video conferencing
with Microsoft Surface Hubs.
Implement livestreaming of
council meetings.
Upgrade library kiosk sites.
Trial small-scale public
internet access.
Complete corporate system
solution scoping and
procurement.

TECHNICAL SERVICES

COMMUNITY AND CUSTOMER
SERVICE

Employ two cadet engineers.

Resolved 80% of calls at first

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS

point of contact.

Launch updated intranet.

Council has also designed, custom-developed,

Our challenge was to design, develop and

Our solution was to implement a learning

satisfaction surveys.

CARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED

ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Develop a training and
development plan.
Implement first-year actions of

Strategic Workforce Plan
2014-2019.
Industrial Relations Commission

their insurances, licences and qualifications

My name is Leanne Janetzki and I’ve been a

into their individual profile. This information is

customer service officer at the Central Highlands

then verified by the relevant council contractor

Regional Council’s Emerald office for seven and a

administrator to ensure that the worker is eligible

half years.

metrics and information reports.
Develop workplace relations
improvement programs.
Develop employee engagement
programs.
Review and improve Corporate

to ratify CHRC new enterprise

Services’ policies and

agreement.

procedures.

Develop succession planning
proposals.
Develop water industry
certificate qualifications
and training packages in

its workers.

Develop a suite of workforce

Design organisational people
development and culture
programs to embed values.
Develop, conduct and analyse
staff culture surveys.

collaboration with Central

SAFETY
Release standard operating
procedures.
Implement training program in
standard operating procedures.
Implement noise survey control
measures.
Implement health surveillance
program.
INFORMATION SERVICES
Install two kiosks at council
depot work sites.
Complete corporate wi-fi
installation.
Implement stage 1 of corporate

Queensland University.

software system.
Nil
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Health and safety report
and safe workplace for all employees, contractors and

30.88

31.81

14.81

21.59

24.13

20.64

30.63
20.47

culture from the adoption of the Switch on Safety

20.53

This year, there was a positive shift within our safety

17.90

21.86

workplaces are safe and without risk to health.

31.84

32.31

focused on leadership, direction and resources to ensure our

30.75

volunteers by adopting a new Work Health and Safety Policy

leadership program.

19.69

We have continued our commitment to provide a healthy

SAFETY PERFORMANCE STATISTICS
CHRC VS LGW SCHEME GROUP D
45.37

Supporting a positive culture

Our four key areas of focus are:
Ensuring all hazardous energies are effectively managed
through design, engineering and constant monitoring and
management strategies.
All leaders understand and exhibit safety leadership

2014

2015

2016

2017

Group LTI Frequency Rate

CHRC LTI Frequency Rate

Group LTI Duration Rate

CHRC LTI Duration Rate

behaviour.
The safety management system, including policies,

This graph depicts the LTI frequency rate and duration

procedures, training and behavioural processes, is

rates compared to other members of Group D in the Local

relevant, easily accessible and monitored for compliance.

Government Workcare scheme for the past four years.

Leaders constantly monitor and engage with their people
to influence safety habits through acknowledgement,
challenge and role modelling effective safety choices.

Safety management system
The safety management system enables council to comply
with the provisions of the Queensland Work Health and

Staff profile

Leanne Janetzki – Customer Service Officer

Our proactive approach has delivered a 35% reduction in the

Safety Act, 2011 and its associated regulation, codes

number of statutory worker’s compensation claims and a 10%

and standards.

reduction in the lost time injury (LTI) frequency rate when

Significant importance is placed on monitoring and reviewing

compared with safety performance in financial year 2016-17.

My role is to work as part of a team to provide the

A big part of the customer service role I would

the effectiveness of the safety management system for

best possible service to our customers and also

describe as ‘problem solving’, which I enjoy

SAFETY PERFORMANCE STATISTICS
COMPARATIVE DATA 2016 vs 2017

continuous improvement of our management practices.

our staff.

very much – in fact I’m often referred to as ‘Miss

We have continued to progress and strengthen the safety
management system by conducting an internal system audit

45.37

of the work health and safety practices and procedures in

38

accordance AS 4801.

21.59

24.13

Statutory
Claims

LTI
Frequency Rate
CHRC 2017

LTI
Duration Rate

4.46

LTI
Incident Rate

are required to have a vast knowledge of the wide

Making our customers happy and solving their

variety of services provided by council. We are the

problems provides a great deal of satisfaction to

first port of call for everything; either via phone

me. I enjoy my role very much and it would not be

or on reception, providing information, receipting

possible to do so if I was not part of a great team.

undertaken to identify deficiencies in our fire systems. The

payments and lodging customer requests for all

audit deemed that we are managing safety hazards and

departments.

risks appropriately and meeting legislative compliance.
3.99

Marple’ by my colleagues!

Additionally, a comprehensive fire safety audit was

30.88
25.00

Every day is different and customer service officers

The recommendations for further improvement will be
considered for implementation in the 2017-18 work health
and safety strategy.

I think people would find it interesting to know
our team fielded 22 009 incoming calls in the past
year and 80 percent of the calls were resolved at
customer service level.

CHRC 2016

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate = LTI claims/(hours worked)*1,000,000.
Lost Time Injury Duration is defined as the average days lost per lost
time injury. Incident Rate is the number of lost time injuries and illnesses for
100 workers employed.
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Occupational health and hygiene monitoring
The two areas targeted this year for occupational health

Our Leaders

and hygiene monitoring included occupational noise and
exposure to hazardous substances.
In June, an occupational noise assessment was performed
at multiple work sites to confirm noise exposures did not
exceed the standards or present a risk to our workers. The
report concluded that workers were not at risk of exceeding
the noise exposure standards and provided council with
some recommendations to further reduce any risk.
A health hazard identification survey and risk assessment
was performed to determine the particular hazardous
substances being used in council workplaces to develop a
program for occupational health monitoring and surveillance.
Following the site visit and subsequent qualitative risk
assessment, it was deemed exposure limits across all similar
exposure groups was acceptable and the safety controls
in place to protect workers using hazardous chemicals
were effective.
Further recommendations were made to implement a
targeted monitoring program in line with the Queensland

Work Health and Safety Regulation, 2011 and the Queensland
Mining and Quarrying Safety and Health Regulation, 2001
to ensure the exposure is well-understood and inclusive
of seasonal, temporal, personal and situational variability.
The proposed monitoring program to quantify occupational
hygiene hazards will commence next year.

Staff wellness initiatives
To actively promote and encourage health and wellness,
council offered programs in various locations including
promoting mental health and well-being by providing access
to counselling services through the Employee Assistance

Consultation
We pride ourselves in our workforce collaboration to develop
health and safety policies and procedures. Consultation is
structured through the health and safety committee that was
formed with staff nominated from across the organisation.

Program and other allied health professionals. We also

The committee discusses topics of interest, including

continue to provide staff access to the annual influenza

feedback on new or revised policies and procedures.

program and workplace vaccination schedule.

Workers are also encouraged to participate in risk
assessments and incident investigations.

Cr Christine Rolfe
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Councillors and mayor

Kerry Hayes

Gail Godwin-Smith

Paul Bell

Charlie Brimblecombe

Megan Daniels

David Lacey

MAYOR

DEPUTY MAYOR

Cr Paul Bell AM has served in local

Cr Brimblecombe returns for his

First-term councillor and long-term

Cr David Lacey hails from Capella

Cr Hayes served three terms with

This is Cr Godwin-Smith’s second term

government since 1985; for the

second term with the Central

local Cr Daniels brings to council a

and grew up on a cattle and grain

the previous Emerald Shire Council

with the Central Highlands Regional

former Emerald Shire Council and the

Highlands Regional Council. Having

variety of skills and experience along

property just north of his home

from 1997 to 2008, before serving

Council and her first as deputy mayor.

Central Highlands Regional Council.

spent more than 40 years in the area,

with a deep personal connection to

town before completing a diesel

on the newly amalgamated Central

Coming from a cattle and grain

Cr Bell’s local government career has

the Duaringa local is passionate

our region. With a Bachelor of Business

fitting apprenticeship in the mines.

Highlands Regional Council from 2008

property south of Rolleston, she is

included nine years as mayor, four as

about bringing families back to the

– Agribusiness under her belt, Cr

After traveling and working in rural

to 2012. After a short break from local

passionate about agriculture, natural

the president of the Australian Local

region to build strong communities.

Daniels has accumulated a professional

Canada for some time, he returned

government, he was elected as mayor

resource management, infrastructure

Government Association and eight as

With experience working for council

profile in the not-for-profit, banking

to the mining industry in the Central

in March 2016. Cr Hayes has been the

investment and community liveability.

president of the Queensland Local

as a water treatment plant operator,

and agribusiness sectors spending

Highlands. With a diverse background,

managing director of the Emerald Land

A graduate of the Australian Institute

Government Association. Paul has

improved infrastructure and utilities

time working throughout Queensland

the local business owner has a

and Cattle Company since 1988. His

of Company Directors, Gail is on the

a strong history of board leadership

are also a priority for him. Outside of

and parts of the United Kingdom and

passion for the land, business,

key focus is economic development,

executive of the Australian Local

including the health, energy, rail,

his local government career, Charlie

East Africa. She is Emerald-based

health, fitness and building the local

controlling costs, effective community

Government Women’s Association;

superannuation and community

is a volunteer ambulance driver, SES

with family agricultural business

sporting community. He has held

engagement and improving liveability

a local government board director

service sectors. An electrical fitter and

member, a karate teacher and a rural

connections to Capella and Comet.

various volunteer positions over the

across the region. Cr Hayes has held

of the Fitzroy Basin Association,

mechanic by trade, Paul is also chair

firefighter.

Megan believes the Central Highlands

years, including with the local rugby

numerous council board positions

Central Highlands Regional Resources

of the Central Highlands Healthcare

is a great place to live and do business.

union club, the Capella Community

for sectors such as the saleyards,

Use Planning Cooperative and

Ltd Board and the Central Queensland

Cr Daniels is an active member of her

Reference Group and the Capella

vegetation management and the CBD

Central Highlands Healthcare Ltd.

Health and Hospital Service and a

local community and is a Director of

Scouts.

revitalisation and planning. He was also

Cr Godwin-Smith is also a member

director of the Central Highlands (Qld)

Access Accommodation, the Emerald

chair of the flood recovery committees

of AgForce Queensland, the Cattle

Housing Company. In 2005, Paul was

in 2008 and 2010.

Neighbourhood Centre and Central

Council of Australia, Rolleston SES and

awarded a Member (AM) in the General

Highlands Development Corporation

a First Responder for the Queensland

Division of the Order of Australia. He

and is a member of AgForce

Ambulance Service.

has a Bachelor of Business

Queensland.

Administration and is a member of
the Australian Institute of Company
Directors. Paul’s success in developing
partnerships with government and
private enterprise has seen accelerated
investment for roads, water and
community infrastructure.
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Councillor remuneration (LGR 2012 S186)
COUNCILLOR REMUNERATION 2016/17
Name of Councillor

Allowances $

Superannuation $

TOTAL REMUNERATION $

Mayor Kerry Hayes

122547.83

14705.50

137253.33

Cr. Gail Godwin-Smith

76592.07

9191.00

85783.07

Cr. Paul Bell

65102.70

7812.38

72915.08

Cr. Charles Brimblecombe

65102.70

7812.38

72915.08

Cr. Megan Daniels

65102.70

7812.38

72915.08

Cr. David Lacey

65102.70

7812.38

72915.08

Cr. Alan McIndoe

65102.70

7812.38

72915.08

Cr. Gail Nixon

65102.70

7812.38

72915.08

65102.70

7812.38

72915.08

654 858.80

78 583.16

733 441.96

Alan McIndoe

Gail Nixon

Christine Rolfe

Cr McIndoe is no stranger to the

After 19 years with the Bauhinia Shire

This is the first term for Cr Rolfe

spotlight having represented both

Council, 12 as mayor, and eight with the

who lives on a cattle property near

Queensland and Australia in rugby

Central Highlands Regional Council,

Springsure. Christine is heavily involved

Cr. Christine Rolfe

league. But in 2016 he pulled on a

Cr Nixon returns for her 29th year in

in local, state and national agri-politics,

TOTAL

different kind of jersey, representing his

local government. A born and bred

holding positions such as board

community as a first-term councillor.

Springsure local, Cr Nixon also helps

member of Queensland Agricultural

This Emerald man has strong ties to

manage her family’s small transport

Training Colleges, immediate past

the area having been raised in the

and fuel business. She is treasurer

president/treasurer

area from the age of two and returning

of the Ivy Anderson Age Home

Queensland and past vice president

after his sporting career 20 years ago.

Committee, which has raised vital funds

of the National Farmers Federation.

He is a project manager and small

for the assisted living complex, and

In her local community she is also a

family business owner, as well as an

director of the Central Highlands (Qld)

member of the Springsure Aged Care

hospitality) ($)

experienced life coach and a coach

Councillor other expenses (LGR 2012 S186)
OTHER COUNCILLOR EXPENSES

of AgForce

Housing Company. She also served

Committee and has held committee

for the Emerald Brothers Junior Rugby

as deputy mayor from 2012 to 2016. Cr

positions on a number of community

League Club. He is also the patron of

Nixon’s interests include agriculture,

organisations. Christine is passionate

the Central Highlands Men of League

health, mental health, aged care,

about education, tourism, agriculture

committee. Cr McIndoe is a strong

tourism and jobs for school leavers.

and resource sectors. She is well-

Name of Councillor

Council Motor Vehicle

Accommodation

Seminar,

Travel Costs

Mobile

TOTAL

Pool Vehicle

Vehicle

& Meal Costs

Conference

(Conferences

Devices

OTHER

access

allocated for

(includes

& Course

& Seminars)

& Phone

EXPENSES

available

exclusive use

deputations and

Fees ($)

($)

Charges ($)

($)

Mayor Kerry Hayes

7444.24

4664.63

3311.79

1505.04

16925.70

Yes

Cr. Gail Godwin-Smith

3973.28

2218.67

2762.16

564.98

9519.09

Yes

Cr. Paul Bell

1879.38

2739.96

2099.75

830.72

7549.81

Cr. Charles Brimblecombe

2781.07

3356.78

783.72

515.70

7437.27

Cr. Megan Daniels

682.86

2213.67

2727.19

516.13

5627.69

Cr. David Lacey

3365.59

7525.44

1894.29

637.27

13422.59

Yes
Yes

advocate for community wealth

versed in corporate governance

and health, primary and secondary

and is an elected member of the CQ

industries, and building unity within

Regional Committee of the Australian

the region.

Institute of Company Directors. She

Cr. Alan McIndoe

1384.24

3085.04

864.54

580.39

5914.21

is a Commissioner of Declarations

Cr. Gail Nixon

3053.48

1645.94

992.79

749.14

6441.35

Yes

Cr. Christine Rolfe

5603.19

6711.58

2846.69

851.54

16013.00

Yes

TOTALS

30167.33

34161.71

18282.92

6750.91

88850.71

and holds qualifications in business
and agriculture.

Yes
Yes
Yes
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Regional collaboration

Standing Committee Representatives
FINANCE AND
INFRASTRUCTURE

LEADERSHIP AND
GOVERNANCE

COMMUNITIES

Mayor Kerry Hayes

Cr Megan Daniels

Cr Gail Godwin-Smith

Cr David Lacey

Cr Charles Brimblecombe

Cr Christine Rolfe

Mayor Kerry Hayes

Cr Alan McIndoe

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

Cr Gail Nixon

Cr David Lacey

Cr Christine Rolfe

Mayor Kerry Hayes

Cr Megan Daniels

Cr Gail Godwin-Smith

Cr Paul Bell

Cr Gail Nixon

CEO Scott Mason

Our councillors and executive staff value the opportunity to represent council’s position on various issues and to add Central
Highlands’ perspective to the regional conversation.
This is a list of the groups and committees that we met with during the year:

Cr Charles Brimblecombe

Councillor meeting attendance (S 186C)
Standing Committee

General Meeting

Mayor Cr Kerry Hayes

33

22

Cr Gail Godwin-Smith (Deputy Mayor)

23

22

9

20

Cr Charles Brimblecombe

30

20

Cr Megan Daniels

23

20

Cr David Lacey

16

15

Cr Alan McIndoe

10

20

Cr Gail Nixon

18

21

Cr Christine Rolfe

16

20

Cr Paul Bell

Group

Representative

Central Queensland Regional Organisation of Councils

Mayor Kerry Hayes (Chair)

Western Queensland Local Government Association

Mayor Kerry Hayes (Chair)

Central Queensland Senior Officers Network

CEO Scott Mason

Central Queensland Region Engagement Committee

CEO Scott Mason

Queensland Great Artesian Basin Advisory Council

CEO Scott Mason

Queensland Water Directorate Technical Reference Group

CEO Scott Mason

LGAQ Water and Sewerage Advisory Group

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

LGAQ Roads and Transport Advisory Group

Cr Christine Rolfe

LGAQ Resource Regions Advisory Group

Cr Paul Bell

LGAQ Regional Economic Development Advisory Group

Mayor Kerry Hayes
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Representing our region

CEO and Executive Leadership Team

It is important for the council to be represented at various forums and conferences throughout the year to keep up-to-date
with best practice, learn about new technology, advocate for facilities and services for the community, and keep abreast of
the current political climate.
This is an account of councillors’ representation during 2016-17.
Event

Attendee

Biofuels Conference

Cr Lacey

Australian Local Government Women’s Association

Cr Daniels
Cr Godwin-Smith

580.00

Cr Hayes
Cr Godwin-Smith
Cr Brimblecombe
Cr Lacey
Cr McIndoe
Cr Rolfe
Scott Mason

220.00/person

Cr Hayes
Cr Godwin-Smith
Scott Mason

1375.00

Annual Conference – 28-29 July 2016. Brisbane
Western Queensland Local Government Association
81st Annual Conference – 30-31 May 2017
Barcaldine

Local Government Association of Queensland
Civic Leaders Summit - July 2016
Local Government Association of Queensland

Cr Rolfe

$ Registration Fees

1120.00

14-15 September 2016

Scott Mason commenced his local

GENERAL MANAGER
COMMERCIAL SERVICES

GENERAL MANAGER
INFRASTRUCTURE AND UTILITIES

government career with Monto Shire

Michelle Webster has 21 years’

Gerhard joined us in January 2016. He

Council in 1993. He commenced at

experience in Queensland local

has more than 30 years’ experience

Gayndah Shire Council as Manager

government with five years at an

as a civil engineering executive

– Administration/Finance in 2000,

executive level.

starting in South Africa working for the

She is the senior executive responsible

Department of Transport in Cape Town,

Cr Brimblecombe
Cr Bell

for the strategic and operational

gaining experience in planning, design

business planning of the Emerald

and construction of highways for more

Saleyards, airports, including Emerald

than 10 years before migrating to

Airport, quarries and land development.

Australia and joining local government

Diamantina Shire Council from 2007
to 2013, before accepting the position
of CEO for Central Highlands Regional

Australian Local Government Association
National and Local Roads Congress 2016
9-11 November 2016
Toowoomba
Local Government Association of Queensland
Annual Conference – 18-20 October 2016
Gold Coast, Queensland

Developing Northern Australia Conference
Cairns
19-20 June 2017
Australian Local Government National General Assembly
Canberra, ACT

Gerhard Joubert

CEO in 2003. He served as CEO for

Brisbane

18-21 June 2016

Michelle Webster

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

became Deputy CEO and then

Future Cities Summit – August 2016
Qld Water Directorate Innovation Forum

Scott Mason

Cr Hayes
Cr Rolfe
Cr Nixon
Scott Mason

1000.00

Cr Hayes
Cr Bell
Cr Brimblecombe
Cr Lacey
Cr McIndoe
Cr Rolfe

1580.00

Cr Hayes
Cr Lacey
Cr Rolfe

1000.00

Cr Godwin-Smith
Cr Bell
Cr Nixon
Cr McIndoe
Scott Mason

1160.00

Council. Scott is passionate about

in Queensland.

local government and was awarded

Michelle brings to the organisation

the Queensland LGMA’s Manager of

qualifications in accounting,

the Year Award for Leadership and

management, business and planning.

Management Excellence in 2010.

She is also the holder of a Bachelor of

He is a graduate of the Australian

Commerce degree; is a graduate and

Applied Management Colloquium

member of the Australian Institute of

and has fulfilled roles of office for

Company Directors; a board member

He has completed a Bachelor of

the Central Queensland LGMA.

of the Australian Livestock Markets

Engineering Civil and is a member of

Scott has completed a Bachelor of

Association; and an Associate Member

the Institute of Engineers Australia;

Economics degree.

of CPA Australia.

a Chartered Professional Engineer; a

Gerhard’s portfolio includes hazard
mitigation, disaster management
and emergency services, technical
services, infrastructure services and
water utilities.

Fellow of the Institute of Public Works
Engineers Australia; and a Registered
Professional Engineer Queensland.
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Senior Management Remuneration (S201)
Remuneration packages paid to senior management (s201 LA 09)

Mary-Anne Uren
(Resigned 19 May 2017)

Jason Bradshaw
GENERAL MANAGER

Brad Duke
(Resigned 17 February 2017)

EXECUTIVE MANAGER GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE SERVICES

GENERAL MANAGER COMMUNITIES

Mary-Anne was with us for five and a

Jason has had a productive local

Prior to joining the team, Brad

2017 from Logan City Council, where

half years. Before her local government

government career spanning more

spent seven years at the former

he held the position of Manager

career Mary-Anne held roles in

than two decades with a variety of

Rockhampton City Council where he

Community Services.

tertiary and vocational education,

councils, including rural, coastal

held the positions of Deputy CEO/

human resources and training in the

and city, and has played a pivotal

Director Corporate Services and then

resources industry. In her position as

role in driving organisational reform.

CEO. In his role as General Manager

Executive Manager Governance, she

Commencing in December 2015,

Communities with Central Highlands

provided leadership and coordination

Jason brought valuable experience

Regional Council, Brad managed

of council’s governance, policy,

in the fields of finance, corporate

service delivery across all communities

performance, risk, internal audit, safety,

governance and management.

in planning, environmental services,

native title, cultural heritage and

He has undergraduate and post

community and customer services,

Daniel is particularly passionate about

corporate communications functions.

graduate qualifications in business

parks and recreation, and community

creating strong relationships with

She holds a Bachelor of Business,

and management, and is a member

planning and engagement. He holds

stakeholders that have an interest

Business Management (Legal Studies);

of professional associations including

a Bachelor of Business (Accounting

in delivering liveable, attractive and

a Diploma of HR Management; a

CPA Australia; Local Government

and Management) and was named

economically sustainable communities.

Bachelor of Laws; and is finalising

Managers Australia (QLD); Australian

a Distinguished Alumnus for the CQ

her work experience component to

Institute of Management; Australian

University in 2016. Brad is a graduate

complete her Graduate Diploma in

Institute of Company Directors; and

of the Australian Institute of Company

Legal Studies. She has also completed

the Governance Institute of Australia.

Directors; a fellow of the Local

the Australian Institute of Directors

His current portfolio incorporates

Government Managers Australia;

Course and the General Manager

financial services, procurement, asset

and President of the Blackwater

Program at the University of New South

management, fleet management,

Rotary Club. He also holds an Applied

Wales’ Australian Graduate School of

GIS, information communication and

Corporations Law Certificate with the

Daniel is an active member of

Management.

technology, records management and

Governance Institute of Australia.

LGMA and ALGWA and relishes the

organisational development.

Remuneration Range

Number of contracted senior employees

$100 000 - $200 000

0

$200 000 - $300 000

4

$300 000 - $400 000

1

Daniel Fletcher
(Commenced 13 February 2017)
Daniel joined council in February

As General Manager Communities,
Daniel leads service delivery across
planning, environmental services,
community and customer services,
parks and recreation, and community
planning and engagement.

With a Bachelor Psychology and
Bachelor Criminology and Criminal
Justice, he continues to dedicate
time to study completing his Higher
Degree Research Masters in public
sector integrity.

opportunity to be a champion of
change for gender equality.

Council staff supporting Relay for Life in 2017.
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Glossary of terms
ANNUAL REPORT

CEO

CUSTOMER SERVICE CHARTER

OPERATIONAL EXPENDITURE

An overview of the activities of council for the financial year.

Chief Executive Officer

Outlines the principles and standards relating to the services

Money spent on the ongoing costs of running council and

CHAA

provided by council staff.

its services.

Central Highlands Accelerate Agribusiness

EHP

OPEN SPACE AND RECREATION PLAN

CHACAC

Queensland Government’s Department of Environment and

Evaluates existing council-managed open space, sport and

Central Highlands Arts and Cultural Advisory Committee

Heritage Protection.

recreation facilities and provides a united vision for future

CHDC

E-NEWS

Central Highlands Development Corporation. A not-for-

Electronic newsletter.

profit organisation that is the lead economic and tourism

GIW

development agency for the Central Highlands region.

Great Inland Way.

engineering, financial and other technical practices to the

CHEMP

GOVERNANCE

management of infrastructure, costs, opportunities, risks

Central Highlands Economic Masterplan

The system by which council business is controlled and

and performance.

CHRRUP

directed, especially with regard to regulation of decision-

ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN

The Central Highlands Regional Resources Use Planning

making procedures.

A plan that combines technical and financial techniques for

Cooperative is an independent community-owned

INFRASTRUCTURE

the management of one or more infrastructure assets over

organisation dedicated to increasing the sustainability of

The physical and organisational structures and facilities

the lifecycle of the asset in the most cost-effective manner in

natural resources.

(roads, buildings, water treatment plants) needed for the

RADF

order to provide a specified level of service.

COUNCIL

operation of Central Highlands’ communities.

Regional Arts Development Fund

AUDIT

Refers to Central Highlands Regional Council.

LDCC

REMPLAN

An examination of the records, statements, systems and

COMMUNITY

Local Disaster Coordination Centre

A web-based tool providing detailed demographic,

procedures of an organisation together with its stated claims

The people living, working and visiting the Central Highlands.

This report gives a comprehensive easy-to-read summary
of what your council has been doing within the community,
including a comprehensible community financial report and a
complete financial summary.
ASSET
An item that has potential or actual value to an organisation.
ASSET MANAGEMENT
A systematic approach to managing assets through all
lifecycle phases. This involves applying a combination of

for performance.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

BLACKSPOT PROGRAM

Expands on community consultation to include wider

An Australian Government initiative to reduce crashes on

processes of education, advocacy, communication and

Australian roads.

participation that also contribute to council decision making.

BUDGET

CORPORATE PLAN

Refers to the Central Highlands Regional Council Budget

Sets out the council’s strategic direction for the coming

planning and development. Under review.
PCYC
Police-Citizens Youth Club
POLICY
A statement, formally adopted by council or the chief

Roads to Recovery, an Australian Government infrastructure
investment program.

economic and community data for businesses and

LDMG

community groups.

Local Disaster Management Group

SES

LGAQ

State Emergency Service

Local Government Association of Queensland.

STAKEHOLDER

LGIP

A person or organisation with an interest in the outcome or

Local Government Infrastructure Plan.

output or is affected by services, activities, policies, services,

five years and is based on the outcomes and goals in the

LGMA

BBRRT – BOWEN BASIN REGIONAL ROAD AND TRANSPORT
GROUP CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Central Highlands 2022 Community Plan. It’s the tool we use

Local Government Management Association.

to consider the priority of projects and services and balance

NDRRA

Represents expenditure on a capital project.

their delivery with available resources.

National Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements. A joint

CAPITAL WORKS

CQLGMA

funding initiative of the Australian and state governments

Works undertaken to create a new asset or space, or to

Central Queensland Local Government

to provide disaster relief and recovery payments and

change the use, function or layout of an existing asset

Management Association

infrastructure restoration to help communities recover from

CRG – COMMUNITY REFERENCE GROUP

particular issue.
R2R

for 2015-16.

or space.

executive officer that describes the council’s position on a

programs, or strategies.
TIDS
Transport Infrastructure Development Scheme
YOUTHINC
Council’s youth development service, based in Blackwater.

the effects of natural disasters.

CENTRAL HIGHLANDS 2022 COMMUNITY PLAN

A group of community representatives established in

OPERATIONAL PLAN

A 10-year plan providing a long-term ‘road map’ for the

each of the region’s thirteen townships under the Central

The Operational Plan is the detail of the Corporate Plan. It

Central Highlands, setting out goals, priorities and aspirations

Highlands 2022 Community Plan. The aim of these groups

shows what projects, services and activities are current for

for our 13 unique place communities as well as the

is to engage with their communities and develop individual

the financial year and the progress of each as at the end of

whole region.

action plans to advance their own communities as well as the

each quarter (three month period).

Central Highlands.
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Strong Vibrant
Communities
STRONG SOCIAL NETWORKS

RESPECTING OUR HERITAGE

Image courtesy of Glenn Wright Photography.

ACTIVE, HEALTHY COMMUNITIES
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Highlights for 2016-17

Summary of key activities
SPORT AND RECREATION
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

ARTS AND CULTURE

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

COMMUNITY SAFETY

Sport and recreation

Arts and culture

The vision for sport and active recreation in the Central

Successful, well attended Arts in August 2016 activities.

Highlands was officially adopted.

Central Highlands’ Artist Exhibition at Emerald Art Gallery.

Approximately 120 people attended the inaugural Central
Highlands Sports Awards Dinner in February 2017.

LIBRARY SERVICES

INDIGENOUS DEVELOPMENT

RADF program.

We partnered with the Queensland Government and the
Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games Legacy Program

Encourage and promote community wellbeing, including
healthy and active lifestyles.
Provide for the heritage and diverse cultures of our
communities.

Promote love of reading and lifelong learning in the
community through responsive programs, services and
collections.
Build a strong sense of community, capacity and pride

Provide and maintain accessible community services and

through collaborative partnerships and programs.

The Queensland Ballet at Capella with support from the

to deliver a three-day Sport and Recreation Conference in

A number of oral history interviews were taken during 2016
from existing and former residents of the region.
Significant assessments for Springsure Hospital Museum and

Emerald in February 2017.
The route of the GC2018 Queen’s Baton Relay was revealed,

Capella Pioneer Village collections.

with Capella, Anakie, Emerald, Blackwater, Bluff, Dingo and
Duaringa making the cut. The Central Highlands Local Work

facilities that meet the needs of our diverse communities

Group was formed with key stakeholders and preparations

and offer value for money for all stakeholders.

for the baton’s visit commenced.
Hosted a ‘Breakfast of Champions’ workshop, with
community members and agencies coming together to
discuss youth and sport and recreation in collaboration with
the PCYC.
The Game Plan Advisory Committee was formed, to develop
a 10-year plan for organised sport and active recreation in
the region.
The Get Out Get Active program for people over 50 years
continued in Capella and Emerald.
Emerald Art Gallery. Image courtesy of Glenn Wright Photography.

Indigenous dance group at the flag raising ceremony for NAIDOC Week 2016.

Mayor Kerry Hayes at announcement of Queens Baton Relay event.

Library activities.
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Emerald, Central Queensland

Youth development

Indigenous development

Our youth development service, YouthInc, works with young

NAIDOC Week 2016. Nine regional events and more than

people from the ages 10 to 25 and community groups across

1200 participants.

the region to deliver events and programs.

Highlanders Women’s Rugby League team and other

Around 2500 youth and community members participated

partners for the Blackwater and Bluff Family Fun Day, and

in YouthInc events that included: movie nights, pool

Touch Football Clinic at end of June 2017.

events, leadership summits, workshops, student and
community engagement, National Youth Week and the

Library Services

YouthInc Committee.

Five, six-week Tech Savvy Seniors training sessions were

National Youth Week was run in 13 communities across the
region. Fifteen events were delivered during April attracting
more than 1000 people.
Two Student Leaders’ Summits were delivered in Blackwater
and Emerald attracting around 200 student leaders.

Community development

held throughout the region with 67 people attending. The
program is jointly funded by the Queensland Government
(led by the State Library of Queensland) and Telstra.
Our membership increased by 1017 across the nine
library branches.
400 programs and events were held that attracted 6322
people and included digital literacy, crafternoon, kid’s time,

Drought Support Program funded 13 community events that

school holiday activities, book week celebrations and a free

a total of 2345 people attended.

multicultural awareness program.

The three-day mental health and wellbeing workshop with
the Mental Health Commission.
Sister City Student Exchange visit to Ichinoseki, Japan, 27
June – 8 July 2016.

Case Study

Blackwater Aquatic Centre

The new $15.1 million aquatic centre in Blackwater

Hutchinson Builders were awarded the contract

was officially opened to the community on 4

to construct the facility, however council’s

March 2017.

local content focus ensured local businesses

The state-of-the-art centre, located in the Hunter

benefitted greatly.

Sister City Student Exchange visitors from Ichinoseki, Japan,

Street Sports Precinct, took two years to design

The centre features a 50-metre partially covered

22– 29 July 2016.

and plan, and another 14 months to construct.

pool, a 25-metre covered and heated pool, a zero-

First year trial of language exchange via Skype between

The project was jointly funded by the Central

Ichinoseki and Central Highlands.

Highlands Regional Council, the Australian

The Emerald and Blackwater Interagency Network

Government and BMA.

depth splash pad, community meeting room, kiosk,
amenities, a courtyard and covered dining areas.
The facility also boasts modern rammed earth

comprising healthcare service providers, education, legal,

walls, 120 solar panels and leading-edge Myrtha

charity, government departments, and various other

swimming pool technology.

community groups held 10 meetings that a total of 152
people attended.
Cr Megan Daniels at the Faces and Places display.

BACK TO CONTENTS
74

Central Highlighlands Regional Council Annual Report 2016-2017

centralhighlands.qld.gov.au

75

Challenges in 2016-17

Outlook for 2017-18

Increasing volunteer numbers, healthy club governance and

The Game Plan Advisory Committee will develop a plan and

meeting community expectations for sport and recreation

tenure framework in consultation with the community to

remained challenging throughout 2016-17. However, these

ensure local clubs are viable, progressive and empowered in

obstacles will be addressed by the development and

the future.

implementation of The Game Plan: A plan for organised sport
and active recreation in the Central Highlands.
Funding for library services is an ongoing issue. This year we
successfully obtained external funding for STEM Robotics
and staff training.

The GC2018 Queen’s Baton Relay will pass through the
Central Highlands from 22-23 March 2018, with local
batonbearers selected to carry the spirit of the games.
The Sport and Recreation team will expand with the
introduction of two new officers.

Maintaining relationships and connections with communities
across our broad geographic area is an ongoing challenge
for community development. The community reference
group model is helping overcome the difficulties.
The region was drought declared, which is a challenge
for people to sustain their contribution and participation in
community life.

The Central Highlands Sport and Recreation Sports Forum
and Sports Awards will be back, building on the previous
years’ success.
In the coming year, Library Services is anticipating an
upgrade to OPAC (library management system) and new
programs being introduced across the region. There is also
funding for 10 new laptops and several tablets to assist the

The Sister City Student Exchange Fundraising Committee
finds it increasingly difficult to fundraise for their activities due
to the tightening of the local economy.

Tech Savvy Seniors program.
The Community Development team is looking forward to
hosting the Central Queensland Region, Academic and

Tropical Cyclone Debbie affected the region at the end of

Talent Aspirations Program Regional Student Challenge

March 2017.

2017; the adoption of the youth strategy; and partnering with

There were significant changes to the community
development team, which meant utilising secondments and
re-distributing projects to meet expectations.

Centacare Central Queensland to deliver Wheel of Wellbeing
workshops throughout the region.

Strategies, plans and policies

Staff profile

Courtney Wheeler – Community Planner (Game Plan)

Development of draft Game Plan and relevant policies,
including tenure framework and guidelines.
Review of Open Space and Recreation Plan (now Parks
People Play: A plan for parks in the Central Highlands)

I’m Courtney Wheeler, the Community Planner for

has the opportunity to be involved in something

Central Highlands Regional Council. Ultimately, my

that is great for our health and can bring

role is about creating a plan for the future of sport

entire nations together; and we want to do this

and recreation within our region.

collaboratively with our community.

Over the next two years we will adopt the Game Plan

The Plan will be an enormous step towards

– a plan for organised sport, a critical strategy for the

consistency of service and expectations for our

region. My activities are guided by the Game Plan

sport and active recreation organisations.

Advisory Committee, which includes five councillors,
two council officers and three community members
and it will form the plan as well as the policies and
procedures that will go with it.

Just being involved in this exciting new project
is a highlight for me, but one key achievement is
having community members on our committee.
All in all, I cannot wait to see the positive

The vision is ‘#goals’. We want to see sport here

change that this plan will have on our clubs and

for the future and to ensure that the community

the community.
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Statistics and Trends

Performance Report – Key Priority 1 – Strong Vibrant Communities

Community Grant Applications

Key Performance Indicators

Year

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

47

68

62

61

78

Successful

28

30

29

36

42

Corporate Communications
Conduct three council meetings
across the region.

Library Services
Membership
New members
Wi-fi use
Total collection
Total loans
Attendees to
programs
First 5 Forever
attendees

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

10 153

11 057

12 179

1123

915

833

3425

5381

3613

n/a

77 852

67 360

93 353

70 282

70 869

n/a

7869

15 985

n/a

5792

Community Development
Facilitated 3 interagency
meetings in the region.
Participate in social inclusion
activities.
Hosted annual community
reference summit.
60 community grant
applications received
and assessed.
Provide youth programs across
the region.

Cr Megan Daniels and friends at the Faces and Places interactive installation.

CARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED

NOT PROCEEDING

2016-17

Received

Year

COMPLETED

Construction of historic

19 Regional Arts Development
Fund applications received.
Provide community events
and activities to encourage
community participation.
Hold NAIDOC events throughout
the region.
Enhance quality of life for
indigenous communities.

Library Services
Deliver First 5 Forever
Programme.
Complete annual return for

Achieve an increase in library
memberships.

Sport and Recreation
16 sport and recreation clubs
undertook health checks.
Planning and Environment
Deliver Clean up Australia
Day event.

Community and
Customer Services
Coordination of Tidy Towns
competitions.

State Library of Queensland
service agreement.

Establish 10 new community

Adopt policy based on equity

landmark signs at Rewan and

based tenure agreements with

and fairness for sports and

Bogantungan.

clubs and stakeholders.

recreation facilities.

Development of a
liveability strategy.
Nil
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Building and Maintaining
Quality Infrastructure
WELL CONNECTED

WELL SERVICED

WELL PLANNED

Aroona Road crossing.
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Summary of key activities
WATER UTILITIES

Highlights for 2016-17

OPEN SPACES AND STREETSCAPES

COMMUNITY HOUSING

WASTE AND RECYCLING

PARKS AND GARDENS

Plan and deliver infrastructure that aligns with the
aspirations of the Central Highland’s community as
outlined in the Community Plan 2022 and other strategic
plans for council and key stakeholders including state

Plan, manage and maintain transport infrastructure to
improve quality and safety.
Provide and maintain well-planned, sustainable
community assets to meet the needs of our community.

and federal governments.

Transport Infrastructure

Parks and Gardens

Successfully delivered $6.4 million (of the $21 million

The Gemfields Wetlands project – construction of walking

program) in restoration works on the road network under

trails, boardwalk and bird hide to provide a unique

Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements (NDRRA)

recreational experience. Australian Government funding was

using contract delivery and working proactively with the

achieved to assist with delivery of this project.

Queensland Reconstruction Authority.

The Rifle Range Nature Reserve–delivered as a Green Army

Delivered Queensland Department of Transport and Main

project, has created a myriad of walking tracks through this

Roads (TMR) funded projects, including sealing the last eight

prominent reserve.

kilometres of unsealed road on the Blackwater Rolleston
Road and upgrades to intersections at Cotherstone Road and
Retro Corey Road on the Gregory Highway.
Constructed 14 kilometres of pave and seal on the Carnarvon
Gorge Access Road at a cost of $8.4 million providing a safer
access to the Carnarvon Gorge National Park.
Continued to lobby governments to upgrade key state

New toilet block and resurfacing of netball courts in
Blackwater with Queensland Government funding.
Construction of the multi-purpose clubhouse at Springsure
Showgrounds. Completed with Queensland Government
assistance.
Amenities block upgrade at McKenzie Park, Duaringa.

infrastructure assets, particularly the Springsure-Tambo,

Upgrades to swimming pools at Rolleston and Springsure,

Duaringa-Bauhinia and Bauhinia-Taroom roads.

and repair work at the Emerald Aquatic Centre.

Completed $1.48 million of projects under the Transport

The first Park Run was established within the region. This is

Infrastructure Delivery Scheme (TIDS); $4.2 million Roads to

a five-kilometre circuit around the Emerald Botanic Gardens.

Recovery (R2R); and $192,000 under Blackspot Programs

This friendly event is held every Saturday morning at 7.00 am.

and rehabilitation of the approaches to the John Gay Bridge

Many local participants are regularly joined by visitors from

in Emerald.

across Australia. The circuit is marked so it can be enjoyed at
any time of the week.

Water Utilities

Commenced 17 projects funded through the Works for

The Department of Energy and Water Supply approved the

Queensland program.

Drinking Water Quality Management Plans for all of council’s
water schemes in September 2016.

Waste and recycling

The Regional Water Supply Security Assessment (RWSSAA)

Construction of a new cell at Lochlees landfill.

for Emerald was completed this year and endorsed by
council for joint release with the Department of Energy and
Water Supply.
Significant upgrade works for three wastewater treatment
plants: Black Gully and Park Avenue sewage treatment plants
in Emerald, and Blackwater, commenced construction.
Recruitment of two cadet engineers.

Grader on the Carnarvon Gorge Road.
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Challenges for 2016-17

Performance Report – Key Priority Area 2 – Building and Maintaining
Quality Infrastructure

Waste and recycling (consistent data
unavailable prior to 2016-17)

Staff retention and recruitment of project managers for
delivery of capital works, and water treatment staff vacancies
provided a challenge for the Water Utilities team.

Households with kerbside waste
collection service

Balancing legislative compliance and industry best practice

Year

with community expectations proved difficult this year for

Number of households

Capital Works Programs
9742

the Waste Management team. This was addressed with
improved communication and consultation during the project
management stage.

Waste Services statistics (tonnes)
Year

Outlook for 2017-18
The Sapphire-Rubyvale Transfer Station will
be completed.
The Capella landfill site will be rehabilitated, and planning
for the Rolleston Transfer Station will commence.

COMPLETED

CARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED

NOT PROCEEDING

2016-17

2016-17

Waste to landfill

9199

Waste received through transfer stations

3408

Green waste received

2391

Commercial and industrial waste received

Community Housing

Waste Reduction and Recycling Plan reviewed.

OCCUPANCY RATES

100% (Waste Services)

100% (Ranger Services)

100% (Infrastructure and Assets)

95% (Infrastructure)

50% (Communities Assets and Facilities)

75% (Communities Parks and Recreation)
Nil

10 898

Kerbside recycling

Strategies, plans and policies

100% (Waste and Recycling)

1359

10-year Road and Capital Investment Strategy
90%

Statistics and trends

70%

Water consumption
Location

83%

80%

83%

78%

85%

71%

66%

60%

Total water
consumption (kL) †

Usage

50%

†

Pop.

168 157

797

98

10 091

1103

25

10%

1 827 557

915

5460

0%

278 190

809

939

Comet

38 913

695

153

Dingo

47 573

643

202

Significant upgrades to Emerald’s Black Gully

The upgrade includes a new inlet, bioreactor,

267

Wastewater Treatment Plant commenced in

clarifiers and chlorine disinfection. The treated

early 2017.

effluent will discharge to an existing onsite storage

Anakie
Bauhinia*
Blackwater/Bluff
Capella

Duaringa

105 840

Emerald

2 548 227

Rolleston

(L/P/D)

1083

40%
30%
20%

2015

2016
Staﬀ Housing

Community Housing

468 14 873

31 932

313

279

Sapphire/Rubyvale

158 154

371

1165

Springsure

287 112

831

944

Tieri

561 183

897

1710

* One month of data extrapolated
† k/L - Kilolitres. L/P/D - Litres per person per day.

2017

Case Study

Black Gully Wastewater Treatment Plant

The project will increase the operating capacity

dam to be used for irrigation.

of the plant from 4000 to 10 000 equivalent

Work is being completed by a Queensland

persons and improve the effluent quality to

company, Aquatec Maxcon, which has more than

legislative standards.

45 years’ experience in the water and wastewater

The $22 million project is jointly funded by the

treatment industry.

Queensland Government’s Building our Regions

Commissioning of the plant is expected to

program, and council ($5 million).

commence in April 2018.
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Key Performance Indicators

COMPLETED

CARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED

Transport Infrastructure

Water Utilities

Funding received from

Regional Water Supply Security

Department of Transport and
Main Roads for Gregory Highway,

Assessment endorsed.

NOT PROCEEDING

Stormwater containment
upgrade at Lochlees Landfill
completed.

Taroom Rd and Blackwater

flood insurance options for

Customer and Community
Services

Rolleston Road.

council’s essential assets.

Construction of Blackwater

10-year Road and Capital
Investment Strategy reviewed.
Quality Assurance compliance
achieved on capital program.
Development condition applied
to development approvals.
Traffic monitoring for every
works on road permit issued to

Investigation of self-funding

Parks and Recreation
Construction of Springsure
Multipurpose Clubhouse.

Aquatic Centre.
Construction of Gemfields
Interpretive Trail

Waste and Recycling

Asset Management

Stormwater containment

GIS strategy endorsed.

upgrade at Blackwater
Landfill completed.

Implement GPS into all plant and
vehicles.

resource companies.

Transport Infrastructure
10-year Workshops Master Plan.
Formal review of resource
demand on rural road network.

Staff profile

Foster support for road user
groups.

Tyronne Meredith

Formal submissions made for

I’m Tyronne Meredith, the overseer for the

Our goal is to maintain a safe network that meets

Emerald and Gemfields area. This role involves

the needs of a diverse range of users; from the

coordinating road and drainage works across the

general public travelling to work, school or play,

central area of the region.

through to larger enterprises hauling multiple road

Our team, consisting of three supervisors and

trains of grain, cotton or cattle off farm.

activities impacting council
infrastructure.
Technical Services
Investigate improvements to
Gemfields roads networks.

about 50 staff, look after approximately 160

Some of the challenges we face include, our soil

Water Utilities

kilometres of urban roads, about 600 kilometres of

(heavy black soil is not ideal for road building); the

Disaster mitigation strategies for

unsealed rural roads, and 190 kilometres of sealed

weather; the large volume of heavy traffic use our

rural roads.

road network and, knowing how to prioritise the

Under contract with the Queensland Department

budget for maintenance and construction works.

of Transport and Main Roads, we also assist

One of the highlights for this year for our team has

with the maintenance of sections of the Gregory

been undertaking the rehabilitation works on the

Highway, Cullen La Ringo Road, Anakie Sapphire

John Gay Bridge approaches. This project involved

Road, Glenorina Road and Selma Road.

most of our depot staff at different stages and
involved processes and procedures that many had
not previously experienced.

essential assets.

Parks and Recreation
Review Open Space and
Recreation Plan.
Negotiate new community-based
tenure agreements with clubs
and stakeholders.

New policy for equity and fairness

Completion of condition

for provisioning of sports and

assessments for council-owned

recreation facilities.

housing.

Construction of Gemfields
Wetlands Project.
Completion of Springsure Multipurpose clubhouse.
Develop service levels and
standards for parks and recreation
facilities and infrastructure.

Waste and Recycling
Report on Waste Reduction and

Completion of new Blackwater
Aquatic Centre.

Asset Management
Deliver milestones in the Asset
Management Strategy and
Roadmap.
Review service levels for 3
services each quarter.
Develop and improve data

Recycling Plan 2016-2026 action

collection and systems

plans.

integration.

Corporate Communications
Develop regional signage manual
and guidelines.

Community and Customer
Services

Pilot of remote aerial vehicles for
mobile asset data collection.
Implement project decision
framework for all capital works
projects.

Develop a community halls
hierarchy.

Two successful joint tenders through the BBRRTG.
Audit existing regional signage.
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Central Highlands Development Corporation
The Central Highlands Development Corporation (CHDC)

Supporting Our
Local Economy

is the lead agency to deliver the council’s economic and
tourism portfolios. The corporation facilitates a wide range
of projects and initiatives to support business, industry,
government and community sectors.

FACILITATE OPPORTUNITIES

ADVOCATE FOR THE REGION

Harvesting watermelons in Emerald.
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Summary of key activities
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Highlights in 2016-17
In 2017, CHDC celebrated a productive 20-year history
of working with industry, business, government and
community stakeholders to activate and accelerate strategic
and sustainable regional development and growth. The

TOURISM

milestone was supported by the ambitious expansion of

Facilitate networks and partnerships between local
business, industry groups and government.
Develop opportunities to market the Central
Highlands as a great place to visit.
Support opportunities for existing and emerging
industries and businesses to consolidate and grow.
Facilitation of development through investment
attraction and major projects.

existing projects and the beginning of game-changers for the
region’s future.
The region’s natural brilliance and breathtaking scenery is
an ideal backdrop for an area that is rich in culture, history,
resources and capability. The Central Highlands Sandstone
Wilderness and Sapphire Gemfields continues to grow in
prominence by having some of Queensland’s most unique
attractions, events and scenery.
Local businesses are bouncing back after a stabilisation of
the region’s mining industry. This year’s Central Highlands

CHDC Board

Business Excellence Awards program showcased the

July 2016 –

Councillor Megan Daniels

strength, resilience and outstanding capacity of our

June 2017

Councillor Christine Rolfe

business community – no more evident than in the quality

Councillor David Lacey

of applications received and community response to the

Councillor Kerry Hayes (Chair)

People’s Choice Award.

Central Highlands Economic Masterplan
(CHEMP)

Small Business Week – Community
Champions

CHDC in partnership with CHRC engaged KPMG to deliver

To celebrate Small Business Week, CHDC in conjunction

the 2017-2022 Central Highlands Economic Masterplan. The

with the Local Buying Foundation held a tapas event

CHEMP is designed to outline the priority initiatives that are

on 17 May 2017 to recognise these businesses and

needed for a structured approach to guide and facilitate the

reward community champions for their involvement and

continued economic growth of the Central Highlands.

commitment to local sporting and community organisations.

The CHEMP includes an analysis of the Central Highlands as
it stands today; how the region is functioning, what the core
and critical gaps are, which disruptors to global economy

Twenty-nine businesses attended, providing a networking
opportunity to connect local businesses with each other and
the community.

will have the most impact on the region, and how key

This event formed part of the 2nd round of

regional stakeholders interact with the current economic

#chcommunitychampions campaign that will build on the

environment.

success of the event to become a year-round mentoring and

The CHEMP takes these metrics and forms an ambitious, but
achievable, five-year action plan of strategic, measurable
initiatives for the short and long-term future of the Central
Highlands region. The 2017-2022 Action Plan is split over
four distinct focus areas: export drivers, population services,
workforce and governance.

recognition program.

Agribusiness Program
Established to grow, promote and realise value and
opportunity for all businesses producing agricultural and
food products, processing and other value-adding services
in the region, the Central Highlands Accelerate Agribusiness
(CHAA) Initiative was launched in this year with a number of

Agricultural products, quality, supply chains and value

Tourism

gained momentum; the completion of the agriculture

The 6 CHDC Goals

Two key tourism highlights were: the Sapphire Gemfields

stocktake confirming that the Central Highlands significantly

Interpretive trail, a $500,000 project co-funded by council

Liz Alexander was employed as Agribusiness Development

1. Advocate for sustainable regional and economic

outperforms comparative regions across a range of metrics.

and the Queensland Government’s Stronger Communities

Coordinator in November 2016 to support the CHAA initiative.

Significant business, economic and tourism projects and

Fund, featuring interactive augmented reality technology

The role is unique in that it services every member and

milestones were delivered in 2016-17, including:

to supplement physical landmarks across key sites in the

sector of the agribusiness supply chain.

Mr Scott Mason (Secretary)

growth.
2. Proactively market and promote the Central
Highlands as a ‘region of choice’.
3. Enhance workforce development.
4. Support business development, innovation and
capacity.

Campaign success as the Central Highlands formally
incorporated into the Northern Australia region.
The initial stakeholder engagement and scoping portion
of the Digital and Telecommunications Audit and Action
Plan, in partnership with council.

5. Support community organisations to develop skills
and knowledge.
6. Sustain, refresh and grow our organisation.

Investment in solar farms, contributing energy

Gemfields region. And the delivery of 70 000 copies of
the 2017-18 Lifestyle Visitors Guide to comprehensively
showcase the depth and breadth of attractions of the
Central Highlands.

key activities.

The CHAA Strategic Advisory Group was established to
provide best practice commercial and technical advice
in grain, cotton, beef, and horticulture, domestic and
international supply chain systems, market development and
trade, and digital technologies.
Significant activity and many new partnerships are underway,

industry diversification, ongoing job opportunities, and

including the instigation of a $100 000 partnership with

identification of the Central Highlands as a preferred

the Queensland Government’s Department of Agriculture

location for future renewable projects.

and Fisheries, and support provided to all stakeholders

Confirmation of Emerald as a recognised service centre
for the Adani Carmichael mine.

of the Yamala Special Enterprise area and CQInland Port
development

Land donation to facilitate investment in, and
construction of, an events and evacuation centre.
Delivery of the bi-annual development register, with
investments totalling almost $9 billion at March 2017.
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Outlook for 2017-18

Statistics and trends

CHDC is actively working to attract and foster investment

Tourism

in a range of industries and sectors to meet strong market
demand and facilitate the continued growth of the region
and Northern Australia.
At the commencement of the new financial year, ABS
census data for the region was made available on important
economic and social factors including population, housing,
employment, income, family composition and industry
sectors. CHDC will use the data to make smart, informed
decisions about pain points and new opportunities, and

$230 million contribution to the economy, up 15% from
2015-16.
Length of stay up 40% from 2015-16, from 2.5 days to 4.
4,000+ visitors for Gemfest, remaining steady.
35 422 customers in visitor information centres, up 4%
from 2015-16.
Visitor information centre revenue was $12 031.30, up 13%
from 2015-16.

proactively showcase highlights to potential investors.
Opportunities exist in renewable energy, including the
establishment of solar farms and recognised potential for
hydroelectric power stations. Early positioning work has
been commenced and will be further explored as investment
potential arises in the coming year.
The finalisation of the CHEMP, CHAA and tourism marketing
strategies will provide CHDC with a solid platform to
deliver ambitious goals for the region. These critical

Development Register (March 2017 edition)
Total value of $8.8 billion in investments across
the region.
Register beginning to trend back upwards after slight
downturn in 2016 editions.

Agribusiness
1.3 million+ head of cattle in the region.

pieces of overarching strategic framework provide a well-

110 000+ head throughput the saleyard annually.

researched, well-considered and comprehensive plan for

150 000 ha of wheat and 120 000 ha of chickpea.

positioning the Central Highlands as a revitalised, adaptable

15% of Australia’s $billion desi-chickpea crop.

hub underpinned by strong economic performance and
motivated business and industry.

Case Study

Farm to Fine Dining

25% of Australia’s mungbean crop.
184 000 bales of cotton.

A Central Highlands flavour was added to the

Guests included high-level representatives from

380 000 citrus trees and 90% of Queensland’s

2016 Ekka with the inaugural Farm to Fine Dining

the Queensland Government, Local Government

Regional Produce Dinner.

Association of Queensland, and the Tourism

mandarin exports.

Industry Council, along with investment brokers.

$4 million+ value of watermelon crop.

The event was hosted by the Central Highlands

75% of Queensland’s table grape production.

Development Corporation and featured a Central

The event featured citrus from 2PH Farms; popping

Highlands-inspired menu to 60 invited guests to

corn from Robert and Danni Ingram’s Avondale

give them new awareness and appreciation of

property; ancient grain from Southern Cross

the regions’ local produce and help shape and

Agricultural Exports; and emerging business, Top

influence their strategic operations in the future.

End Plantation, who supplied local sunflower honey.

The evening was held at the Six Acres Restaurant

It also featured macadamias from Hinkler Park

and featured a menu designed by Executive Chef

Plantation, which has recently added the Central

Francesco Trucco. This restaurant was specifically

Highlands to its portfolio of orchards in Australia

chosen because it’s located in the Brisbane

and South Africa.

260 000 new macadamia seedlings.

Showgrounds Ekka precinct and, with a ‘country
meets city spirit’, it already focuses on showcasing
the best regional Queensland produce.

The event also showcased staple Central
Highlands produce of the grass and grain fed beef.
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Performance Report – Key Priority Area 3 – Supporting our Local Economy
Key Performance Indicators

COMPLETED

CARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED

Investment opportunities profiled

CHDC
Performance report and service
level agreement presented

on website.
Review of regional procurement
local content program.

to council.
Sandstone Wilderness
destination plan implemented.
Facilitate investor attraction in
agribusiness precinct.

Delivered Investing in our Future
conference.
with 155 attendees.
project development register.

Events Strategy for Central
Highlands region.
Explore budget camping option

Corporate
Communications
Memorandum of Understanding
signed with Capricorn Enterprise.
Endorse tourism as a priority

Protecting Our People
and Environment

growth area for Central Highlands.

Business conference delivered
Publish quarterly updates on

Corporate
Communications

NOT PROCEEDING

Office of the CEO
Investigate options for shared

WELL MANAGED

services model for the region.

Governance

Office of the CEO

Implement model for housing

Develop 4 funding proposals

affordability options through

supporting regional

Central Highlands Housing

priority projects.

PROTECTED

SUSTAINABLE

Corporation.

at Rubyvale Reserve.
Nil

Lake Nuga Nuga
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Summary of key activities
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES
DISASTER MANAGEMENT

Highlights of 2016-17
Planning and development

Ranger Services

Transition to the Planning Act, 2016.

Bio-control pest management using UU Moth and

Survived delegation as the Minister Economic Development
Queensland for Blackwater Priority Development Area.
Improved community communication and awareness for
development processes.

cost sharing of the Yamala intersection upgrade.

and sustained growth for future generations.

Assisting with successful funding applications for the TMR

integrated, well-planned development.
Develop and implement strategies to improve,

project with the Central Highlands Regional Resource

Willows Cactus pest control project with DAF, CHRRUP,
Green Army and landholders.

Preparing and executing infrastructure agreement for the

development processes to support continued
Support the region’s growth through

‘Sword Pear’ and ‘Mother of Millions’ pest management

camping reserve.

processes to improve quality and standard of applications
being received.

Continue to provide and improve

Department of Agriculture and Fisheries (DAF).

Planning Cooperative (CHRRUP) and landholders at Fernlees

Streamlined pre-lodgement and general meetings

RANGER SERVICES

Parthenium Rust in partnership with the Queensland

Fencing completed on stock routes and Rubyvale, Sapphire
and Scrub Lead Miners Common to value of $70 000.

Cycle Network Local Government Grants Program and
Yamala intersection (Building our Regions).
Advancing council’s policy position with submissions

Stock route water facilities upgrades at Valencia (Capella)
and Maxwell (Springsure).
15 travelling stock permits issued with 7676 head of stock
travelling the routes.

promote and adopt sustainable environmental

to various legislative instruments, including the Strong,

practices in partnership with the community

Sustainable Resource Communities Bill, draft State Planning

Flying fox dispersal activities conducted in March, April and

and relevant stakeholders.

Policy, draft Planning Regulation.

May 2017.

Progressing the Parks People Play and Liveability Strategy

Hosted the Shire Rural Lands Officer Group meeting for this

The Environment Department is
responsible for gravel pits, water points,
pest management, stock routes, water
consumption, sustainable management
practices and environmental health.
Develop and deliver initiatives to mitigate,

region in Springsure during October 2016.

Environmental Services

Welcomed two trainee rangers to the team.

Clean up Australia Day event.
Preparation and submission of Mosquito Management Plan.

prevent, prepare for, respond and recover

Food safety inspections at Emerald Show, Central Highlands

from disasters.

Multicultural Festival, Ag-Grow and Gemfest.

Cameras were installed at the Duaringa wash-down in an
attempt to stop vandalism and theft of the coin box.
The Emerald and Blackwater Animal Management Centres
received an upgrade with Emerald receiving turf in the
exercise yards, and the Blackwater cages being completely
refabricated.

Disaster Management
A report on the disaster management activities can be found
Blackdown Tablelands National Park.

on page 38.
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Challenges in 2016-17

Outlook for 2017-18

Planning and Development

Planning and Development

Environmental Services

Staff resourcing continued to be an obstacle during the year

Seeking opportunities to recoup levied

Achieving the Reef Guardian Council Action Plan 2017-2020.

where there was just a two-month period where the planning

infrastructure charges.

team had a full-complement. Recruitment is continuing.

Adoption of the CHRC Local Government Infrastructure

Management Plan 2017-2020, committing more effort

Plan, which identifies the plans for trunk infrastructure that

towards education and prevention.

Environmental Services

are necessary to service urban development at the desired

Undertaking new roles of council under the Mosquito

Expanded Clean up Australia Day events.

There are too many instances of environmental health

standard of service in a coordinated, efficient and financially

issues being considered late in a project. The team has

sustainable manner.

Initiating anti-littering actions to enhance our communities.

Adoption of Temporary Local Planning Instrument to advance

Ranger Services

been working to build relationships with the community
and council business units to ensure public health is a
consideration at the planning stage of projects and events.

our strategic aspirations around balancing the potential land
use conflicts between the agricultural areas and supporting

Ranger Services

infrastructure and renewable energy facilities.

Staffing shortages from August to December caused some

The introduction of an interactive planning scheme to host

challenges for the rangers and limited the delivery of

our planning scheme in an interactive user friendly way.

some services.

Using Track, an online portal to track development

Reduced funding from the Queensland Government
impacted on some pest management projects, this included
the loss of the Green Army.

applications lodged.
The use of interactive mapping.
Commence business improvement amendment to improve
our planning scheme and deliver desired outcomes.
Adopt Parks People Play.

Stock Routes - Queensland Government capital works
project to build a solar system at Yarra Reserve and repair the
fire damage at Valencia Reserve. Windmill to be removed at
Maxwell reserve.
Reinstatement of the PetPep program in our local schools.
Nogoa River clean-up.
Development and adoption of the Biosecurity Plan

2017-2020.
Conducting a full audit of the Central Highlands’ stock
route network.
The ongoing implementation of the Fernlees Camping

Adopt Liveability Strategy.

Reserve pest management project.

Progress Yamala Enterprise Area planning project.

Drafting a feral cat management plan.
Exploring options for new flying-fox habitat.

Railway bridge, Nogoa River.
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Performance Report – Key Priority Area 4 – Protecting our People
and Environment
Key Performance Indicators

COMPLETED

NOT PROCEEDING

Planning Services

Ranger Services

Disaster Management

Adoption of Central Highlands

Continue partnerships with

Complete community

Regional Council Planning
Scheme.
95% completion of development
and planning approvals within
legislative timeframes.
Audit inspection program
implemented.

Environmental Services
Delivered Clean up Australia
Day events across the region.
90% of food venues within food

Case Study

CARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED

licenses inspection program are

Parks, People, Play–a plan for parks in the Central Highlands

inspected.

resource management groups.

Office of the CEO
Undertake 5 collaborative
activities with CQROC.

Water Utilities
Develop agreement for treated
effluent irrigation.
Sewerage treatment plant

consultation for community
preparedness.
First review of Local Disaster
Management Evacuation Subplan presented to LDMG.
Local Disaster Management
Evacuation Sub-plan endorsed
by LDMG.
Satisfactory audit by

compliance upgrades for

Inspector General Emergency

Emerald, Blackwater and

Management and Queensland

Capella.

Police Service.

Investigate self-finding
insurance options of essential
assets for flood events.

Flood Mitigation
Mapping available on internal
GIS system.

We are reviewing our Open Space and Recreation

In 2016, our region’s parks and recreation facilities

Plan, which will be used to deliver infrastructure,

were identified and categorised. These facilities

program and service improvements for all council-

comprise both council-owned and managed

Planning Services

Ranger Services

Flood Mitigation

managed open space, sport and recreation

facilities and private facilities.

25% completion of draft

Implement Stock Route

Flood inundation mapping

facilities across the region.

These parks and facilities are strategically located

The new and improved version of our plan has

throughout the Central Highlands and function

been given a fresh name – Parks People Play: A

together as a network to deliver recreation and

plan for parks in the Central Highlands – and a

sporting opportunities for all residents and visitors

re-brand.

to the region.

This community plan is vital for the future

In November last year, a survey was conducted

development of our region’s sport and recreation,

asking the public to rate the aspirations we set for

which will in turn increase the liveability of our

our parks and open spaces.

communities. The plan will guide council decisionmaking and ensure all improvements and changes
reflect the wants and needs of the people who
love and use these spaces – our residents.

amended Planning Scheme
to incorporate Economic
Development Queensland
– Blackwater Priority
Development areas.
Deliver improved automation for
development assessments.
Implement online web
accessible planning information

We also conducted engagement at the regional

for developers and residents.

Network Management Plan.
Implement Area Pest
Management Plan.

and investigations available on
council website.

Disaster Management

Water Utilities

Undertake all hazards risk study.

Develop report for application

Submit report to council on all

of treated effluent at Springsure

hazards risk study.

Golf Course.
Identify mitigation strategies
for CHRC essential assets as

agricultural shows, to update the community

identified in the

on the review’s progress and establish the

Disaster Management Act, 2010.

expectations of our residents when it comes to the
different park categories.

Nil
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Strategies, plans and policies

Statistics and trends

Planning Scheme, administrative amendment,

Ranger Services

adopted September 2016.

Complaints

Planning Scheme, alignment amendment,
adopted June 2016.
Mosquito Management Plan 2017-2020.

Type

2015-16

2016-17

Attack – animal

109

89

Dog registration issues

209

330

Overgrown unsightly

398

519

816

697

allotments
Wandering stray or
nuisance animals

Impounded animals
2015-16

2016-17

85

115

Released to owner

180

310

Euthanized

126

100

Adopted

Environment Services
149/194 licensed food premises inspected.
29 improvement notices issued.
8 re-inspections performed to follow up on non-compliance.
7 licenses voluntarily surrendered by licensee.

Staff profile

Benjamin Chalmers – Ranger

My name is Benjamin Chalmers and I’m a Ranger.

An achievement I was part of in early 2017 was

I’ve worked for the council for eight and a half

when the Ranger Services team carried out an

years, starting in the Parks and Gardens team

overgrown compliance program in Emerald. We

based in Emerald.

identified more than 200 non-compliant properties

In this job, I educate members of the community
and enforce compliance with local laws, consult
and organise 1080 baiting programs with

and, after following through our information and
compliance process, every property became
compliant.

landholders and manage maintenance and weed

I think one thing that people are surprised by is

control operations on the stock routes that pass

how big our local government area is. The Ranger

through the region.

Services team manages customer requests over

One of the most enjoyable aspects of my job
is engaging and meeting a wide and diverse
selection of people.

an area of covering 53 677 square kilometres!
Each individual ranger manages 10 735 square
kilometres and 6216 people.

Carnarvon Gorge Road
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Proactive Engaged
Leadership
STRONG LEADERSHIP

GENUINE COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
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Summary of key activities

Highlights of 2016-17
Information Services
(Information Technology)

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS

The expansion of video conferencing technologies to

INFORMATION SERVICES

improve engagement through technology.
Implementation of live streaming technology to enable

ADVOCACY

the public broadcasting of council meetings.
Trial of public wi-fi and meeting tree technologies in

Develop and implement initiatives to encourage the
community to become more informed and involved in
issues that may affect them.

conjunction with disaster management.
Implementation of corporate wi-fi across council
business sites.

Manage and govern to ensure transparency and
responsiveness to the needs and views of our

Corporate Communications

communities in decision making practices.

The Corporate Communications Team rolled out the
communications strategy actions this year to ensure the
communities across the region were kept up-to-date with
the decisions, activities, news and views of their local council.
A variety of different channels are used to deliver information
that include:
CQ News – media releases and advertising
community newsletters
mail-box drops

Case study

The Microsoft Surface Hubs

email newsletter

In late 2016, the Emerald council office became

The roll out of the hubs was made possible by

website

home to one of the world’s most interactive and

council’s strong existing technology platform,

social media – Facebook, Twitter and Instagram.

responsive whiteboards – the Surface Hub.

built through invaluable working partnerships with

This powerful device, combining real-time

Microsoft, Telstra and Insync Technology.

Highlights throughout the year include:

collaboration and meeting interface features, was

Livestreaming council and committee meetings.

In 2015, we ditched our dated telephony system

unveiled by Microsoft the year before and only

and rolled out a new unified communications

Publication of the 2015-16 Annual Report.

released to the market in March 2016.

system, the software-based Skype for Business.

Introduction of new intranet site ‘The Vine’ for internal

The Emerald hub was the second to be delivered

This system soon became the base for a suite of

in Australia, and the first of seven rolled out in

other plug-in applications, including the Surface Hub.

communications.
Successful promotion of the Blackwater Aquatic Centre
opening.
Design and installation of new entry signage throughout
the region.
Addition of disaster management dashboard on
corporate website.
Visits from Deputy Premier Jackie Trad, Opposition
Leader Bill Shorten and Prime Minister Malcolm Turnbull.
Council brand refresh.

council offices across the Central Highlands region.

The functions of these technologies have already

These devices allow us to be more visual and

increased the efficiency and productivity of our

tactile with people across our organisation,

business phenomenally, providing integrated,

enabling us to connect with every corner of the

real-time tools for collaboration.

region, and even the world, at the touch of a button.

The roll-out has also helped close the gap

The Surface Hub is a projector, a whiteboard,

between us and our metropolitan counterparts,

a screen sharing device, a video and phone

reduced travel time for staff in remote areas, and

conferencing device and a tool for training

offered another level of transparency between

and development.

council and the public.

Springsure Show
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Challenges of 2016-17

Strategies, plans and policies

Information Services (Information
Technology)

CHRC Communications Strategy 2017
Information Communication and Technology Strategic Plan

Technical skill set constraints when met with the amount

2017 – 2022

of modern technologies that are being implemented in a

Information Communication and Technology Governance

relatively short timeframe. Skill set shortages were overcome

Framework

through building strong relationships with business partners.

Corporate Communications
There are two significant challenges in the area of corporate

Statistics and trends
Average number of monthly website users for
www.centralhighlands.qld.gov.au

communications: the declining use of the local newspaper
as a community news source and ensuring information

2015-16

posted in social media remains engaging and relevant.

7456

Council continues to support the CQNews with advertising
and a constant supply of editorial news content. The
Digital Communications Officer constantly analyses the
engagement with social media content to improve the
quality and relevance of information.

2016-17
8856

Average number of media releases prepared each month.
2015-16
11

2016-17
14

Average number of Facebook posts per month

Outlook for 2016-17
Information Services (Information
Technology)
Implementation of council new Information Communication

and Technology Strategic Plan 2017 – 2022 and Governance

2015-16
49

2016-17
55

Staff profile

Average combined Facebook engagement/month
(reactions, shares and comments)
2015-16

2016-17

Tyson Smith

My name is Tyson Smith and I am now a Service

activities. I love how implementing a change or

Desk Officer, having completed a traineeship with

solution can greatly assist efficiency within the

Corporate Communications

the council in 2017.

business, whether it involves bringing in new and

Several projects are on the agenda for Corporate

Obtaining my Certificate III in Information

Communications in 2017-18, including the delivery of a new

Technology and Digital Media was a huge

corporate signage manual, an internal communications, a

achievement for me; topped off by securing a full-

regional local government corporate communications get-

time position here at council.

together, and a consolidation of procedures and processes

My role is to assist the organisation to achieve

to aid succession planning.

its goals and increase efficiency by providing

Framework.

1959

2432

unknown technology, such as a Microsoft Surface
Hub, or simply answering a call to assist a fellow
employee with their technology troubles.
I encounter many challenges in my daily work

technology and the support to use it. I work across
the organisation in many areas including software,
hardware, servers, networks, mobile devices,
purchasing and minor project works.

life, whether it be a technical problem, a fault or
a situation that I have not yet dealt with before.
These challenges can include a sudden network
outage or issue that needs to be resolved as
a top priority. Working to find the fault and
implementing a solution can sometimes be
challenging, however I love working to find

I love providing people with technology and

a solution, learning from it and applying this

the assistance to help them achieve their daily

knowledge in the future.
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Performance Report – Key Priority Area 5 – Proactive Engaged Leadership
Key Performance Indicators

COMPLETED

Community Planning and
Engagement
Hold Community Reference
Group meetings.
Facilitate interagency meetings.

Corporate
Communications
Quarterly reports on website
performance.

Provide 4 community
education campaigns.
Quarterly reports on
Facebook analytics.
Increase engagement in
social media.
Track engagement with
social media.
Increase subscriptions to
e-newsletter.

Finalise and implement social
media strategy.

CARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED

Distribute 12 media releases

NOT PROCEEDING

Publish 24 mayoral messages in

Strong Governance

the CQ News.
Launch new intranet site.
Review Regional
Communications Strategy.
Conduct council meetings in

CONFIDENCE

ACCOUNTABILITY

STABILITY

regional areas.

Corporate Services
Publish disclosure logs under
Right to Information legislation.

per month.

Community Planning and Engagement
Develop Community Reference Group action plans.
Nil
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Summary of key activities
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
ASSET MANAGEMENT

Highlights of 2016-17
Information Services (Information
Management)
The completion of the Central Highlands Regional Council’s
first Information Management Strategic Plan 2017 – 2022.

Case study

Engineering Co-op Program

More than 2600 boxes of physical records where collated

INFORMATION SERVICES
FINANCE SERVICES
Embrace professional business practices and
responsible use of council resources.
Provide governance frameworks that ensure
accountability, transparency and legal compliance.
Provide assurance to the board and community on
enterprise risk management matters.

and relocated to dedicated storage facilities.

This year we partnered with the Central

However, the predominant project that the

265 boxes of physical records where sentenced for

Queensland University and the Engineering Co-

students completed as a group was the

destruction as per guidelines outlined under the Public

Op Program to offer paid work placement for four,

amendment of council’s Business Process

Records Act, 2002.

third-year civil engineering students.

Model review for water and sewerage, as well

Asset management

Brodie Young, Daniel Harris, Kylah Cragg and Raitt

as transport.

McLeod started work with us in early November

Individually, the students have assisted with

The procurement and deployment of Navman (plant

2016 and have since completed a number of

numerous other projects, from road and drainage

and vehicle GPS monitoring system) across all plant and

successful projects.

upgrades to rural addressing and plant and

vehicles that provides real-time monitoring of plant and
vehicles utilisation, a reduction in outstanding servicing and

The 30-week placement enables the students to

vehicle audits.

gain hands-on experience in engineering, local

Working with council has provided the

government and the workforce, while making a

students with numerous opportunities to grow

Procurement

meaningful contribution to council.

professionally and personally, whilst leaving a

Adoption of the revised Local Preference Policy.

During their time with us the students have been

improved safety.

Increase in local spend as a percentage of total spend.

exposed to a number of operations through
multiple site visits including: the East Nogoa Water

benefit to the local community.
CHRC LOCAL SPEND COMPONENT OF OVERALL
ELIBIBLE SPEND

Conducting supplier and contractor meetings.

Treatment Plant, Carnarvon Gorge Road upgrade,

120

Roll-out of the new procurement cards.

and the John Gay Bridge rehabilitation.

100

Major upgrade to APET360 Central Supplier register.

The students were also involved in the NDRRA
Defect Data Collection process following Tropical

80
$ (M)

PROCUREMENT

40

95 percent of the region’s roads and collecting

20

of all defects present.

59%

60

Cyclone Debbie. This project involved driving
chainages, GPS coordinates, severity and photos

52%

48%

41%

2017

2016

53%

65%

64%

35%

36%

47%

0

2017
YTD
$10,698,2

2015

2014

$49,642,5 $57,889,6 $69,413,0

$9,506,96 $53,004,9 $40,151,3
Local Spend

$37,108,5

$66,358,9
$36,686,1

Outside Spend
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Challenges in 2016-17

Strategies, plans and policies

Asset management had resourcing constraints during the

Strategic Asset Management Policy and Roadmap.

year and addressed the issue by partnering with Central
Queensland University Co-op Placement program to place
four, third-year civil engineering students for 30 weeks.
While the Information Management Strategy 2017- 2022

Information Management Strategic Plan 2017-2022.
Total Asset Management Plan and seven Individual Asset
Management Plans.

was completed, to ensure a successful business result, the

Plant and Vehicle Policy and 10-year Replacement Strategy.

implementation of the plan was pushed back into the 2017-

GIS Strategy.

2018 financial year as a result of the changes to the overall
scope of the project.
Meeting the expectations of local suppliers and contractors
continues to be a challenge for procurement, particularly
with the contraction of the local economy. We’ve been

Project Decision Policy and Framework.
Review and improvement of the Transport and Water and
Sewerage Business Process Models (Asset Management
Decision making framework).

working on making the Central Supplier Register more user-

Local Preference Policy updated.

friendly and conducting workshops and meetings with local

Procurement Policy updated.

business and contractors throughout the region.

Statistics and trends

Outlook for 2017-18
In the coming months, the Asset Management team are
looking forward to continuing to review and improve the
plant and vehicle composition and utilisation, and holding
a large local auction and establishing community resource

Plant and vehicle replacement strategy
Year
Items of plant replaced

2015-16

2016-17

21

55

banks to deal with surplus plant, equipment and materials.

Staff profile

The Information Services (Information Management) team

Phil Stagoll Coordinator Plant and Vehicle

are anticipating the implementation of some strategic
activities outlined in their Information Management Strategic
Plan 2017-2022.

Hi I’m Phil Stagoll and my position is Coordinator

Another very import task is the replacement of our

Plant and Vehicles.

light and heavy plant fleet. This is a challenging role

My background is in heavy earthmoving
equipment with many years’ experience in the
mining, private and local government sectors.
I started with council in February 2017 and was

ensuring the replacement plant meets the needs of

Review of procurement policy and local preference policy.

our customers. We are always striving to supply the

High level review of stores and inventory.

best fit-for-purpose, economically-viable plant items
for the workforce.

promised a very busy schedule. The position has

A highlight from the year was completing the first

certainly lived up to that with my duties being many

stage of a project to upgrade the equipment for our

and varied.

Water Utilities team. Over a five-month period, seven

One project that I’ve been involved in was the roll-out,
installation and maintenance of the Navman system
in council’s fleet. The data gathered from this system
has enabled us to improve the maintenance of our
fleet, safety of our employees, and cost savings.

Review of current fuel tenders.

Review of the impacts on procurement with the implementation
of the new corporate software in 2018.

items of plant and equipment were replaced with fitfor-purpose units. Through this process crews were
developed into smaller, faster and better equipped
teams to respond to the needs of the business.
This has resulted in a safer work place with faster
response times and improved productivity.
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Performance Report – Key Priority Area 6 – Strong Governance
Key Performance Indicators

COMPLETED

CARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED

reports presented to council.

Fleet
Report to council on disposal
schedule and efficiency savings.
Develop strategic plant
replacement program.

Corporate Governance
Review Enterprise Risk
Management Framework.
Report on current strategic
risk ratings.

2017-18 Operational Plan
adopted by council.
Referrals to Crime and
Corruption Commission.
Public interest
disclosure assessments.
Referrals from Ombudsman.
Staged completion of all
legislation in corporate
compliance software.

Deliver LGAQ performance
benchmarking
software workshops.
Internal Audit Annual Plan audits
completed.
Quarterly audit reports
presented to council.
Review and negotiate insurance
policies for 2017-18.

Legislative delegations reviewed
and updated in February
and August.

Finance Services
Finalise procurement
contract register.

Corporate Governance

Develop and implement

to lead regional participation
through CQROC.

reporting process.
Identify improvements to 360Pro.
Hold supplier information
sessions across the region.
Implement reporting and
analysis software for rates
and charges.

CONFIDENCE

Information Services

ACCOUNTABILITY

STABILITY

Records and digital disposal
policies reviewed and
implemented.
Develop and implement yearly
disposal process.
Undertake organisational
records disposal process.
Storage measures put in place.

contract documents.
Implement procurement cards.

benchmarking extension project

Implement procurement card

Revise and update procurement

Quarterly operational plan

Undertake performance

Commercial
Services

NOT PROCEEDING

corporate compliance
framework.

Information Services
Implement records management
strategic plan for five years.

Fraud and corruption awareness
training.

Administrative Action Complaint
Policy and processes reviewed
and updated.

Nil

Shepton Quarry
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Summary of key activities
AIRPORT

QUARRY

SALEYARDS

Highlights of 2016-17
Emerald Airport
The Emerald airport runway enrichment program co-funded

LAND DEVELOPMENT
Ensure council’s commercial activities are
managed well and provide benefits to the
community.

by the Queensland Government’s Building our Regions
program commenced.
Infrastructure upgrades to Rolleston and Springsure
aerodromes were completed, including fencing and line
marking co-funded by the Australian Government’s Remote
Airstrip Upgrade Programme.

Provide safe and secure regional airport and
aerodrome landing strips.
Provide support partnerships with the Royal Flying
Doctor Service, CareFlight and Angel Flight to
support outreach medical services.
Provide quality aggregates, crusher dust, general
fill, road base, gabion rock and gravels and support
council’s road construction activities.
Provide a well-maintained livestock selling facility
for the region.

Despite reduced passenger numbers, the airport continued
to make a sound profit.

Emerald Saleyards
The old timber yards were replaced with steel yards to
improve security, animal welfare and workplace health and
safety.
Construction commenced on 20 selling pens to improve
presentation of livestock and provide easier movement of
cattle during pre-sale and sale day operations.

Manage land development activities.

Damaged roofing was repaired and replaced over drafting
and pre-scale delivery area.

Case study

Mungabunda Quarry

Improved animal feed devices were provided.
Tick clearing services commenced to enhance

In February 2016, Central Highlands Regional

The geology of Mungabunda Quarry is basic

customer service.

Council engaged contractors to carry out flood

volcanic igneous rock known as olivine basalt,

mitigation road repairs to the regional road

which is made up of hexagonal cooling column

network under the Natural Disaster Relief and

prisms referred to as ‘columnar basalt deposits’.

The environmental authority for Mungabunda Quarry was

Recovery Arrangement (NDRRA) projects. A

Operations commenced in earnest at the site in early

upgraded and approved.

search began to locate suitable road construction

January 2016 to enable supply to the NDRRA project.

Quarry Operations

A new boundary fence for Shepton Quarry was installed.
Stormwater management improvements began.

material within the far south-east of the region.

It is proposed that general quarrying practices will

The Mungabunda Quarry is located on

be established within the Mungabunda lease area

‘Cowandilla’ approximately 25 kilometres from

together with provisions for drill blast, mobile crushing

A more cost effective material crushing process commenced.

Bauhinia. Historically, council used the quarry

and screening equipment to be operated on a

The appointment of a commercial analyst has enabled

as a borrow pit operation for secondary roads.

campaign basis.

a focus on efficient business practices leading to the

The site was undeveloped and undersized for a

identification of cost savings.

licence to be granted, however it had the potential
to become a reliable source of quality road

Land Development

maintenance and construction materials.

Mungabunda Quarry will employ proven techniques
used elsewhere in the quarrying industry. The quarry
is certified to supply material for the Queensland
Government’s Department of Transport and Main

The Vacant Land Management Strategy was developed and

Roads works and has recently become a preferred

adopted ‘in principle’.

supplier to Banana Shire Council.

A review of council land leasing agreements to improve
consistency commenced.

BACK TO CONTENTS
118

Central Highlighlands Regional Council Annual Report 2016-2017

centralhighlands.qld.gov.au

119

Challenges of 2016-17

Looking Forward to 2017-18

Emerald Airport

Emerald Airport

Maintaining Emerald Airport’s profitability is difficult in a

In the next 12 months, the Emerald Airport runway

declining economic climate is a challenge. To address

enrichment program will be completed with the

this, we have appointed a commercial analyst to audit the

reconstruction of both ends of Runway 06 and Runway 24.

business operations and develop a cost saving strategy.

The upgrade to the general aviation area, including

Operational impact of Tropical Cyclone Debbie on the Central

reconstruction of the apron, refueling area, improved

Highlands’ airports.

drainage and line making will begin.

Managing an increasingly complex compliance and

Opportunities for new airline routes will be discussed in

regulatory aviation framework.

partnership with other regional airports. There will also
be additional ongoing infrastructure upgrades to meet

Emerald Saleyards

compliance regulations.

During the year 20 selling pens were constructed in the
centre of the saleyards, which created problems for access

Emerald Saleyards

on pre-sale and sale days. The difficulty was overcome by

A number of infrastructure projects are planned for the

constructing temporary holding pens using portable yards.

saleyards, including a renewed drafting facility, installation of
a full deck weighbridge, and concreting of eight selling pens.

Quarry Operations
Maintaining an acceptable fiscal position within a retracted

Quarry Operations

resource market.

A Stormwater Management Plan will be introduced at

Ability to be competitive in current resource market.

Land Development
Accuracy and validation of historical data of vacant land
owned and under the control of council to inform the Vacant
Land Management Strategy.

Shepton Quarry and access to the Mungabunda Quarry will
be improved.

Outlook for 2017-18

Statistics and trends

The draft Vacant Land Management Strategy, Business

Emerald Airport

Process Model and Management Plans will be adopted by

Continue to seek out efficiencies and improvements to

Cattle numbers through the Emerald
Saleyards

the council and activities from the Vacant Land Management

strengthen Emerald airports value as a council asset and

Strategy will begin.

community hub.

Land Development

Strategies, plans and policies
Emerald Airport policies updated:
Safety Management System
Airport Operations Manual
Transport Security Program

Emerald Saleyards
The implementation of the new draft facility will significantly
improve animal welfare issues and provide much
improvement for workplace health and safety for workers.

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

96 608

116 772

90 234

Passenger numbers at Emerald Airport
2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

232 488

216 107

208 284

The installation of the full deck weighbridge will provide
additional efficiencies in the speed at which post sale
weighing can be effected therefore minimising labour and
livestock stress.

Quarry Operations

Shepton Quarry material sales volume
(tonnes)
2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

93 106

93 706

95 475

Sourcing potential quarry sites within the Central Highlands
Regional Council area that will be strategically placed.
Continued focus on reducing the costs associated with the
production of materials and quarry operations.
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Performance Report – Key Priority 6 (Commercial Services)
Capital Projects
On track/completed

76%

Carried over/not completed

24%

Not proceeding

Key Performance Indicators

0

COMPLETED

Investigate solutions for issues at
Emerald Airport general aviation
tarmac area.
Investigate environmental issues
at Emerald Airport.
Explore three new commercial
opportunities at Emerald Airport.
Optimise vehicle hire
arrangements at Emerald
Airport.
Investigate additional routes and
services from Emerald Airport.
Finalise agent’s permits for
Emerald Saleyards.
Install new feeding racks at
Emerald Saleyards.

Staff profile

Commence Emerald Saleyards

Andrew Gissel Commercial Analyst

I work in Commercial Services as the management

I like to automate repetitive tasks wherever

accountant for the Emerald Airport, the Shepton

possible and I look forward to the introduction of

Quarry, and the Emerald Saleyards with a focus on

the new corporate software next year.

analysing business unit performance, improving
processes and reporting.
I’m new to this council and Emerald and I’m enjoying
the diversity and the challenges of the role.

The biggest achievement for me to date is the
development of a comprehensive production cost

e-newsletter.

Create housing affordability
options model.
Report on energy saving options
at Emerald Airport.
Drug and alcohol management
plan component will be

model for the quarry.

completed in first quarter of

This role gives me a unique opportunity to access

I get satisfaction from uncovering an issue and

locations that are off limits to most people, such

providing a simple, workable solution.

as airside at the airport, the cattle dip area at the

CARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED

Install noticeboard at Emerald
Saleyards.
Analyse labour costs for Emerald
Saleyards.
Review labour resources at
Emerald Saleyards.
Conduct feasibility business
cases for Emerald Saleyards.
Reduce production costs at
Shepton Quarry.
Optimise supply of quarry
material for council use.
Prepare the Shepton Quarry
marketing plan.
Obtain quotes for road train

NOT PROCEEDING

Conduct annual surveillance
audit for Shepton Quarry.
Investigate plant hire costs at
Shepton Quarry.
Prepare lease agreement
templates for council land.
Establish register of lease
agreements on council land.
Include leased council land data
in corporate register of leases.
Improve processes for dealing
with leased council land.
Improve Commercial Services’
business systems and
processes.

wraps for marketing.
Update Shepton Quarry page on
council website.
Prepare Memorandum of
Understanding with Emerald
Livestock Selling Agents.
Prepare Emerald Saleyards
operations manual.
Arrange Emerald Saleyards
stakeholder workshop.

2017-18.

Establish panel of providers for
quarry procurement.
Achieve target sales for Shepton
Quarry.
Hold Native Title and
cultural heritage compliance
workshops for council staff and
stakeholders.

Nil

saleyards, and the crushing plant at the quarry. I
think many people would be thrilled to visit to
these interesting operational areas.
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Legislative Disclosure
Requirements

Pat's Gems, Sapphire
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Local Government Act 2009
Identifying beneficial enterprises (s41)

Councillors (s186)

Complaint orders/recommendations summary reported in accordance with Section 186(e) of the Local Government

Councillor remuneration (LGR 2012 s186) – refer to page 58.

Regulation 2012

Councillor expenses & facilities (LGR 2012 s186) – refer to

The name of each councillor

Description of misconduct or

No beneficial enterprises conducted this year.

page 58.

that was subject to an order

inappropriate conduct.

Identifying significant business activities (s45)

Councillor meeting attendance 2015-16 (s 186c) – refer to

Summary of order or recommendation.

under section 180 and 181.
Alleged breach of section 172

In relation to allegation 1, the Panel makes the order

of the Local Government Act

under section 180(2)(g) of the Act that (former)

Complaints in accordance with Section 186(f) of the

2009 (ACT) by failing to declare

Cr Maundrell pay to the Council an amount equal to the

The competitive neutrality principle was applied to these

Local Government Regulation 2012

a material personal interest in a

monetary value of 8 penalty units [$975.20] to be made

significant businesses. There were no other significant

complaints about the conduct or performance of

matter discussed by Council.

within 3 months of the date of this Determination.

business activities commenced during the reporting period.

councillors for which no further action was taken

Alleged breach of section 172

In relation to allegation 2, the Panel makes the order

For a full list of business activities refer to Note 27 ‘National

under section 176C(2) of the Act

of the Local Government Act

under section 180(2)(g) of the Act that (former)

Competition Policy’ of the Financial Statements on page 114

complaints referred to the department’s chief

2009 (ACT) by failing to declare

Cr Maundrell pay to the Council an amount equal to the

a material personal interest in a

monetary value of 2 penalty units [$243.80] to be made

matter discussed by Council.

within 3 months of the date of this Determination.

Council conducted two significant business activities during
2016-2017: water services and sewerage services.

Senior Management Remuneration (s201)
Refer to page 64.

General purpose financial statements
Refer to page 112.

complaints referred to the mayor under section

complaints referred to the department’s chief

complaints assessed by the chief executive officer

Expenses reimbursement

No resolutions were made

policy (s250)

to amend the expenses
reimbursement policy.
No resolutions made.

Councillor

Employee

Position

Destination

Purpose

Cost ($)

Kara Paradies

Communications

Japan

Sister City exchange visit

3339.96

Ranger

Japan

Sister City exchange visit

3011.33

Mayor

India

Trade mission

2931.72

General Manager

India

Trade mission

2123.99

Officer

1
Jacqueline

and Corruption Act

Hines

Refer to pages 14-21

Particular resolutions (s185)

1

Overseas travel (s188)

as being about corrupt conduct under the Crime

panel

(s206)

0

executive under section 176C(4)(a) of the Act

complaints heard by a regional conduct review

current physical asset.

1

executive under section 176C(3)(a)(i) of the Act

Community Financial Report

different type of non-

0

176C(3)(a)(ii) or (b)(i) of the Act

Local Government Regulation 2012

Amount set for each

Cr Peter Maundrell

page 58.

1

Cr Kerry Hayes
Sandra Hobbs

complaints heard by the tribunal

0

complaints to which section 176C(6) of the Act

0

CHDC

applied

Lisa Conway

Housing Officer

Japan

Sister City exchange visit

124.45

Annette Burton

Community

Japan

Sister City exchange visit

124.45

Complaints in accordance with Section 176C of the Local

Development Officer

Government Act 2009 (revised 2015)
Regional Conduct Review Panel orders and

Total
1

recommendations.

Grants to community organisations (s189). Refer to pages 30-31

Tribunal Orders and recommendations.

0

Administrative Action Complaints (s187)

Mayor or departments chief executive orders

0

Central Highlands Regional Council aims to ensure excellent

reprimanding a councillor on inappropriate conduct.

$11 655.90

standards of service and has a policy and procedure in
place to efficiently and effectively investigate and, where
appropriate, take corrective actions and/or revise a decision

Outcome of administrative action complaints
Number of complaints made under the

Number of administrative action complaints

when a customer is dissatisfied.
We are committed to deal fairly with administrative action

4

administrative actions complaints process.
6

resolved under complaints management process.

complaints and to demonstrate this we have implemented

Number of unresolved complaints under the

a system where administrative action complaints are initially

administrative actions complaints process during

dealt with by a manager through an internal review process

2015-2016.

with the Governance Department.

Number of unresolved complaints under the

If the complaint remains unresolved, the complainant

administrative actions complaints process from

is advised of their option of appeal to the Queensland

2014-2015 (previous financial year).

0

2

Ombudsman.
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Other contents (s190)
Chief Executive Officer’s report on page 9.
Council has no commercial business units.

Entities whose objectives do not include making
a profit
Concessions equivalent to 100% of general rates may be
allowed to certain eligible entities whose objects do not

There was no joint government activity supplied by another

include making a profit. All rebated rates are initially levied

local government for which special rates or charges

and a rebate provided automatically when rates are levied

were levied.

so that each organisation can assess the level of council

Invitations to change tenders (190e)

rebate provided. Eligible entities include: community groups,
churches, other community organisations and sporting clubs.

Financial
Statements

There were no invitations to change tenders this year under
Section 228 (7) of the Local Government Regulation 2012.

List of registers (s190f)
electoral gifts

Other concessions
Mining Claims – upon application council may consider a
refund of the net general rate for a mining claim overlapping
a residential tenure.

interests of councillors and relatives of councillors
interests of senior managers and relatives of senior
managers

Quarries – concessions may be available to ratepayers
within quarry categories relating to development approval,
development contributions and actual vs approved level of

interests of chief executive officer and relatives of chief
executive officer
register of access to registers of interest
delegation of powers to standing committees and chief
executive officer

production.

Other rebates
Consideration may be given by council to grant a class
concession in the event that all or part of the local
government area is declared a natural disaster area by the

delegation of power by the chief executive officer

Queensland Government and/or where an extreme event

roads map

occurred that affected all or part of the property.

cost recovery fees
register of business interests
local laws

External audit
The annual external audit of council’s financial statements
was conducted by BDO on behalf of the Queensland

town planning – existing uses, subdivision approvals,
consent approvals, permitted developments.

Concessions for rates and charges (s190g)
Expenditure on a service, facility or activity for which special
rates were levied during the financial year.
Council provided the following concession for rates and
charges for the 2016-17 financial year.

Audit Office in 2016-17. The external auditors attend
Audit Committee meetings to present findings and
recommendations. The external audit management letter
and responses are also provided to the Audit Committee.

Competitive neutrality (s190 i,j)
There were no investigation notices given in the financial year
under S49 for competitive neutrality complaints.

Pensioners

RADF grants 2016-17

A 50% remission is granted to pensioners that are legally

Refer to page 29.

liable to pay rates providing that an owner of the premises
meets council’s definition of a pensioner and the premises
for which they are claiming a rebate is their principal place of
residence. This is in addition to the 20% that is given by the
Queensland Government. The remission does not apply to
special rates, special levies and water consumption.
Vince Lester Bridge, Emerald.
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CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGIONAL COUNCIL

Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2017
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Controlled Entities that have not been consolidated
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National competition policy
Transactions with related parties

37
38
40
41

Management Certificate

43

Independent Audit Report

44

Note
Income
Revenue
Recurrent revenue
Rates and levies
Sales of goods and major services
Sales of contract and recoverable works
Fees and charges
Rental and levies
Interest received
Other recurrent income
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations
Total operating revenue

3 (a)
3 (b)
3 (b)

80,508,843
10,884,407
13,032,953
2,806,316
961,320
4,365,696
1,107,269
9,409,795
123,076,599

29,938,608
29,938,608
161,603,950

14,215,568
14,215,568
137,292,167

190,952
161,794,902

462,821
137,754,988

5
6
7
13

(38,798,674)
(52,460,117)
(3,927,560)
(30,497,842)
(125,684,193)

(38,445,359)
(43,019,949)
(4,099,258)
(24,481,035)
(110,045,601)

8

(6,887,220)
(132,571,413)

(3,029,360)
(113,074,961)

29,223,489

24,680,027

176,396,596
176,396,596

(194,966,172)
(194,966,172)

205,620,085

(170,286,145)

4 (b)

Total revenue
Capital income
Total income
Expenses
Recurrent expenses
Employee benefits
Materials and services
Finance costs
Depreciation
Total operating expenses
Capital expenses
Total expenses
Net result
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to net result
Increase in asset revaluation surplus
Total other comprehensive income

17

Total comprehensive income for the year

2016
$

81,036,621
10,884,150
16,383,155
2,811,582
997,045
4,168,717
1,624,694
13,759,378
131,665,342

4 (a)

Capital revenue
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations

2017
$

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
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Total

Retained surplus
(deficit)
Note 18

Reserves
Note 19

Asset revaluation
surplus
Note 17
2016
$
485,938,150

-

176,396,596
(194,966,172)

-

-

(6,938,370)
(65,884)

5,600,127

-

-

-

-

-

-

15,955,988
4,794,512
3,805,885
319,047
24,875,432

16,415,538
3,539,512
3,631,710
360,317
23,947,077
14
15
16

4,194
14,100,815
57,982,328
72,087,337
96,962,769

5,703
12,057,862
61,653,017
73,716,582
97,663,659

1,451,459,399

1,245,839,314

467,368,574
870,357,847
113,732,978

290,971,978
836,311,445
118,555,891

1,451,459,399

1,245,839,314

TOTAL ASSETS

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET COMMUNITY ASSETS

17
18
19
Community Equity
Asset revaluation surplus
Retained surplus (deficiency)
Reserves

TOTAL COMMUNITY EQUITY

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note
2017
$
290,971,978

(195,532,413)

2016
$

178,053,152
566,241

24,680,027

119,564,150

810,623,159
(1,656,556)

2017
$

836,311,445
24,680,027
-

29,223,489

118,555,891

1,416,125,459
29,223,489
-

2016
$

1,245,839,314
24,680,027
-

2017
$

29,223,489
(195,532,413)
-

2016
$

178,053,152
566,241

2017
$

13
(1,656,556)
(170,286,145)

-

17
205,620,085

(6,482,502)

(5,600,127)
33,755
(60,000)

14
15
16

13

Balance at beginning of year
Net result
Other comprehensive income for the period
Revaluations:
Property, plant & equipment
Change in value of future of
rehabilitation costs
Total comprehensive income for year

(2,329,038)

6,938,370
65,884
4,410,740

-

6,482,502

(33,755)
60,000

-

2,329,038

(4,410,740)

-

18
-

-

18
-

18

18
290,971,978

-

18,995
1,182,089,130
1,182,108,125
1,343,502,973

467,368,574

118,555,891

113,732,978

836,311,445

870,357,847

1,245,839,314

1,451,459,399

577,072
18,705
1,391,587,248
1,392,183,025
1,548,422,168
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The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

10 (b)
Non-current Assets
Prepayments
Equity investments
Property, plant and equipment

2016
$
2017
$
Note

Page 4

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

Transfers (to) from retained earnings
and externally restricted capital reserves
Transfers (to) from retained earnings
and internally allocated capital reserves
Transfers (to) from retained earnings
and externally restricted operating reserves
Transfers (to) from retained earnings
and internally allocated operating reserves

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2017
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64,953,752
61,901,765
26,794,874
7,744,457
161,394,848

Non-current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Borrowings

99,867,855
27,396,658
20,806,049
8,168,581
156,239,143

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Borrowings
Other

9
12
10 (a)
11
Current Assets
Cash assets and cash equivalents
Cash Investments
Trade and other receivables
Inventories

Balance at end of year

CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGIONAL COUNCIL
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CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGIONAL COUNCIL

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2017
Note
Cash flows from operating activities :
Receipts
Receipts from customers
Operating grants, subsidies and contributions
Interest received
Payments
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest expense
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities

24

Cash flows from investing activities:
Commonwealth government grants
State Government subsidies & grants
Other Non-Government Subsidies
Other Capital contributions
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Payments for equity investments
Net transfer (to) from cash investments
Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of borrowings
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities

16

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year

9

2017
$

2016
$

116,635,522
13,769,469
4,399,798

115,468,423
9,399,705
4,203,737

(93,095,593)
(3,417,586)
38,291,610

(84,800,957)
(3,515,188)
40,755,720

7,538,975
25,412,997
184,565
163,958
(68,441,493)
289
34,505,107
754,609
119,007

6,328,574
5,444,911
126,000
885,474
(51,420,907)
8,141
(41,142,285)
748,283
(79,021,809)

(3,496,514)
(3,496,514)

(3,310,508)
(3,310,508)

34,914,103
64,953,752
99,867,855

(41,576,597)
106,530,349
64,953,752

1

Significant accounting policies

1. 1

Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements are for the period 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017 and
have been prepared in compliance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009
and the Local Government Regulation 2012.
These financial statements comply with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).
The Council is a not-for-profit entity and the Australian Accounting Standards include
requirements for not-for-profit entities which are inconsistent with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), to the extent these inconsistencies are applied, these financial
statements do not comply with IFRS. The main impacts are the offsetting of revaluation and
impairment gains and losses within a class of assets, and the timing of the recognition of nonreciprocal grant revenue.
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except
where stated.

1. 2

Constitution
The Central Highlands Regional Council is constituted under the Queensland Local
Government Act 2009 and is domiciled in Australia.

1. 3

New and revised Accounting Standards
In the current year, Council adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), that are relevant to its
operations and effective for the current reporting period.
This year Council has applied AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures for the first time. As a
result Council has disclosed more information about related parties and transactions with those
related parties. This information is presented in note 28.
Some Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations have been issued, but are not yet
effective. Those standards have not been applied in these financial statements. Council will
implement them when they are effective. The standards that may have a material impact upon
Council's future financial statements are:
Standard and Impact

Date Council will apply the Standard

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

1 July 2018

This standard replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and
will change the classification, measurement and disclosures of financial assets.
Under the new requirements the only two measurement categories will be allowed for
financial assets: fair value and amortised cost. Financial assets will only be able to be
measured at amortised cost where very specific conditions are met.

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities

1 July 2019
1 July 2019

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities

1 July 2019
1 July 2019

AASB 15 will replace AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and a number
of Interpretations. AASB 2016-8 provides Australian requirements and guidance for not-forprofit entities in applying AASB 9 and AASB 15, and AASB 1058 will replace AASB 1004
Contributions. Together they contain a comprehensive and robust framework for the
recognition, measurement and disclosure of income including revenue from contracts with
customers. Council is still reviewing the way that income is measured and recognised to
identify whether there will be any material impact arising from these standards.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

1. 3

2 Analysis of Results by Function

New and revised Accounting Standards (continued)
Standard and Impact

Date Council will apply the Standard

AASB 16 Leases

1 July 2019

Council currently has no leases on its balance sheet and will be reviewing all leases to
determine if they meet the requirement of this standard. If they do then they will need to be
included on the balance sheet when this standard comes into effect. A lease liability will
initially be measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the lease
term. A corresponding right-of-use asset will also be recognised over the lease term.
1. 4

Estimates and judgements
Where necessary judgements, estimates and assumptions have been used in preparing these
financial statements. Those that have a significant effect, or risk of causing adjustment to
council's assets or liabilities relate to:
Valuation and depreciation of property, plant and equipment - note 13.
Impairment of property, plant and equipment - note 13.
Provisions - note 15.
Contingencies - note 22.

1. 5

Rounding and comparatives
The financial statements are in Australian dollars and have been rounded to the nearest $1.
Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be consistent with disclosures
in the current reporting period.

1. 6

Taxation
Income of local authorities and public authorities is exempt from Commonwealth taxation
except for Fringe Benefits Tax and Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’). The net amount of GST
recoverable from the ATO or payable to the ATO is shown as an asset or liability respectively.
The Council pays payroll tax to the Queensland Government on certain activities.

(a) Components of council functions
The activities relating to the Council's components reported on in Note 2 (b) are as follows :
Executive Management
As well as providing organisational leadership and oversight, the Executive Management function has
responsibility for corporate communication, public affairs, governance, risk management and internal audit.
The Mayor, Councillors and Chief Executive Officer are included in this function and the objective of this
function is to be open and accountable and deliver community driven outcomes.
Corporate Services
The main function of Corporate Services is to provide finance, treasury, procurement, information technology,
human resource management and asset management services across all of Council. The objective of the
Corporate Services function is to provide accurate and timely financial information to enable Council to make
sound informed decisions and meet all statutory requirements.
Communities
The primary goals and activities of the Communities function are:
- Provide well managed and maintained community facilities to ensure the effective delivery of cultural,
health, welfare, environment and recreational services to the community. This is achieved by carrying out
activities related to, but not limited to: Libraries, Halls and Community Centres, environmental licences and
approvals, public parks, youth and aged housing;
- Provide effective community engagement to provide Council with an opportunity to strengthen its
relationship with the community and ensure a more effective decision making process by ensuring decisions
reflect community needs and aspirations; and
- Facilitate growth and prosperity through well planned and quality developments, achieved by carrying out
activities relating to regional planning and development approval processes.
Infrastructure and Utilities
The Infrastructure function is responsible for the maintenance and construction of Council's Road Network
infrastructure. The primary objective of this function is to ensure that the Region is serviced by a high quality
and effective road network.
Corporate Revenue & Expenses
This function has responsibility for the recognition of rates, corporate revenue, recoveries and corporate
expenses that are not allocated to other specific function of Council. The goal of this function is to provide
oversight of Council's corporate revenue and expenses.
Commercial Services Office
The commercial Services Office represents the activities relating to the executive oversight of Council's
Business Units: Aerodrome, Quarries, Saleyards and also the Land Management activity. The objective of this
function is to ensure Council's business units are operating effectively.
Saleyards
The Saleyards function is responsible for the provision and maintenance of saleyard facilities. The primary
objective is to support local producers by providing efficient facilities to enable them to sell their livestock.
Aerodrome
This function is responsible for the operation and maintenance of Council's airport facilities across the region.
The main goal of this function is to ensure the community is serviced with commercial air travel facilities and
to enhance the regions accessibility and development potential.
Quarries
The primary objective of this function is to provide high quality products for road, civil and site works. This
function is responsible for the operation and business support function of the quarries.
Waste Management
This function is responsible for the provision of Council's waste collection, recycling service and refuse tip
facilities. The main goal of this function is to protect and support the community and natural environment by
continually pursing waste reduction, recovery and recycling initiatives.
Sewerage
This Sewerage function is responsible for the provision of Council's sewerage connection, collection, disposal
and treatment services. The objective of this function is to support a healthy and safe community through
sustainable sewerage services.
Water
This function is responsible for the provision of Council's water supply including quality measurement,
connection and treatment services. The objective of this function is to support a healthy and safe community
through sustainable water services.
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Programs

Executive Management
Corporate Services
Communities
Infrastructure and Utilities
Corporate Revenue & Expenses
Commercial Services Office
Saleyards
Aerodrome
Quarries
Waste Management
Sewerage
Water
Total
For the year ended 30 June 2016:

Programs

Executive Management
Corporate Services
Communities
Infrastructure and Utilities
Corporate Revenue & Expenses
Commercial Services Office
Saleyards
Aerodrome
Quarries
Waste Management
Sewerage
Water
Total

Recenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, at the
time indicated below.
(a) Rates and levies
Where rate monies are received prior to the commencement of the rating/levying
period, the amount is recognised as revenue in the period in which they are received,
otherwise rates are recognised at the commencement of the rating period.

2017
$
16,545
154,250
480,122
4,522,154
8,583,807
1,250
1,250
13,759,378

Sale of contract and recoverable works

Total sale of goods and major services

10,884,150

10,884,407

2017
$
32,499
5,929,469
22,959,423
15,565
725,743
8,709
267,200
29,938,608

2016
$
1,913,893
11,719,230
237,855
344,590
14,215,568

2017
$
190,952
190,952

2016
$
393,314
(169,670)
239,177
462,821

2017
$
24,671
5,749,963
8,924,197
41,598,945
60,063,657
35,305
1,038,955
8,200,480
5,764,079
6,867,242
7,899,487
15,627,921
161,794,902
Total
income

2016
$
49,203
4,778,527
4,574,721
30,363,445
58,036,617
16,052
1,185,822
7,743,903
2,193,859
6,775,066
6,871,725
15,166,048
137,754,988

(4,635,802)
(4,482,479)
(24,153,645)
(41,868,894)
218,291
(1,530,986)
(1,003,656)
(5,342,268)
(1,875,836)
(5,360,887)
(6,044,048)
(13,965,391)
(110,045,601)

2016
$

Recurrent

Capital
2017
$
(139,118)
(25,889)
(351,805)
(5,562,692)
(400,272)
(407,444)
(6,887,220)

(597,692)
(1,599,498)
(4,764)
(5,342)
(436,896)
(308,329)
(76,839)
(3,029,360)

2016
$

Capital

Gross program expenses

(5,931,598)
(7,130,166)
(26,984,479)
(43,964,318)
3,308,449
(1,011,234)
(1,165,745)
(5,574,218)
(5,771,898)
(6,116,082)
(6,960,850)
(18,382,054)
(125,684,193)

2017
$

Recurrent

Gross program expenses

1,954,682
7,743,903
1,185,822

2017
$
(5,931,598)
(7,269,284)
(27,010,368)
(44,316,123)
3,308,449
(1,011,234)
(1,165,745)
(5,574,218)
(11,334,590)
(6,116,082)
(7,361,122)
(18,789,498)
(132,571,413)
Total
expenses

2016
$
(4,635,802)
(4,482,479)
(24,751,337)
(43,468,392)
218,291
(1,535,750)
(1,003,656)
(5,347,610)
(2,312,732)
(5,360,887)
(6,352,377)
(14,042,230)
(113,074,961)

Operating
surplus/(deficit)
from recurrent
operations
2017
$
(5,906,927)
(1,603,654)
(23,989,751)
(25,324,796)
63,372,106
(975,929)
(142,355)
1,900,519
(7,819)
751,160
929,928
(3,021,333)
5,981,149
Operating
surplus/(deficit)
from recurrent
operations
2016
$
(4,586,599)
(97,266)
(21,323,147)
(23,224,679)
58,254,908
(1,514,934)
182,166
2,401,635
78,846
1,414,179
589,822
856,067
13,030,998

(4,586,599)
296,048
(20,176,616)
(13,104,947)
58,254,908
(1,519,698)
182,166
2,396,293
(118,873)
1,414,179
519,348
1,123,818
24,680,027

2016
$

Net
result
for period

(5,906,927)
(1,519,321)
(18,086,171)
(2,717,178)
63,372,106
(975,929)
(126,790)
2,626,262
(5,570,511)
751,160
538,365
(3,161,577)
29,223,489

2017
$

Net
result
for period

2,386,023
7,474,737
1,023,390

Total
expenses

13,032,953

2017
$

Assets

*Internal sales of quarry materials have been eliminated. Refer note 27 for details of internal quarry sales.

155,742,668
23,194,660
170,475,075
664,085,315
5,980,708
8,516,571
38,010,019
10,723,141
4,700,756
94,864,002
167,210,058
1,343,502,973

2016
$

Assets

151,373,913
22,918,890
182,988,679
791,762,177
5,734,234
8,730,494
40,017,079
5,976,403
6,595,056
134,364,840
197,960,403
1,548,422,168

16,383,155

8,126
5,372,262
2,514,606
14,117,368
51,479,850
35,305
1,023,390
7,474,737
5,764,079
6,867,242
7,889,528
15,359,471
117,905,964

2017
$

The revenue shown for the Sale of Goods and Major Services does not include
revenue earned when Council purchases Quarry material from its quarry businesses.
These internal transactions have been eliminated in the preparation of the financial
statements.

Total sale of contract and recoverable works
Sale of goods and major services
Quarry materials*
Airport charges
Saleyard services

2,203
4,276,713
2,463,696
15,601,502
52,198,837
16,052
1,185,822
7,743,903
1,954,682
6,768,066
6,633,870
14,821,458
113,666,804

2016
$

Revenue from the Sale of Contract and Recoverable Works relates predominately to
Department of Main Roads contracts. It generally comprises a recoupment of material
costs together with an hourly charge for use of equipment and employees. Contract
revenue and associated costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of
the contract activity at the reporting date and is measured at the fair value of
consideration received or receivable in relation to that activity.

13,032,953

Gross program income
Recurrent revenue
Capital revenue
Grants
Other
Grants
Other
2016
$
47,000
108,500
366,802
3,042,713
5,837,780
7,000
9,409,795

Where consideration is received for the service in advance it is included in other
liabilities and is recognised as revenue in the period when the service is performed.

16,383,155
Main Roads Contracts

$

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

The council generates sales revenues from a number of services including Airport,
Quarry, Saleyards (Sale of goods and Major Services) and contracts for road and
earthworks (Sale of Contract and Recoverable Works) .
Sales revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the buyer, which is generally when the customer has taken undisputed
delivery of the goods.

80,508,843
Net rates and utility charges*

$

Analysis of results by function (continued)

Sales revenue

81,036,621

General rates
Special rates
Water
Water consumption
Sewerage
Waste management
Rates and utility charge revenue
Less: Discounts
Less: Pensioner remissions

2016
Note

2017
CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGIONAL COUNCIL

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

(b) Income and expenses, defined between recurring and capital and assets, are attributed to the following programs:
Gross program income
Total
Recurrent revenue
Capital revenue
income
Grants
Other
Grants
Other

2

*Internal rates and charges have been eliminated

58,458,633
4,044,730
5,476,638
9,841,163
7,612,157
6,239,827
91,673,148
(10,500,382)
(663,923)

(b)
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Revenue analysis
3

59,411,337
2,224,436
5,420,676
7,567,297
7,899,362
6,027,098
88,550,206
(6,880,779)
(632,806)

-
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Note
4

2017

2016

$

$

Note
4

Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations that are non-reciprocal in nature are
recognised as revenue in the year in which Council obtains control over them.
Where grants are received that are reciprocal in nature, revenue is recognised as the
various performance obligations under the funding agreement are fulfilled. Council
does not currently have any reciprocal grants.

Total capital revenue

Contributions for Infrastructure

Physical assets contributed to Council by developers in the form of road works,
stormwater, water and wastewater infrastructure and park equipment are recognised as
capital revenue when the development becomes "on maintenance" (i.e. the Council
obtains control of the assets and becomes liable for any ongoing maintenance) and
there is sufficient data in the form of drawings and plans to determine the
approximate specifications and values of such assets.

5

Developers also pay infrastructure charges for trunk infrastructure, such as pumping
stations, treatment works, mains, sewers and water pollution control works which are
treated as capital revenue. These infrastructure charges are not within the scope of
AASB Interpretation 18 because there is no performance obligation associated with
them. Consequently, the infrastructure charges are recognised as income when
received.

23

Less : Capitalised employee expenses
Total employee benefits

Total Council employees at 30 June:
12,947,559
41,480
746,394
23,945
13,759,378

8,692,587
42,510
561,294
4,080
109,324
9,409,795

(b)
Capital - grants, subsidies, contributions
Capital Revenue includes grants and subsidies received which are tied to specific
projects for the replacement or upgrade of existing non-current assets and/or
investment in new assets. It also includes non-cash contributions which are usually
infrastructure assets received from developers.
Capital revenue is analysed as follows:
(i) Monetary revenue designated for capital funding purposes:
Commonwealth government grants
State Government subsidies & grants
Other Non-Government Contributions
Contributions (refer below for conditions)

$

$

17,500
17,500

44,819
416,195
461,014

29,938,608

14,215,568

205,178
205,178

901,130
901,130

30,117,496
680,855
5,397,540
3,763,670
39,959,561
2,522,753
42,482,314
(3,683,640)
38,798,674

29,519,602
632,517
5,458,248
3,651,120
39,261,487
2,586,364
41,847,851
(3,402,492)
38,445,359

2017
Actual FTE
9
9
233
214.51
240
234.00
482
457.51

2016
Actual FTE
9
9
226
207.64
234
228.85
469
445.49

142,500
149,251
3,393,034
17,883,158
5,093,122
376,801
10,443,310
2,595,471
3,895
788,140
4,240,194
93,998
2,460,177
4,233,217
315,730
248,119
52,460,117

138,000
95,759
3,526,006
16,093,514
3,552,909
6,633,132
2,061,656
12,900
702,281
2,829,204
116,851
2,470,427
4,434,614
352,696
43,019,949

Councillor remuneration represents salary, and other allowances paid in respect of
carrying out their duties.

In June 2017 Council received an advance payment of 50% of the 2017/18 Financial Assistance
Grant for the amount of $4,410,740. This amount has been constrained in a reserve and will be
allocated against operating expenditure in the 2017/18 financial year.

140

Employee benefits
Total staff wages and salaries
Councillor's remuneration
Annual, sick and long service leave entitlements
Superannuation
Other employee related expenses

Recurrent - grants, subsidies, contributions

and donations are analysed as follows:
General purpose grants *
Commonwealth subsidies and grants
State Government subsidies & grants
Donations
Contributions
Total recurrent revenue

2016

Conditions over capital contributions
Non-reciprocal contributions (headworks) which were recognised as capital
revenue during the reporting period and which were obtained on the condition
that they be expended in a general specified manner by the contributor, but had
not been expended at the reporting date:

Non-cash contributions are recognised at the fair value of the contribution received on
the date of acquisition. Non-cash contributions with a value in excess of the
recognition thresholds, are recognised as capital revenue and as non-current assets.
Non-cash contributions below the thresholds are recorded as revenue and expenses.

(a)

Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations - Capital revenue (continued)
(ii) Non-monetary revenue received:
Donations from third parties at fair value
Developer assets contributed by developers at fair value

2017

7,538,975
21,992,390
184,565
205,178
29,921,108
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6,328,575
6,398,849
126,000
901,130
13,754,554

Elected members
Administration staff
Depot and outdoors staff
Total full time equivalent employees
6

Materials and services
Audit of annual financial statements by the Auditor-General of Queensland
Internal Auditor Office
Administration Supplies, Insurance and Subscriptions
Consultants and Contractors and Other External services
Electricity, Water and Telephone
Enforceable Undertaking expenses
External Works Materials and Services
Grants, Precepts, Sponsorships and Donations
Land Development Selling and Operational Expenses
Legal Fees
Repairs, Maintenance and Operational expenses
Rentals - Operating leases
Airport Operations - materials and services *
Quarry Production and Operations - materials and services *
Saleyards Operations - materials and services *
Software as a Service Expenses

*Includes all materials and services expenditure classifications relating to the business unit - there are no costs disclosed on other line items.
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7

8

Note

Finance costs
Finance costs charged by the Queensland Treasury Corporation
Bank charges
Impairment of receivables and bad debts written off
Rehabilitation of Refuse sites - change in PV over time
Rehabilitation of Quarry sites - change in PV over time

2016

$

$

3,417,586
250,306
7,259
193,806
58,603
3,927,560

Capital expenses
Loss on write off of capital assets:
Plant and Equipment
Road and bridge network
Water
Sewerage
Works in progress

13

Loss on impairments of property, plant and equipment:
Plant and equipment (Quarry Crushing Plant)
Total impairment losses

13

Impairment losses treated as an expense
Quarries provisions for rehabilitation of land not controlled by Council:
Change in discount rate
Change arising from revision of future costs

15

Loss on assets previously recognised incorrectly
Total capital expenses
9

2017

6,007
296,058
394,559
334,244
322,141
1,353,009

Note

3,515,188
211,282
21,736
282,055
68,997
4,099,258

18,495
76,839
308,329
1,679,077
2,082,740

4,637,705
4,637,705

-

4,637,705

-

(93,477)
1,018,463
924,986

436,896
436,896

(28,480)

509,724

6,887,220

3,029,360

Cash assets and cash equivalents
Cash assets is comprised of Cash, cash equivalents and cash investments.

$

Externally imposed expenditure restrictions at the reporting date:
Unspent capital government grants and subsidies

19(a)

2,271,270

962,629

Unspent developer and other non-government contributions

19(a)

19,360,078

23,179,457

Funds set aside in capital reserves in relation to mining agreements

19(a)

1,317,173

1,135,473

Unspent operating and recurrent government grants and subsidies

19(c)

197,937

164,182

Funds set aside in capital reserves for future projects

19(b)

86,175,780

93,114,150

Funds set aside in operating reserves for future projects

19(d)

4,410,740

Internally imposed expenditure allocations at the reporting date:

Total externally restricted and internally allocated unspent cash in reserves

19

-

113,732,978

118,555,891

to be paid out to or on behalf of those entities

233,988

268,046

Security deposits

759,747
993,735

758,027
1,026,073

Trust funds
In accordance with the Local Government Act 2009 and Local Government
Regulation 2012, a separate trust bank account and separate accounting records are
maintained for funds held on behalf of outside parties.
Funds held in the trust account on behalf of outside parties may include those funds
from the sale of land for arrears in rates, deposits for the contracted sale of land,
security deposits lodged to guarantee performance and unclaimed monies (e.g. wages)
paid into the trust account by the Council.
The Central Highlands Regional Council performs only a custodial role in respect of
these monies. The monies cannot be used for Council purposes and are not brought to
account in these financial statements.

10 Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables represent amounts owed to Council at year end.
Settlement of trade receivable amounts is required within 30 days from invoice
date and no interest is charged on the outstanding amount. Interest is charged on
outstanding rates and utility charges at a rate of 11% per annum.

Cash Investments are fixed term investments realisable between three and twelve
months. These investments and their associated credit risk is disclosed at Note 12.

Cash Assets is comprised of:
Cash at bank and on hand
Deposits at call
Total cash and cash equivalents balance as per Statement of Cash Flows
12

788,788
99,079,067

469,605
64,484,147

99,867,855

64,953,752

27,396,658

61,901,765

127,264,513

126,855,517

Cash assets are subject to a number of external restrictions and internally determined
allocations that limit amounts available for discretionary or future use. Council
accounts for these restrictions using a system of reserves disclosed at note 19.

142

$

Cash assets and cash equivalents (continued)
These reserve restrictions and reserve internal allocations relating to cash assets
include:

Monies collected or held on behalf of other entities yet

The QTC deposits are capital guaranteed and part of an asset management portfolio
that invests with a range of high credit rated counterparties. Council may be exposed
to credit risk through these investments.

Total cash assets

2016

Trust funds held for outside parties:

Cash and cash equivalents include: cash on hand, cash at Council's transactional
banks (Westpac, National Australia Bank and the Australian and New Zealand
Banking Group), cash and cheques receipted but not yet banked at the year end, and
deposits held at call with the Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) in the cash
fund accounts.

Cash Investments held

9

2017
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There is a concentration of credit risk for trade and other debtors receivable due to
the geographical concentration of mining and agriculture in the region. In the case
of rates receivables, Council has the power under the provisions of the Local
Government Act 2009 to sell the property to recover any defaulted amounts, which
protects Council against credit risk in the case of rates defaults.
The collectability of trade receivables is assessed periodically and the carrying
amount is reduced for impairment if Council believes it will not collect all amounts
due. The loss is recognised as a finance costs (note 7). All known bad debts are
written off at 30 June and subsequent recoveries of amounts written off in the same
period are recognised as a finance cost and amounts written off in a prior period
are recognised as revenue.

BACK TO CONTENTS
Page 14

centralhighlands.qld.gov.au

143

CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGIONAL COUNCIL

CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGIONAL COUNCIL

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note

2017

2016

$

$

Note

2017

2016

$

$

11 Inventories (continued)

10 Trade and other receivables (continued)
(a) Current
Rateable revenue and utility charges
Water charges yet to be levied
Accrued capital grants and contributions
Accrued government operating grants and subsidies
Bonds and Retentions paid
Accrued interest
GST recoverable
Other debtors *
Less: Impairment provision

5,187,266
6,017,065
724,597
41,220
382,380
1,603,567
6,310,150
(41,937)
20,224,308

Prepayments

581,741

Total trade and other receivables

20,806,049

6,694,598
6,776,479
4,145,204
10,090
613,462
2,323,149
6,387,601
(155,709)
26,794,874
26,794,874

*Internal quarry debtors have been eliminated

(b) Non-current
Prepayments

577,072
577,072

Movement in accumulated impairment losses (trade receivables) is
as follows:
Opening balance
Impairment adjustment in period
Closing balance
Ageing of past due receivables and the amount of any impairment is disclosed
below:
Not past due
Past due - 31 to 60 days
Past due - 61 to 90 days
Past due - Over 90 days
Less impaired
Total

-

155,709
(113,772)

172,822
(17,113)

41,937

155,709

16,211,200
22,617
2,579,796
2,611,445
(41,937)

18,645,082
1,290,483
2,926,436
4,088,582
(155,709)

21,383,121

26,794,874

1,622,492
116,816
8,887
1,748,195

1,173,559
23,521
3,481
1,200,561

961,451
961,451

872,720
872,720

Land purchased for development and sale:
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Development costs net of refund of development costs
Valuation adjustments as at 30 June
Balance at end of the financial year
Total Inventories

5,671,176
25,276
(237,517)

6,535,947
(864,771)

5,458,935

5,671,176

8,168,581

7,744,457

27,396,658

61,901,765

27,396,658

61,901,765

12 Cash investments
Cash Investments are fixed term investments realisable between three and twelve
months, held at fixed rates with the National Australia Bank, which is rated AA-.
The rating of this institution is based on Standard & Poors agency ratings. Whilst
these investments are not capital guaranteed, the likelihood of a credit failure is
assessed as remote.
Maturity of these investments is between 180 and 240 days and the deposits bear
interest ranging from 2.51% to 2.73%.
Fixed term cash investments

11 Inventories
Stores and raw materials held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value and include, where applicable, direct material, direct labour and an
appropriate portion of variable and fixed overheads.
Inventories for internal use are valued at cost and adjusted when applicable for any
loss of service potential.
Land purchased by Council for development and sale is valued at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Proceeds from the sale of this land is recognised as sales
revenue on the signing of a valid unconditional contract of sale.
Inventories held for sale:
Shepton Quarry Stock
Other Quarry Stock
Saleyards Stock
Inventories for internal use:
Stores and materials
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Basis of measurement

13 Property, plant and equipment - prior year

Asset Values
Opening gross value as at 1 July 2015
Minor correction to opening balance
Additions at cost
Contributed assets at valuation
Internal transfers from work in progress

Site improvements

Fair Value

Land

Fair Value

Buildings

Water

Sewerage

Cost

Fair Value

Airport

Cost

Works in progress

Fair Value

Heritage &
Cultural

Fair Value

Fair Value

Cost

Road and bridge
network

Cost

Office Furniture
Plant and equipment
and Fittings

Fair Value
2016
$

2016
$

2016
$

2016
$

2016
$

2016
$

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

195,578

15,103,362

2016
$

88,998
(31,710,059)

-

49,628,085

-

47,544,223

2016
$

-

155,299,034

2016
$

-

2016
$

-

2016
$

416,195
-

3,445,084

230,459,533

4,616,701

-

91,100
-

801,390,248

60,941,647

44,819

163,069,945

-

51,681,477

-

(680,000)
-

58,358,500

-

Total

2016
$

(499,902)

1,588,660,248
49,628,085
-

461,014
(2,422,225)

-

-

-

(2,568,319)

339,609

-

(1,679,077)

-

400,346

-

Closing gross value as at 30 June 2016
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

-

-

-

(1,897,587)

24,481,035

9,822

233,529,665

1,743,080,269

-

4,916,068

-

31,342,311

-

14,381

-

913,135

62,237,995
91,839,570

41,348,317
16,455

9,084,714

3,255,511
-

560,991,139

305,353,782

-

2,074

167,778,382
122,186,920

-

-

21,555,249

-

-

(399,042)

1,434,500

-

(134,610)

1,763,898

-

(50,474)

(2,197,127)
-

-

(225,098)
-

-

(4,062,357)

1,514,804
-

46,926,950

(7,931,162)
25,352,411
195,578

981,269
(305,116)

50,049,030
180,592,012

-

(485,578)

7,931,162
63,685,158
280,774,299

47,694,209

-

-

275,300
-

887,085,374

57,141,821

-

2,887,756

-

-

Disposals
-

6,051,201

77,908,019

-

2,864,875

-

-

8

5,011,726
60,553,237

2,823,632

-

9,364,765

-

(90,712)

109,821,368

(3,295,400)
161,531,315

26,365,010

-

357,188

-

(57,771)

-

(26,919,200)
56,993,392

10,685,895
4,640,488

-

(31,979)

-

31,034,600

-

5,980,630

(1,857,289)

-

-

17

-

(40,298)

2,408,488

-

-

Write-offs
Internal Transfers between asset classes
Revaluation adjustment to other comprehensive
income. (refer the ARS*)

-

1,042,266

-

255,020,217

-

Opening balance as at 1 July 2015
-

(153,648)

3,180,820

-

Minor correction to opening balance
-

153,648

(305,116)

24,916,374
29,148,209

1,030

Depreciation provided in period
-

5,817,203
37,825,603

-

12,688,631

-

Depreciation on disposals
17

-

9,602,917

32,710,064

-

1,182,089,130

37,842,236

31,342,311

179,123
-

16,918,021

-

88,752,442

-

-

158,587,379
6 - 100

-

-

632,065,157

1,000,798

-

-

-

-

68,476,472

2017
$

-

17,500

68,476,472

28,480

1,743,080,269

-

1,361,816

7 - 100

-

10 - 100

172,692

1,101,501

10 - 100

736,038

2,957,877

-

461,670

2,870,381

6,562,513

25,840,227

-

9,141,247

-

31,405,028

-

44,481

6 - 100

1,249,948

3 - 20
-

15 - 150

1,837,665

3 - 20

123,705,712

-

31,034,600

Not depreciated

15 - 65

44,304,761

8,792

Depreciation on write-offs
Internal Transfers between asset classes
Revaluation adjustment to other comprehensive
income. (refer the ARS*)
Accumulated depreciation as at 30 June 2016

Residual value

Total written down value as at 30 June 2016

Range of estimated useful life in years

432,665

-

1,287,799

8,351

477,381

Addition of renewal assets
4,556,333

Addition of other assets

49,628,085

-

-

Total

-

Works in progress

2,362,614

Airport

-

Sewerage

Cost

1,274,193

3,693,915

Water

Fair Value

Fair Value

Cost

Fair Value

Heritage &
Cultural

Cost

Fair Value

Cost

2017
$

Road and bridge
network

Fair Value

2017
$

2017
$

2017
$

2017
$

2017
$

2017
$

2017
$

31,342,311
-

-

-

46,926,950
-

-

195,578
-

-

180,592,012

-

280,774,299

2017
$

Office Furniture
Plant and equipment
and Fittings

32,402,740

1,294,429

Fair Value

Page 18

1,837,665

5,033,714

Fair Value
2017
$

-

-

887,085,374

6,051,201

161,531,315

60,553,237

Buildings

1,720,464

8,351

2017
$
56,993,392

Site improvements

31,034,600

Land

Total additions in period
* ARS denotes - Asset Revaluation Surplus

Note

CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGIONAL COUNCIL
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Basis of measurement

13 Property, plant and equipment

Asset Values
Opening gross value as at 1 July 2016

-

-

-

-

-

-

28,480

-

(2,610,532)

(53,848,548)
-

-

(25,275)

(2,884,917)

149,842

(25,275)

(322,141)

-

-

-

-

-

-

81,768

-

-

-

759,631

-

(754,000)

381,400

4,456,863

-

(1,054,005)

45,622,819

47,821,003

-

(2,610,532)

-

(739,804)

30,515,016

-

-

744,211

13,508,037

-

-

-

Minor correction to opening balance
-

3,995,991

-

(14,967)

195,578

-

Additions at cost
-

19,827,201

-

Contributed assets at valuation
-

199,746,981

-

10,812,943

-

290,914,637

-

67,069,156

-

983,929,742

-

560,991,139

1,907,486,717

101,404,720

-

6,810,832

3,649,298

62,430,581

178,688,650

-

(698,089)

-

60,291,294

31,034,600

-

9,084,714

-

-

17,500

Internal transfers from work in progress
8

17

Disposals
Write-offs
Transfers to Other Assets
Revaluation adjustment to other comprehensive
income. (refer the ARS*)
Closing gross value as at 30 June 2017
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

-

-

16,455
-

91,839,570
-

(2,046,876)

-

(1,531,908)

30,497,842

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,056,098

-

-

-

-

-

(419,756)

(76,648,433)

3,149,326

-

(659,446)

-

-

-

(443,746)

246,422

4,618,666

-

-

10,931,451

-

-

4,637,705

(19,563,200)

230,598,749

103,002,091

75,005,940

18,529

10,387,234

515,899,469

3,634,341

-

11,218,350

1,391,587,248

-

35,774,188

43,195,580

14,282,817

45,622,819
-

37,433,769
-

177,049
-

124,741,041
-

187,912,546
-

753,330,993
-

3,176,491
315,344

26,656,393
10,903,006

135,493,070
-

28,227,428

-

46,008,477

-

2,074

122,186,920

-

453,521

255,020,217
4,044,110

-

(2,046,876)

3,180,820

-

4,619,256

(8,960)

-

-

-

-

29,148,209

-

-

1,623,340

-

-

-

-

Opening balance as at 1 July 2016
-

-

37,825,603

Minor correction to opening balance
-

-

750,721

4,637,705

(23,144,049)

(29,154)

-

(34,909,173)

-

-

-

Depreciation provided in period
-

12,688,631

Depreciation on disposals
17

-

31,034,600
-

-

698,595

68,522,452

40,295,024

6 - 100

-

-

7 - 100

2,551,247

1,852,652

1,276,567

-

-

10 - 100

3,685,890

2,409,323

1,276,784
684,808

10 - 100

1,961,592

22,937,007
13,515,089

6 - 100

36,452,096

362,728

3 - 20

362,728

4,054,500

3 - 35

4,054,500

1,242,021
13,747,495

15 - 150

14,989,516

796,454
3,668,429

15 - 65

4,464,883

-

Not depreciated

-

8

Depreciation on write-offs
Internal Transfers between asset classes
Revaluation adjustment to other comprehensive
income. (refer the ARS*)
Impairment adjustment to capital loss
Accumulated depreciation as at 30 June 2017
Total written down value as at 30 June 2017

Residual value
Range of estimated useful life in years

Addition of other assets

Addition of renewal assets

Total additions in period
* ARS denotes - Asset Revaluation Surplus
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For the year ended 30 June 2017

13

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

13

13 (a) Recognition
Items of plant and equipment and infrastructure assets and buildings with a total value of less than $10,000 are treated as an expense in the
year of acquisition. Where an item of capital expenditure relates to a network asset and is has a future economic benefit, then it will be
recognised as a asset regardless of the $10,000 threshold. Network assets are defined as assets they are interconnected and rely on each
other to provide a service. All other items of property, plant and equipment are capitalised if their cost exceeds the $10,000 threshold and
provide a future economic benefit.
Routine operating maintenance, repair costs and minor renewals to maintain the operational capacity and useful life of the non-current asset
is expensed as incurred, while expenditure that relates to replacement of a major component of an asset to maintain its service potential is
capitalised.
Expenditure incurred in accordance with Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements (NDRRA) on road assets is analysed to
determine whether the expenditure is capital in nature. The analysis of the expenditure requires Council engineers to review the nature and
extent of expenditure on a given asset. For example, expenditure that patches a road is generally maintenance in nature, whereas a kerb to
kerb rebuild is treated as capital. Material expenditure that extends the useful life or renews the service potential of the asset is capitalised.
Land under roads acquired before 30 June 2008 is recognised as a non-current asset where the Council holds title or a financial lease over
the asset. The Central Highlands Regional Council currently does not have any such land holdings.
Land under the road network within the Council area that has been dedicated and opened for public use under the Land Act 1994 or the
Land Title Act 1994 is not controlled by council but is controlled by the state pursuant to the relevant legislation. This land is not recognised
in these financial statements.
13 (b) Measurement
Each class of property, plant and equipment is stated at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment loss.
Acquisitions of assets are initially recorded at cost. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as consideration plus costs
incidental to the acquisition, including freight in, architect's fees and engineering design fees and all other establishment costs.
Property, plant and equipment received in the form of physical contributions, are recognised as assets and revenues at fair value by Council
valuation where that value exceeds the recognition thresholds for the respective asset class. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
13 (d) Impairment (continued)
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation surplus increase.
13 (e) Valuation
(i) Valuation processes
Council's valuation policies and procedures are determined after assessment and consideration of information provided by personnel within
Council with appropriate skills and experience specific to a particular asset. They are reviewed annually taking into consideration an
analysis of movements in fair value and other relevant information. Non-recurring fair value measurements are made at the point of
reclassification by a registered valuer.
Non-current physical assets measured at fair value are revalued, where required, so that the carrying amount of each class of asset does not
materially differ from its fair value at the reporting date. This is achieved by engaging independent, professionally qualified valuers to
determine the fair value for each class of property, plant and equipment assets at least once every 3 to 5 years. This process involves the
valuer physically sighting a representative sample of Council assets across all asset classes and making their own assessments of the
condition of the assets at the date of inspection.
In the intervening years, Council uses internal engineers to assess the condition and cost assumptions associated with all property, plant and
equipment assets, the results of which are considered in combination with the table of Indices sourced from an independent professionally
qualified valuation firm. Together these are used to form the basis of a management valuation for infrastructure asset classes in each of the
intervening years.
In the intervening years, management may also engage an independent professionally qualified valuation firm , to perform a "desktop"
valuation. A desktop valuation involves management providing updated information to the valuer regarding additions, deletions and changes
in assumptions such as useful life and condition rating. The valuer then determines suitable indices which are applied to each of the asset
classes.
An analysis performed by management has indicated that, on average, the variance between an indexed asset value and the valuation by an
independent valuer when performed is not significant and the indices used by Council are sound.

Direct labour and materials and an appropriate proportion of overheads incurred in the acquisition or construction of assets are treated as
capital expenditure. Assets under construction are not depreciated until they are completed and commissioned, at which time they are
reclassified from work in progress to the appropriate property, plant and equipment class.

Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the appropriate class of the asset revaluation surplus, except
to the extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense. A decrease in the carrying amount on
revaluation is charged as an expense to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus of that asset class.

13 (c) Depreciation
All assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is commissioned
ready for use.

On revaluation, accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in the carrying amount of the asset and any change in
the estimate of remaining useful life. Separately identified components of assets are measured on the same basis as the assets to which they
relate.

All classes of assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to write-off the net cost of each depreciable asset, less its estimated
residual value, progressively over its estimated useful life to the Council. Management believe that the straight-line basis appropriately
reflects the pattern of consumption of these assets. Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life.
Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned useful lives
distinct from the asset to which they relate. Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is
capitalised and the new depreciable amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset to the Council.
Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual values (where applicable to the asset class) of property, plant and equipment
assets, are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted where necessary to reflect any changes in the pattern of consumption,
physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence, or management intentions. The condition assessments performed as part of
the annual valuation process for assets measured at depreciated current replacement cost are used to estimate the useful lives of these assets
at each reporting date.
13 (d) Impairment
Each non-current physical and intangible asset and group of assets is assessed for indicators of impairment annually. If an indicator of
possible impairment exists, the Council determines the asset's recoverable amount. Any amount by which the asset's carrying amount
exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less
costs to sell and its value in use.

In accordance with AASB 13 fair value measurements are categorised on the following basis:
- Fair value based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1)
- Fair value based on inputs that are directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability (level 2)
- Fair value based on unobservable inputs for the asset and liability (level 3)
The table on the following page categorises fair value measurements as either level 2 or level 3 in accordance with AASB 13. Council does
not have any assets measured at fair value which meet the criteria for categorisation as level 1.
The fair values of the assets are determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable data, where it is available, and
minimise the use of entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an asset are observable, the asset is included in
level 2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the asset is included in level 3. This is the case for
Council infrastructure assets, which are of a specialist nature for which there is no active market for similar or identical assets. These assets
are valued using a combination of observable and unobservable inputs.
There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year. There were no changes made between Level 2 and 3.
Council's policy is to recognise transfers in and out of the fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting period.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount.
When the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset against the asset revaluation surplus of the relevant class to
the extent available.
An impairment loss of $4,637,705 has been recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income at 30 June 2017 in relation to the Quarry
Crushing Plant which is carried at cost.
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For the year ended 30 June 2017

13

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
13 (e) (i) Valuation processes (continued)

13

Buildings (including Airport Building assets) (level 2 and 3)

The table below presents Council's property, plant and equipment measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2017:

Recurring fair value measurements

Property, plant and equipment
- Land
- Site improvements
- Buildings
- Road, drainage and bridge network
- Water Infrastructure
- Sewerage Infrastructure
- Airport

Note

Level 2

Level 3

(Significant other observable
inputs)

(Significant unobservable inputs)

13

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
13 (e) (ii) Valuation techniques used to derive fair values (continued)

Total

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

31,035
21,713
-

31,035
19,505
-

46,008
113,780
753,331
187,913
124,741
37,434

44,305
104,201
632,065
158,587
88,752
37,842

31,035
46,008
135,493
753,331
187,913
124,741
37,434

31,035
44,305
123,706
632,065
158,587
88,752
37,842

52,748

50,540

1,263,207

1,065,752

1,315,955

1,116,292

The fair value of Building was determined this financial year by a desktop valuation performed by a team of independent valuers from
Assetic Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2017. The last comprehensive revaluation of Building assets was performed as at 30 June 2016 by a team of
independent valuers from Asset Val Pty Ltd. Where there is a market for Council building assets, fair value has been derived from the sales
prices of comparable properties after adjusting for differences in key attributes such as property size. The most significant inputs into this
valuation approach were price per square metre.
Where Council buildings are of a specialist nature and there is no active market for the assets, fair value has been determined on the basis of
replacement with a new asset having similar service potential including allowances for preliminaries and professional fees. The gross
current values have been derived from reference to market data for recent projects and costing guides issued by the Australian Institute of
Quantity Surveyors, Rawlinson's (Australian Construction Handbook). Where a depth in market can be identified, the net current value of a
building asset is the difference between the market value of the asset as a whole (including land) and the market value of the land
component. Where there is no depth of market, the net current value of a building asset is the gross current value less accumulated
depreciation to reflect the consumed or expired service potential of the asset.
In determining the level of accumulated depreciation the asset has been disaggregated into significant components which exhibit useful
lives. Allowance has been made for the typical asset life cycle and renewal treatments of each component, residual value at the time the
asset is considered to be no longer available for use and the condition of the asset. Condition was assessed taking into account both physical
characteristics as well as holistic factors such as functionality, capability, utilisation and obsolescence.

Specific valuation techniques used to value Council assets are as follows:

While the unit rates based on square metres can be supported by market evidence (level 2), the estimates of residual value, useful life and
asset condition that are used to calculate accumulated depreciation comprise unobservable inputs (level 3). Where these other inputs are
significant to the valuation the overall valuation has been classified as level 3.

Land (including Airport Land assets) (Level 2)

Infrastructure assets (level 3)

A comprehensive revaluation of Land assets was performed in the 2016 financial year by a team of independent valuers from Asset Val Pty Ltd.
Management have decided that a desktop valuation was not required this financial year on land assets to determine the fair value as at 30 June
2017.
As part of the comprehensive valuation process Level 2 valuation inputs were used to value land in freehold title as well as land used for special
purposes, which is restricted in use under current zoning rules. Sales prices of comparable land sites in close proximity are adjusted for
differences in key attributes such as property size. The most significant input in the valuation approach is price per square metre.

The fair value of Infrastructure assets, except for Airport Roads, was determined this financial year by a comprehensive revaluation
performed by a team of independent valuers from Assetic Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2017. Last financial year a desktop valuation was performed
by a team of independent valuers from Asset Val Pty Ltd to determine the fair value of infrastructure assets. A desktop valuation will be
performed on the Airport Road assets by a team of independent valuers from Assetic Pty Ltd to determine the fair value of those assets as at
30 June 2017.

(ii) Valuation techniques used to derive fair values

Site Improvements (including Airport Site Improvement assets) (level 3)
The fair value of Site Improvements was determined this financial year by a desktop valuation performed by a team of independent valuers
from Assetic Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2017. The last comprehensive revaluation of Site Improvement assets was performed as at 30 June 2016
by a team of independent valuers from Asset Val Pty Ltd. Where there is a market for Council site improvements assets, fair value has been
derived from the sales prices of comparable properties after adjusting for differences in key attributes such as property size. The most
significant inputs into this valuation approach were price per square metre.
Where Site Improvement assets are of a specialist nature and there is no active market for the asset, fair value has been determined on the
basis of replacement with a new asset having similar service potential including allowances for preliminaries and professional fees. The
gross current values have been derived from reference to market data for recent projects and costing guides issued by the Australian
Institute of Quantity Surveyors, Rawlinson's (Australian Construction Handbook). Where a depth in market can be identified, the net
current value of a site improvements asset is the difference between the market value of the asset as a whole (including land) and the market
value of the land component. Where there is no depth of market, the net current value of a site improvements asset is the gross current value
less accumulated depreciation to reflect the consumed or expired service potential of the asset.
In determining the level of accumulated depreciation the asset has been disaggregated into significant components which exhibit useful
lives. Allowance has been made for the typical asset life cycle and renewal treatments of each component, residual value at the time the
asset is considered to be no longer available for use and the condition of the asset. Condition was assessed taking into account both physical
characteristics as well as holistic factors such as functionality, capability, utilisation and obsolescence.
While the unit rates based on square metres can be supported the estimates of average useful life, asset condition and depreciation method
is used to calculate accumulated depreciation expense comprise unobservable inputs (level 3).
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All Council infrastructure assets were fair valued using written down current replacement cost (CRC). This valuation comprises the asset's
current replacement cost (CRC) less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or
expired future economic benefits of the asset. Council first determined the gross cost of replacing the full service potential of the asset and
then adjusted this amount to take account of the expired service potential of the asset.
CRC was measured by reference to the lowest cost at which the gross future economic benefits of the asset could currently be obtained in
the normal course of business. Where existing assets were over designed, had excess capacity, or were redundant an adjustment was made
so that the resulting valuation reflected the cost of replacing the existing economic benefits based on an efficient set of modern equivalent
assets to achieve the required level of service output within the council's planning horizon.
The unit rates (labour and materials) and quantities applied to determine the CRC of an asset or asset component were based on a
"Greenfield" assumption meaning that the CRC was determined as the full cost of replacement with a new asset including components that
may not need to be replaced, such as earthworks. The DRC was determined using methods relevant to the asset class as described under
individual asset categories below.
Council have adopted a policy that all road and water network infrastructure assets are deemed to be valued at level 3.
Factors taken into account in determining replacement costs of infrastructure assets included:
Asset Condition - The nature of road and water network infrastructure is that there is a very large number of assets which comprise
the network and as a result it is not physically possible to inspect every asset for the purposes of completing a valuation. As a consequence
reliance is placed on the accuracy of data held in the asset management system and its associated internal controls. This includes regular
planned inspections and updates to the system following maintenance activities and renewal treatments. Likewise, especially for water
network infrastructure, a large portion of the portfolio is located underground and may only be inspected on an irregular basis.
Comprehensive Valuation Approach - To provide assurance over the accuracy of this information and taking into account the costbenefit of undertaking physical inspections the valuation relies upon full comprehensive approach (98% of each above ground active assets)
. While this approach, combined with internal controls associated with the asset management system, provides a high level of comfort over
the condition data held in the asset management system it does not provide a guarantee that all the data is correct and the condition as
recorded is valid as at the date of valuation. however during 13/14 financial year all the water & sewer assets were comprehensively revalued and accuracy of data was assured.
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13

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
13 (e) (ii) Valuation techniques used to derive fair values (continued)
Infrastructure assets (level 3) (continued)
Relationship between asset condition rating scale and the level of service potential – Under the cost approach the estimated cost to
replace the asset is calculated and then adjusted to take account of an accumulated depreciation. In order to achieve this the valuer
determines an asset condition rating scale for each asset type based on the inter- relationship between a range of factors. These factors and
their Relationship to the fair value require profession judgment and include asset condition, legal and commercial obsolescence and the
determination of key depreciation related assumptions such as residual value and useful life.
The condition rating scales - Based on the past experience of the valuation firm and industry guides and were then updated to take
into account the experience and understanding of council’s own engineers, asset management and finance staff. the results of the valuation
were further evaluated by confirmation against council’s own understanding of the assets and the level of remaining service potential.
Specific valuation techniques used to value Council infrastructure assets comprise:
Roads (including Airport Road assets)

For the year ended 30 June 2017
13

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
13 (e) (ii) Valuation techniques used to derive fair values (continued)
Bridges (continued)
Accumulated depreciation:
In determining the level of accumulated depreciation, remaining useful lives were determined based on condition assessments using a ten
point scale with 0 being the lowest and 10 being the highest. A 0 condition assessment indicates an asset with a very high level of remaining
service potential. A condition assessment of 10 represents an asset at the end of its useful life.
Drainage
Current replacement cost:
The fair value of Drainage assets was determined this financial year by a comprehensive revaluation performed by a team of independent
valuers from Assetic Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2017. Last financial year a desktop valuation was performed by a team of independent valuers
from Asset Val Pty Ltd to determine the fair value of Drainage assets, where each drainage assets were assessed individually. Similar to
roads, drainage assets are managed in segments of 200m; pits, pipes and channels being the major components.

Current replacement cost:
The fair value of Road assets, except for Airport Roads, were determined this financial year by a comprehensive revaluation performed by a
team of independent valuers from Assetic Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2017. Last financial year a desktop valuation was performed by a team of
independent valuers from Asset Val Pty Ltd to determine the fair value of Road assets. A desktop valuation will be performed on the
Airport Road assets by a team of independent valuers from Assetic Pty Ltd to determine the fair value of those assets as at 30 June 2017.

Consistent with roads, Council assumes that environmental factors such as soil type, climate and topography are consistent across each
segment and that a segment is designed and constructed to the same standard and uses a consistent amount of labour and materials. Where
drainage assets are located underground and physical inspection is not possible, the age, size and type of construction material, together
with current and planned maintenance records are used to determine the fair value at reporting date. Construction estimates were determined
on a similar basis to roads.

All road network infrastructure assets were valued using level 3 valuation inputs using the cost approach. The approach estimated the
replacement cost for each asset by componentising the assets into significant parts with different useful lives and taking into account a
range of factors.

Accumulated depreciation:
In determining the level of accumulated depreciation, drainage assets were disaggregated into significant components which exhibited
different useful lives.

Council categorises its road infrastructure into urban and rural roads and the further sub-categorises these into sealed and unsealed roads.
Urban roads are managed in segments of less than 500m, while rural roads are managed in maximum of 5km segments. All road
segments are then componentised into formation, pavement and seal (where applicable). Council assumes that environmental factors
such as soil type, climate and topography are consistent across each segment. Council also assumes a segment is designed and constructed
to the same standard and uses a consistent amount of labour and materials

Waste Landfill Cells (Other Infrastructure)
Current replacement cost:

CRC was calculated by reference to asset linear and area specifications, estimated labour and material inputs, services costs, and
overhead allocations. Council assumes that pavements are constructed to depths of between 300mm to 400mm for high traffic areas and
150mm to 300mm depth for lower traffic locations based on road hierarchy. Council also assumes that all raw materials can be sourced
from the local Council Quarry with an average haulage rate of 20 cents per tonne depending on the location of the segment being valued.
For internal construction estimates, material and services prices were based on existing supplier contract rates or supplier price lists and
labour wage rates were based on Council's Enterprise Bargaining Agreement (EBA). All direct costs were allocated to assets at standard
usage quantities according to recently completed similar projects. Where construction is outsourced, CRC was based on the average of
completed similar projects over the last few years.
Accumulated depreciation:
In determining the level of accumulated depreciation, roads were disaggregated into significant components of short and long life which
exhibited different useful lives. Residual values were reconsidered under the clarification of AASB 116 ad reassigned if needed.
Council sub contracted a specialised company (Radar Portal Systems) to capture roads condition data which was then uploaded by our
engineers in the Arc GIS system. This road audit was carried out mainly to assess the road conditions of formation, pavement and surface
by a lazar scanning inspection and assessment. Also validating the current roads segmentation based on formation type, pavement type and
surface type for both rural and urban roads. The urban roads were segmented for each intersection and rural roads were segmented for a
maximum of 5km. After the segmentation and updating the current condition the database was submitted for revaluations. Thereafter
council engaged a contractor for a detail hierarchy driven level of service assessment in selected areas to further monitor the conditions.
These data collectively was used for the valuation assumptions which has a direct impact on the accumulated depreciation.
Bridges
Current replacement cost:
The fair value of Bridge assets were determined this financial year by a comprehensive revaluation performed by a team of independent
valuers from Assetic Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2017. Last financial year a desktop valuation was performed by a team of independent valuers
from Asset Val Pty Ltd to determine the fair value of Road assets where each bridge was assessed individually, with the valuation varying
according to the material type used for construction, the deck area, condition and size. Construction estimates were determined on a similar
basis to roads.
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Estimates of expired service potential and remaining useful lives were determined on a straight line basis based on industry standard
practices and past experience, supported by maintenance programs.

Waste landfill cells assets are valued as a part of Site Improvement Facilities assets. Fair values are determined by reference to landfill cell
area and volume specifications, estimated labour and material inputs, services costs, and overhead allocations. Material and services costs
were determined by reference to existing supplier contracts and labour costs by reference to Council's EBA.
Accumulated depreciation:
Accumulated depreciation was determined through assessment of the remaining air space for each landfill cell, which was also used to
determine percentage cell capacity used in the year.
Water and sewerage infrastructure
Current replacement cost:
The fair value of Water and Sewerage assets was determined this financial year by a comprehensive revaluation performed by a team of
independent valuers from Assetic Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2017. Last financial year fair values were determined by desktop valuation
performed by Asset Val Pty Ltd. CRC is calculated based on expected replacement costs and in all cases the assets were disaggregated to
component level to ensure a reliable measure of cost and service capacity and deterioration of estimated remaining life.
Accumulated depreciation:
In determining accumulated depreciation, assets were either subject to a site inspection or an assessment to determine remaining useful life.
Where site inspections were conducted (i.e. for active assets), the assets were allocated a condition assessment, which was used to estimate
remaining useful life. The condition assessment uses a ten point scale with 0 being the lowest and 10 being the highest. A 0 condition
assessment indicates an asset with a very high level of remaining service potential, while a condition assessment of 10 represents an asset at
the end of its useful life.
Where site inspections were not conducted (i.e. for passive assets and active assets for which no site inspections were undertaken), the
remaining useful life was calculated on an age basis after taking into consideration current and planned maintenance records.
(iii) Changes in Fair Value Measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)
The changes in level 3 assets with recurring fair value measurement are detailed in Note 13 (Property, Plant and Equipment).
There have been no transfers between level 1,2 or 3 measurements during the year.
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Note

2017

2016

$

$

Note

14 Trade and other payables
Trade creditors and accruals are recognised upon receipt of the goods and
services and are measured at the agreed purchase/contract price. Amounts
owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms.
A liability for salaries and wages is recognised and measured as the amount
unpaid at the reporting date at current pay rates in respect of employees'
services up to that date. This liability represents an accrued expense and is
included below.

(c) Property Restoration
A provision is made for the cost of restoration in respect of refuse sites and
quarries where it is probable the Council will be liable, or required, to incur
such a cost on the cessation of use of these facilities.
8,248,795
2,394,988
637,796
4,191,192
483,217

7,911,499
3,302,600
569,961
4,222,050
409,428

15,955,988

16,415,538

4,194
4,194

5,703
5,703

11,281,579
11,281,579

15 Provisions
(a) Long Service Leave
A liability for long service leave is measured as the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows to be made in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date.
The value of the liability is calculated using current pay rates and projected
future increases in those rates and includes related employee on-costs. The
estimates are adjusted for the probability of the employee remaining in the
Council's employment or other associated employment which would result in
the Council being required to meet the liability. Adjustments are then made
to allow for the proportion of the benefit earned to date, and the result is
discounted to present value.
The interest rates attaching to Commonwealth Government guaranteed
securities at the reporting date are used to discount the estimated future cash
outflows to their present value.

154

$

(b) Provision for Enforceable Undertaking Costs
A provision is made for the total cost of performing the terms and conditions
as outlined in an Enforceable Undertaking submission under the Work
Health and Safety Act 2011. The provision represents the present value of
the documented costs which Council has agreed to incur over a three (3) year
period, commencing in 2018.

*Internal quarry creditors have been eliminated

The following sets out the liquidity risk in relation to the above trade
creditors and accruals and represents the remaining contractual cash flows
at the end of the reporting period. Liquidity risk is the risk that Council
will encounter difficulty in meeting the objectives associated with its
financial liabilities.
0 to 1 year
Total contractual outflows

$

Where employees have met the prerequisite length of service and council
does not have an unconditional right to defer the liability beyond 12 months,
long service leave is classified as a current liability. Otherwise it is classified
as non-current.

As Council does not have an unconditional right to defer this liability beyond
12 months all annual leave is classified as a current liability.

Non Current
Other entitlement
Total trade and other payables

2016

15 Provisions (continued)
(a) Long Service Leave (continued)

A liability for annual leave is recognised. Amounts expected to be settled
within 12 months (the current portion) are calculated on current wage and
salary levels and includes related employee on-costs. Amounts not expected
to be settled within 12 months (the non-current portion) are calculated on
projected future wage and salary levels and related employee on-costs, and
are discounted to present values.

Current
Accruals *
Creditors *
Employee related accruals
Annual leave
Other entitlements

2017
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11,784,060
11,784,060

The provision is measured at the expected cost of the work required,
discounted to current day values using the interest rates attaching to
Commonwealth Government guaranteed securities with a maturity date
corresponding to the anticipated date of the restoration.
The provisions recognised for restoration are reviewed at least annually and
updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time.
(i) Refuse sites
Refuse sites are situated on Council controlled land. The provision
represents the present value of the anticipated future costs associated with
the closure of the refuse sites, decontamination and monitoring of historical
residues and leaching on these sites.
The calculation of this provision requires assumptions such as application
of environmental legislation, site closure dates, available technologies and
engineering cost estimates. These uncertainties may result in future actual
expenditure differing from amounts currently provided. Because of the longterm nature of the liability, the most significant uncertainty in estimating
the provision is the costs that will be incurred.
The first sites where restoration is expected to commence are Capella,
Willows, Bogantungan, Duaringa and Dingo in 2018.
(ii) Quarry sites
Quarry sites are not situated on Council controlled land. The provision
represents the present value of the anticipated future costs associated with
the closure of the quarry site, reclamation and rehabilitation of the site.
The calculation of this provision requires assumptions such as application
of environmental legislation, site closure dates, available technologies and
engineering cost estimates. These uncertainties may result in future actual
expenditure differing from amounts currently provided. Because of the longterm nature of the liability, the most significant uncertainty in estimating
the provision is the costs that will be incurred. The provision recognised for
quarry sites rehabilitation is reviewed at least annually and updated based
on the facts and circumstances available at the time.
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Note

2017

2016

$

$

Note

2016

$

$

15 Provisions - Refuse Sites (continued)

15 Provisions - Quarry Sites (continued)

This is the present value of the estimated future cost of restoring the
refuse sites, under the State Government environmental regulations, at the
end of their useful lives.

The largest quarry is Shepton quarry and represents a significant portion of
this provision. Restoration at Shepton will be progressive and is estimated
to commence in 2018 and conclude in 2091.
Current
Long service leave
Enforceable Undertaking Costs
Property restoration:
(i) Refuse sites
(ii) Quarry sites
Non-Current
Long service leave
Enforceable Undertaking Costs
Property restoration:
(i) Refuse sites
(ii) Quarry sites

3,602,466
125,580

3,228,683
-

913,616
152,850
4,794,512

209,829
101,000
3,539,512

356,288
251,221

524,727
-

10,103,652
3,389,654
14,100,815

9,049,953
2,483,182
12,057,862

Long service leave
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Amount provided for in the period
Amount paid in the period
Balance at end of the financial year
Current portion
Non-current portion
Enforceable Undertaking Costs
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Amount provided for in the period
Amount paid in the period
Balance at end of the financial year
Current portion
Non-current portion
Property Restoration
(i) Refuse sites
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Increase in provision - due to change in time
Increase in provision - change in discount rate
Increase in provision - recognition of new site
Amount expended in year
Increase (decrease) in estimate of future cost
Balance at end of the financial year
Current portion
Non-current portion

3,753,410
702,284
(496,940)
3,958,754

3,316,604
841,358
(404,552)
3,753,410

3,602,466
356,288
3,958,754

3,228,683
524,727
3,753,410

376,801
376,801

-

125,580
251,221
376,801

-

9,259,782
193,806
(296,643)
884,296
(92,876)
1,068,903
11,017,268

9,543,968
282,055
1,131,565
(1,697,806)
9,259,782

913,616
10,103,652
11,017,268

209,829
9,049,953
9,259,782
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Cash funds committed to meet this liability at the reporting date are:

1,483,798

1,352,668

(ii) Quarry sites
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Increase in provision - due to change in time
Increase (decrease) in provision - change in discount rate
Amount expended in year
Increase (decrease) in estimate of future cost
Balance at end of the financial year

2,584,182
58,603
(93,477)
(25,267)
1,018,463
3,542,504

2,317,466
68,997
436,896
(239,177)
2,584,182

152,850
3,389,654
3,542,504

101,000
2,483,182
2,584,182

112,830

79,495

3,805,885

3,631,710

57,982,328

61,653,017

65,284,727
(3,496,514)
61,788,213

68,595,235
(3,310,508)
65,284,727

Current portion
Non-current portion
This is the present value of the estimated future cost of restoring the
quarry sites under the State Government environmental regulations, at the
end of their useful lives.

Details of movements in provisions:

156

2017

Cash funds committed to meet this liability at the reporting date are:
16 Borrowings
The QTC loan market value at the reporting date was $69,917,991.
This represents the value of the debt if Council repaid it at that date. As it is
the intention of Council to hold the debt for its term, no provision is required
to be made in these accounts.
No assets have been pledged as security by the council for any liabilities,
however, all loans are guaranteed by the Queensland Government.
All borrowings are in $A denominated amounts and expected final
repayment dates vary from 18 April 2026 to 15 March 2032.
There have been no defaults or breaches of the loan agreement during the
period and principal and interest repayments are made quarterly in arrears.
(a)

Unsecured borrowings
Details of borrowings at balance date are:
Current
Queensland Treasury Corporation
Non Current
Queensland Treasury Corporation
Details of movements in borrowings:
Queensland Treasury Corporation
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Loans raised
Principal repayments
Balance at end of the financial year
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Note

2017

2016

$

$

2016

$

$

18 Retained surplus

16 Borrowings (continued)
Borrowings are classified as :
Current
Non-current

3,805,885
57,982,328
61,788,213

The following sets out the liquidity risk in relation to the above
borrowings and represents the remaining contractual cash flows (principal
and interest) at the end of the reporting period. Liquidity risk is the risk
that Council will encounter difficulty in meeting the objectives associated
with its financial liabilities.

3,631,710
61,653,017
65,284,727

6,914,100
27,656,399
50,441,854
85,012,353

Carrying amount

6,914,100
27,656,400
57,355,967
91,926,467

61,788,213

65,284,727

17 Asset Revaluation Surplus
The asset revaluation surplus comprises adjustments relating to changes in
value of property, plant and equipment that do not result from the use of
those assets. Net incremental changes in the carrying value of classes of noncurrent assets since their initial recognition are accumulated in the asset
revaluation surplus.

When an asset is disposed of, the amount reported in surplus in respect of
that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus and not transferred to
retained surplus.

(ii) Asset Revaluation Surplus analysis:
The closing balance of the asset revaluation surplus is comprised of the
following asset categories:
Land
Site improvements
Buildings
Road and bridge network
Water
Sewerage
Airport

810,623,159
24,680,027
835,303,186

19(a)

2,329,038

6,482,502

19(b)

6,938,370

(5,600,127)

Transfers (to)/from Reserves:

Transfers (to)/from internally allocated capital reserves for future
capital project funding, or from reserves funds that have been expended
Transfers (to)/from externally restricted operating reserves for future
project funding, or from reserves funds that have been expended
Transfers (to)/from internally allocated operating reserves for future
project funding, or from reserves funds that have been expended

19(c)

(33,755)

65,884

19(d)

(4,410,740)
4,822,913

60,000
1,008,259

870,357,847

836,311,445

19 Reserves
Council's cash and cash equivalents, including cash investments, are subject to
a number of external restrictions and internally determined allocations that limit
the amount that is available for discretionary or future use. Council accounts
for these restrictions using a system of reserves. These restrictions are disclosed
in Note 9.
Reserves are classified as either capital or operating and function as follows:

Where a class of assets is decreased on revaluation, that decrease is offset
first against the amount remaining in the asset revaluation surplus in respect
of that class. Any excess is treated as an expense.

Balance at end of the financial year

836,311,445
29,223,489
865,534,934

Balance at end of the financial year

Increases and decreases on revaluation are offset within a class of assets.

(i) Movements in the asset revaluation surplus were as follows:
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Adjustments to property, plant and equipment through revaluations
Change in value of future rehabilitation costs charged to the surplus

Movement in retained surplus
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Net result

Transfers (to)/from externally restricted capital reserves for future
capital project funding, or from reserves funds that have been expended

0 to 1 year
1 to 5 years
Over 5 years
Total contractual outflows
The contractual outflows are not expected to occur significantly earlier or
be for significantly different amounts than indicated.

158

Note

2017

(a) Capital Reserves:

13

290,971,978
178,053,152
(1,656,556)

485,938,150
(195,532,413)
566,241

467,368,574

290,971,978

14,787,140
5,523,844
21,330,810
249,666,522
88,978,948
82,927,725
4,153,585

14,787,140
7,849,334
18,432,233
147,688,195
55,021,956
43,537,324
3,655,796

467,368,574

290,971,978
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Council's capital reserves represent both externally restricted and internally
determined allocated funds, from revenue sources, that are accumulated to
meet anticipated future capital asset funding requirements. In each case the
amount relates to a perceived future requirement which is not currently a
liability. These reserves operate as follows:
(i) Externally restricted
Constrained grants and subsidy contributions reserve
The amounts reported in this reserve at balance date correspond to the
amount of cash which has been received in respect of capital works where
the required capital works have not yet been carried out. Where nonreciprocal grants, subsidies and contributions are received for specific
capital projects, amounts equivalent to the capital grants received are
transferred from retained surplus to the constrained works reserve. When
the grant monies are expended on the respective projects, an equivalent
amount is transferred out of the constrained works reserve to retained
surplus. The Council does not reallocate amounts in this reserve to any
other reserve or for any other purpose.
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Note

2017

2016

$

$

2016

$

$

19 Reserves (continued)
(a) Capital Reserves - Internally Allocated (continued):

19 Reserves (continued)
(a) Capital Reserves - Externally Restricted (continued):
Special rates reserve
This reserve consists of the proceeds of special rates collected that remain
unspent from one year to the next. These funds could be used for
operating or capital expense purposes depending on the source of funds.
This reserve relates to specific roads near the following mines: Gregory
Mine, Kestrel Mine, Capcoal and Oaky Creek.
Tieri Township reserve
This reserve consists of the proceeds of special rates, general rates and
utility charges (waste, water and sewer) collected, that remain unspent
from year to year. These funds could be used for operating or capital
expense purposes depending on the source of funds.
(ii) Internally allocated
Future capital asset sustainability reserve
Where the council has accumulated unspent cash arising from the funding
of depreciation, but this cash has not been reinvested in capital assets at
the reporting date; the council restricts the future use of this cash to
capital asset purchases only, to ensure the maintenance its capital capacity
to deliver future services. The amounts reported in this reserve at balance
date correspond to the amount of cash that is held for this purpose.
Unspent loan cash reserve
This reserve consists of the proceeds of loan borrowings unspent from a
prior financial year for future capital works.
Land and improvements reserve
This reserve consists of funds set aside from the development and sale of
land. These funds will generally be used to fund development works of
new land developments prior to their sale and for other strategic works
determined as a priority for Council which are of a capital nature.
Aged housing reserve
This reserve consists of funds set aside for the future operation and
replacement of retirement facilities across the Council area. Generally
surplus proceeds from the operation of these facilities will be added to this
reserve on a annual basis.
Plant and equipment reserve
This reserve consists of funds set aside for the future replacement of
Council's plant fleet.
Water reserve
This reserve consists of funds set aside for the future replacement of
water related assets across the Council area. Generally any surplus
generated by the water business, after allowing for operating and capital
expenses, will be added to this reserve on an annual basis.

160

Note

2017
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Sewerage reserve
This reserve consists of funds set aside for the future replacement of
sewer related assets across the Council area. Generally any surplus
generated by the sewer business, after allowing for operating and capital
expenses, will be added to this reserve on an annual basis.
Facilities (Business Units) reserve
This reserve consists of funds set aside for the future replacement of
Quarry, Aerodrome and Saleyards related assets. It also relates to funds
set aside for future works on strategic road links to the Shepton Quarry.
Generally, any surplus generated by the business units of Saleyards,
Aerodrome and Quarry, after allowing for operating and capital expenses
and a return on capital/dividend payment to Council, will be added to this
reserve on an annual basis.
Carry over capital projects reserve
This reserve consists of funds set aside from capital works projects not
completed in a previous financial year and remain unallocated. These
funds will be used to fund future capital works.
Future Fund reserve
This reserve consists of funds set aside for future strategic capital works
that are determined a priority by Council.
Special Projects reserve
This reserve is for future special operating projects or capital projects that
are determined a priority by Council. When surpluses are available, funds
generated from the collection of non-owner occupier general rates are
transferred to this reserve.
(b) Operating Reserves:
Council's operating reserves represent externally restricted and internally
determined allocated funds that are accumulated within the Council to meet
anticipated future recurrent or operating expenditure needs. In each case the
amount relates to a perceived future requirement which is not currently a
liability. These reserves operate as follow:
(i) Externally restricted
Recurrent projects (Constrained) reserve
This reserve holds operational grants and contributions that were unspent
at balance date.
(ii) Internally allocated
Prepaid grants reserve
This reserve holds any prepaid Financial Assistance Grants paid to
Council.

BACK TO CONTENTS
Page 32

centralhighlands.qld.gov.au

161

CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGIONAL COUNCIL

CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGIONAL COUNCIL

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note

2017

2016

$

$

2016

$

$

21 Events after balance date
There were no material adjusting events after the balance date that Council is
aware of.

19 Reserves (continued)
Capital Reserves:
(a) Externally Restricted capital reserves
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Transfer from retained earnings for future expenditure
Transfer to retained earnings funds expended
Balance at end of the financial year

25,277,559
34,310,923
(36,639,961)
22,948,521

31,760,061
20,440,688
(26,923,190)
25,277,559

(b) Internally allocated capital reserves
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Transfer from retained earnings for future expenditure
Transfer to retained earnings funds expended
Balance at end of the financial year

93,114,150
30,981,806
(37,920,176)
86,175,780

87,514,023
35,725,747
(30,125,620)
93,114,150

Operating Reserves:
(c) Externally restricted operating reserves
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Transfer from retained earnings for future expenditure
Transfer to retained earnings funds expended
Balance at end of the financial year

164,182
105,511
(71,756)
197,937

230,066
9,409,795
(9,475,679)
164,182

(d) Internally allocated operating reserves
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Transfer from retained earnings for future expenditure
Transfer to retained earnings funds expended
Balance at end of the financial year

4,410,740
4,410,740

Total Reserves
20 Commitments for expenditure
(a) Contractual Commitments
Contractual commitments at balance date but not recognised in the
financial statements:
Technology One Software as a Service Contract over 6 years
Waste & recycling contracts over 5 years

60,000
(60,000)
-

113,732,978

118,555,891

3,554,734
8,115,437
11,670,171

6,718,424
6,718,424

(b) Capital Commitments
Commitments for the construction of the following assets, contracted for
at the reporting date, but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:
Plant and Equipment and Furniture and Fittings
Airport
Buildings and Site Improvements
Infrastructure (Road Network, Water and Sewerage)
These expenditures are payable :
Within one year
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

162

Note

2017

372,393
32,408
1,237,211
19,394,540
21,036,552

1,483,495
817,126
11,465,672
13,988,755
27,755,048

21,036,552
21,036,552

27,555,048
200,000
27,755,048
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22 Contingent liabilities
Details and estimates of maximum amounts of contingent liabilities are as follows:
Potential Claims from Developers
Council is currently monitoring a potential claim which may arise from a
developer in relation to a development approval. At the date of these
financial statements no claim has been lodged. Council also has a current
claim pending from a developer in relation to a development approval
obtained since 2008. The claim is being dealt with through Council's insurers
who have appealed a Court decision. It is expected that the potential liability
relating to Council will not be material as Council's exposure will be limited
to the insurance excess on the policy. As the outcome of this claim is still
pending and Council's exposure is not considered material, no value has been
attributed to this claim in the financial statements.
Native Title
The Council has identified a number of parcels of land which may be subject
to Native Title claims in the future. Council's Native Title liability cannot be
quantified due to uncertainty about the number and effect of compensable
acts, both in the past and in the future. Council currently has no contingent
liability claim pending in relation to Native Title.
Community Housing Assets
The Council has a number of Community Housing properties which are
managed under the Department of Housing and Public Work's Long Term
Community Housing program (LTCHP). There are Capital Assistance
agreements in place which outline the equity ownership of these properties
between Council and the Department. These agreements provide for the
equity proportion to be increased by each year of management by Council.
The Department advised an indicative contingent liability of $3,040,307 in
March 2017, in relation to these properties which was based on market
valuations at that time. Council reports these properties in the balance sheet
at fair value and at 30 June 2017, the fair value of the land and buildings was
$9,765,501.
Gravel Pits rehabilitation responsibilities
Council has custodianship of approximately 300 gravel pits within the
Region, for which it has a rehabilitation responsibility in future years.
Council's use of these pits, while programmed where possible, is often
sporadic due to the immediate need for material in response to a weather
event or a road failure. The cost of rehabilitation of 48 of these pits has been
quantified and a provision had been recognised at 30 June 2017 (refer note
15) and these pits have been registered with the Environmental Authority.
The cost of rehabilitating the remaining pits has not been quantified,
however, this cost is not expected to be material as a large number of the pits
are minor borrow pits and will self rehabilitate over time. Council has
adopted a procedure to undertake annual inspections of all gravel pits.
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22 Contingent liabilities (continued)
Local Government Workcare
The Central Highlands Regional Council is a member of the Queensland local
government workers compensation self-insurance scheme, Local Government
Workcare. Under this scheme the Council has provided a bank guarantee
to cover bad debts which may remain should the self insurance licence
be cancelled and there was insufficient funds available to cover outstanding
liabilities. Only the Queensland Government's workers compensation authority
may call on any part of the guarantee should the above circumstances arise.
The Council's maximum exposure to the bank guarantee is:

2017

2016

$

$

694,621

Local Government Mutual
The Council is a member of the local government mutual liability self-insurance
pool, LGM Queensland. In the event of the pool being wound up or it is unable
to meet its debts as they fall due, the trust deed and rules provide that any
accumulated deficit will be met by the individual pool members in the same
proportion as their contribution is to the total pool contributions in respect to
any year that a deficit arises.
As at 30 June 2017 the financial statements reported an accumulated surplus
and it is not anticipated any liability will arise.

In the 2015 actuarial report the actuary has recommended no change to the
employer contribution levels at this time.

There are currently 65 entities contributing to the Regional DBF plan and
any changes in contribution rates would apply equally to all 72 entities.
Central Highlands Regional Council made less than 4% of the total
contributions to the plan in the 2016-17 financial year.

The scheme has three elements referred to as:
The City Defined Benefits Fund (CDBF), which covers former members of
the City Super Defined Benefits Fund; the Regional
Defined Benefits Fund (Regional DBF) which covers defined benefit fund
members working for regional local governments; and the Accumulation
Benefits Fund (ABF).

The next actuarial investigation will be conducted as at 1 July 2018.

Central Highlighlands Regional Council Annual Report 2016-2017

$

The most recent actuarial assessment of the scheme was undertaken as at 1
July 2015. The actuary indicated that “At the valuation date of 1 July 2015,
the net assets of the scheme exceeded the vested benefits and the scheme was
in a satisfactory financial position as at the valuation date."

The Queensland Local Government Superannuation Board, the trustee of the
scheme, advised that the local government superannuation scheme was a
complying superannuation scheme for the purpose of the Commonwealth
Superannuation Industry (Supervision) legislation.
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$

As at the reporting date, the assets of the scheme are sufficient to meet the
vested benefits.

The Council contributes to the Local Government Superannuation Scheme
(Qld) (the scheme). The scheme is a Multi-employer Plan as defined in the
Australian Accounting Standard AASB119 Employee Benefits.

The ABF is a defined contribution scheme as defined in AASB 119.
Council has no liability to or interest in the ABF other than the payment of
the statutory contributions as required by the Local Government Act 2009.
Council does not have any employees who are members of the CDBF and,
therefore, is not exposed to the obligations, assets or costs associated with
this fund.
The Regional DBF is a defined benefit plan as defined in AASB119. The
Council is not able to account for the Regional DBF as a defined benefit plan
in accordance with AASB119 because the scheme is unable to account to the
Council for its proportionate share of the defined benefit obligation, plan
assets and costs. The funding policy adopted in respect of the Regional DBF
is directed at ensuring that the benefits accruing to members and
beneficiaries are fully funded as they fall due.

2016

To ensure the ongoing solvency of the Regional DBF, the scheme's trustee
can vary the rate of contributions from relevant local government employers
subject to advice from the scheme's actuary. As at the reporting date, no
changes had been made to prescribed employer contributions which remain
at 12% of employee assets and there are no known requirements to change
the rate of contributions.
Any amount by which the fund is over or under funded would only affect
future benefits and contributions to the Regional DBF, and is not an asset or
liability of the Council. Accordingly there is no recognition in the financial
statements of any over or under funding of the scheme.

Under the Local Government Act 2009 the trustee of the scheme has the
power to levy additional contributions on councils which have employees in
the Regional DBF when the actuary advises such additional contributions are
payable - normally when the assets of the DBF are insufficient to meet
members' benefits.

23 Superannuation
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766,948

Note

23 Superannuation (continued)

2017

The amount of superannuation contributions paid by Central Highlands
Regional Council to the scheme in this period for the benefit of employees
was:

3,763,670

3,651,120

29,223,489

24,680,027

7
13
6

7,259
30,497,842
237,517
252,409
30,995,027

21,736
24,481,035
864,772
351,052
25,718,595

4

(29,938,608)
(284,428)
6,980,697
(25,276)
(23,267,615)

(14,215,568)
(462,821)
3,029,360
(11,649,029)

24 Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash
inflow (outflow) from operating activities
Net result
Non-cash operating items:
Impairment of receivables and bad debts written off
Depreciation and amortisation
Revaluation of inventory land expensed to materials and services
Change in restoration provisions expensed to finance costs
Investing and development activities:
Capital grants, subsidies and contributions
Capital income
Capital expenses
Payment for land for sale and development costs in the period

8
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Note

2017

2016

$

$

26 Financial Instruments
Central Highlands Regional Council has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

24 Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash
inflow (outflow) from operating activities (continued)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities :
(Increase) decrease in receivables
(Increase) decrease in inventories (excluding land)
Increase (decrease) in payables
Increase (decrease) in provisions
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities
Net cash inflow from operating activities

3,183,919
(636,366)
(1,619,873)
464,001
(50,972)
1,340,709

(2,066,368)
302,669
3,395,413
436,805
(62,392)
2,006,127

38,291,610

40,755,720

25 Controlled Entities that have not been consoldiated
The Central Highlands Regional Council has two controlled entities that are
not consolidated into Council's financial statements because their size and
nature means that they are not material to Council's operations.

Financial risk management
Central Highlands Regional Council is responsible for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework,
together with developing and monitoring risk management policies.
Council's management approves policies for overall risk management, as well as specifically for managing credit,
liquidity and market risk.
The Council's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced, to set appropriate limits
and controls and to monitor these risks and adherence against limits. The Council aims to manage volatility to minimise
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Council.
Central Highlands Regional Council does not enter into derivatives.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.
These obligations arise principally from the Council's investments and receivables from customers.

The Central Highlands Development Corporation (CHDC) was formed in
1997 with the primary objective to facilitate projects and initiatives across the
region. The Mayor and CEO are Directors and three Councillors also sit on
the board. The Company also has a General Manager.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of credit counterparty ability to meet payment obligations.
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

The draft unaudited financial results at 30 June 2017 are as follows:
Operating Revenue
Operating Expenditure
Total Comprehensive Income

1,832,390
(1,630,119)
202,271

1,445,663
(1,445,246)
417

Investments in financial instruments are required to be made with Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) or similar state/
commonwealth bodies or financial institutions in Australia, in line with the requirements of the Statutory Bodies Financial
Arrangements Act 1982.
No collateral is held as security relating to the financial assets held by Central Highlands Regional Council .
The following table represents the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the carrying amounts of financial assets at

Equity
Retained Surplus
Total Equity

738,492
738,492

536,220
536,220

the end of the reporting period:

Represented by:
Assets
Liabilities
Net Assets

884,648
(146,156)
738,492

711,464
(175,244)
536,220

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables - rates and water
Receivables - other
Cash Investments
Equity Investment
Other credit exposure
Guarantee

The Central Highlands (QLD) Housing Company Limited was incorporated
on 21 February 2012 with a principal object to provide affordable housing.
The Mayor, CEO and three Councillors are Directors with representation by
three invited community members.
The draft unaudited financial results at 30 June 2017 are as follows:

2017
$
99,867,855
11,204,331
9,019,977
27,396,658
18,705

Note
9
10
10
12

22

Total

Operating Revenue
Operating Expenditure

163,742
(65,989)
97,753

Total Comprehensive Income
Equity
Retained Surplus
Total Equity
Represented by:
Assets
Liabilities
Net Assets

166

- credit risk
- liquidity risk
- market risk

73,773
(78,177)
(4,404)

1,020,349
1,020,349

922,596
922,596

1,026,219
(5,870)
1,020,349

928,089
(5,493)
922,596
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2016
$
64,953,752
13,471,077
13,323,797
61,901,765
18,995

694,621

766,948

148,202,147

154,436,334

Detailed information on credit risk in relation to the above financial assets can be found at the note specified above.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Council will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
Central Highlands Regional Council is exposed to liquidity risk through its normal course of business and through its borrowings
with QTC and other financial institutions. The liquidity risk in relation to borrowings is disclosed at note 16 and for trade
and other payables at note 14.
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26 Financial instruments (continued)

27

Liquidity risk (continued)
The Council manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash deposits and undrawn facilities, both short
and long term, to cater for unexpected volatility in cash flows.
These facilities and detailed information in realtion to liquidity risk are disclosed in note 9 (Cash and Cash Equivalents)
and note 12 (Cash Investments). Council does not have any overdraft facilities at the reporting date.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect the Council's income or the value
of its holdings of financial instruments.
Interest rate risk
Central Highlands Regional Council is not exposed to interest rate risk through investments which are disclosed at
note 9 (Cash and Cash Equivalents) and note 12 (Cash Investments).
The Council has access to a mix of variable and fixed rate funding options through QTC so that interest rate risk can be
minimised. These facilities are disclosed in note 16.

National Competition Policy
Council has reviewed its activities and has identified six (6) activities that are business activities.
(a) Business activities to which the code of competitive conduct is applied
This requires the application of full cost pricing, identifying the cost of community service obligations (CSO)
and eliminating the advantages and disadvantages of public ownership within that activity.
The CSO value is determined by Council, and represents an activities cost which would not be incurred if
the primary objective of the activities was to make a profit. The Council provides funding from general revenue
to the business activity to cover the cost of providing non-commercial community services or costs deemed to
be CSO's by the Council.
The Central Highlands Regional Council applies the competitive code of conduct to the following activities:
- Aerodrome
- Quarry

Sensitivity
Sensitivity to interest rate movements is shown for variable financial assets and liabilities based on the carrying amount
at reporting date.

- Sewerage
- Water

The following interest rate sensitivity analysis depicts what effect a reasonably possible change in interest rates (assumed
to be 1%) would have on the profit and equity, based on the carrying values at the end of the reporting period. The
calculation assumes that the change in interest rates would be held constant over the period.
2017
Financial assets and liabilities held at
variable and fixed interest rates total:
QTC cash funds - at variable
QTC Loans - at fixed
Net total
2016
QTC cash funds - at variable
QTC Loans - at fixed
Net total

Net carrying Change in profit & (loss) from:
amount
1% increase
1% decrease
$
$
$
99,079,067
990,791
(990,791)
(61,788,213)
37,290,854
990,791
(990,791)
64,484,147
(65,284,727)
(800,580)

644,841
644,841

(644,841)
(644,841)

Change in equity from:
1% increase
1% decrease
$
$
990,791
(990,791)
990,791
(990,791)
644,841
644,841

(644,841)
(644,841)

In relation to the QTC Fixed Rate Loan, these are financial instruments at fixed interest rates which are carried at amortised cost
and are not subject to interest rate sensitivity.
Fair Value
The fair value of trade and other receivables and payables is assumed to approximate the value of the original transaction,
less any allowance for impairment.

- Waste
- Saleyards
(b) The following activity statements are for activities subject to the competitive code of conduct:

Revenue for services provided to the Council
Revenue for services provided to external clients
* Community service obligations
Less : Expenditure
Operating Surplus (deficiency)

Aerodrome
2017
$
7,474,737
7,474,737
5,574,218
1,900,519

Quarry
2017
$
3,378,056
2,386,023
5,764,079
5,771,898
(7,819)

Saleyards
2017
$
1,023,390
1,023,390
1,165,745
(142,355)

Sewerage
2017
$
7,890,778
7,890,778
6,960,850
929,928

Water
2017
$
15,360,721
15,360,721
18,382,054
(3,021,333)

Waste
2017
$
6,867,242
6,867,242
6,116,082
751,160

(c) There were no CSO's provided to business activities during the reporting period.

The fair value of borrowings with QTC is based on the market value of debt outstanding. The market value of a debt
obligation is the discounted value of future cash flows based on prevailing market rates and represents the amount required
to be repaid if this was to occur at balance date. The market value of debt is provided by QTC and is discussed below and
disclosed in note 16.
QTC applies a book rate approach in the management of debt and interest rate risk, to limit the impact of market value
movements to clients' cost of funding. The book value represents the carrying value based on amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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28 Transactions with related parties

28 Transactions with related parties - other related parties (continued)

(a) Controlled Entities
Central Highlands Regional Council has two controlled entities. These controlled entities are not consoloditated as their
size and nature means that they are not material to Council's operations. All details of these entities are disclosed in Note
25.
The following transactions occurred with the controlled entities:
Contributions
and Donations

Controlled Entity

$
1,250,000
110,000
1,360,000

Central Highlands Development Corporation
Central Highlands (QLD) Housing Company Ltd
Total

Grants &
Subsidies
$
42,331
42,331

Other
$
22,556
22,556

(iv) Materials and Services purchased from entities controlled by key management personnel were at arms length and in
the normal course of council's operations.
(d) Outstanding balances
There were no outstanding balances at the end of the reporting period in relation to receivables and payables transactions
with related parties.
(e) Transactions with related parties that have not been disclosed
Most of the entities and people that are related parties of council live and operate within the Central Highlands Region.
Therefore, on a regular basis ordinary citizen transactions occur between Council and its related parties and these types of
transactions have not been included in this disclosure on that basis that they are made on the same terms and conditions
available to the general public.
Some examples of these transactions are: payment of rates, dog registration, use of council aquatic centres and borrowing
books from council's libraries.

All funding support given to the controlled entities was agreed to by Council for the 2016-2017 financial year.
(b) Key Management Personnel (KMP)
KMP include the Mayor, Councillors, council's Chief Executive Officer and all of council's executive leadership team.
Transactions with KMP, in the form of compensation paid for 2016/17, comprises:
2017
$
2,391,687
18,835
2,410,522

Nature of Compensation
Short-term employee benefits
Long-term benefits
Post-employment benefits
Termination benefits
Total

Detailed remuneration disclosures for KMP are provided in Council's annual report.
(c) Other Related Parties
Other related parties include the close family members of KMP and any entities controlled, or jointly controlled, by KMP
or their close family members. Close family members include a spouse, child and dependent of a KMP or their spouse.
Details of transactions between council and other related parties are disclosed below:

Employee expenses for close family members of key management personnel

Additional
information
28(c)(i)

Fees and charges charged to entities controlled by key management personnel

28(c)(ii)

11,398

Grants provided to entities controlled by key management personnel

28(c)(iii)

11,818

Purchase of materials and services from entities controlled by key management personnel

28(c)(iv)

16,069

Details of Transaction

2017
$
120,552

(i) All close family members of key management personnel were employed through an arm’s length process. They are paid
in accordance with the Award for the job they perform. The council employs 482 staff of which only 3 are close family
members of key management personnel.
(ii) The fees and charges charged to entities controlled by key management personnel were on an arms length basis in
accordance with the fees and charges adopted by Council.
(iii) The grants provided to entities controlled by key management personnel were on an arms length basis in accordance
with the formal assessment procedures adopted by Council.
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